

2D quantum Gravity in the Kähler formalism Lætitia Leduc

▶ To cite this version:

Lætitia Leduc. 2D quantum Gravity in the Kähler formalism. Physics [physics]. Université Paris sciences et lettres, 2016. English. NNT: 2016PSLEE013. tel-01431894

HAL Id: tel-01431894 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01431894

Submitted on 11 Jan2017

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés. THÈSE DE DOCTORAT de l'Université de recherche Paris Sciences et Lettres – PSL Research University

préparée à l'École Normale Supérieure

2D quantum gravity in the Kähler formalism.

École doctorale n°564 Spécialité : Physique Soutenue le 21.03.2016

par Lætitia Leduc

Composition du Jury :

M. François David IPhT Saclay Président du jury

M. Vincent Rivasseau LPT Orsay Rapporteur

M. Semyon Klevtsov Köln Universität Rapporteur

M. Adel Bilal LPTENS Directeur de thèse

M. André Neveu L2C Montpellier Membre du jury

M. Frank Ferrari Université Libre de Bruxelles Membre du jury



Ι

« Chaque chose au monde porte en elle sa réponse, ce qui prend du temps ce sont les questions. » José Saramago in *Le Dieu manchot*.

Acknowledgements

My first acknowledgements go to my supervisor Adel Bilal who first introduced me to theoretical physics and then made me discover 2D quantum gravity and Liouville theories. Our discussions have sharpened my scientific mind and improved my methods. Moreover, Adel has carefully followed the present work. We have performed together a significant part of the calculations and he read the present manuscript, allowing me to improve it through his suggestions.

I am also grateful to Semyon Klevtsov. I thank him for his invitation at the Simons Center for Geometry and Physics, for his help in finding a post-doc position and for the position he offered me in Cologne. I am also indebted to Frank Ferrari, who has pushed my post-doc applications and allowed me to have a post-doc position in Bruxelles in fall.

This work would not have been possible without the support of the heads of the LPTENS. Therefore, I would like to thank Constantin Bachas and Costas Kounnas for having welcomed me at the LPTENS, and allowed me to work in good conditions, especially during the renovation of the building. I would also like to thank all the members of the LPTENS and especially Marc-Thierry Jaekel who helped me with the computers as well as Gérard Toulouse who gave me access to his library in our common office. I am also grateful to the LPTENS secretary staff, Viviane Sebille and Sandrine Patacchini, who have always been very helpful in the huge administrative troubles I had during my PhD.

I am also grateful to the Capital Fund Management foundation and to the Dephy fondation for their financial support of my work.

My gratitude extends to my *rapporteurs* Vincent Rivasseau and Semyon Klevtsov for accepting to read my manuscript and providing me with instructive comments. I also thank my *examinateurs* François David, Frank Ferrari and André Neveu.

On the personal side, I also have a special thank for all of my friends: my physicist friends Thomas Bernet, Pierre Clavier, Harold Erbin, Hanna Grönqvist, Lucien Heurtier, Pierre Ronceray and Corentin Schreiber, as well as Astrid Cadet and Morgane Schreiber who are part of the group and Corinne Delacroix, my PhD "sister". I would also like to thank Elise Massot and Lucien Xu, Anthony Arnault and Nicolas Desplan and Marine Richard and Alexandre Pasquier. I also have a special thought to Hanna Chêne and Sylvain Rouch-Seize. Finally, I would especially like to thank Cédric Mezrag for his inestimable help in the last year, and without whose support this thesis would not have been the same.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family which supports me both in every day life and in hard times, and especially to my parents Mireille and Alain Leduc. I would like to dedicate this thesis to my grandmother Pierrette Piveteau and to my late grandparents Emilienne and Georges Leduc and Guy Piveteau, whose absence I deeply regret. Thanks to all of you.

Résumé / Abstract

Le but de cette thèse est d'étudier la gravité quantique bidimensionnelle. Nous nous intéressons plus particulièrement aux approches dans le continu. Ces dernières reposent principalement sur l'action de Liouville qui décrit le couplage entre théorie conforme et gravité. Si cette action, bien connue, est très bien comprise, la mesure de l'intégrale fonctionnelle sur l'espace des métriques pose plus de problèmes. Toutefois, sous l'hypothèse simplificatrice d'une mesure de champ libre, la dépendance en l'aire de la fonction de partition de la gravité quantique en présence de matière conforme a pu être établie, permettant ainsi d'accéder à un exposant critique : la "susceptibilité de la corde". Malgré l'hypothèse assez forte sur la mesure d'intégration, cette formule (dite KPZ), a été confirmée par des calculs issus de méthodes discrètes, et ce dans plusieurs cas particuliers. Grâce à une nouvelle méthode de régularisation spectrale en espace courbe, cette mesure d'intégration a récemment pu être proprement définie. En considérant les surfaces de Kähler de genre quelconque (qui coïncident avec l'ensemble des surfaces à deux dimensions), un calcul perturbatif de la fonction de partition à aire fixée a ainsi pu être mené à une boucle, en utilisant à la fois les actions de Liouville et de Mabuchi. L'action de Mabuchi intervient en correction au premier ordre si l'on couple de la matière non conforme à la gravité. La susceptibilité de la corde ainsi calculée correspond, dans le pur cas conforme, au développement de la formule KPZ à une boucle. Ce résultat n'est que peu surprenant, puisque les effets induits par le caractère non-trivial de la mesure d'intégration sur les géométries n'apparaissent qu'à partir de deux boucles.

Afin de déterminer les conséquences de cette mesure d'intégration, un calcul perturbatif de la fonction de partition a aire fixée jusqu'à trois boucles a été conduit dans cette thèse. Nous avons premièrement considéré l'action de Liouville et des surfaces de genre quelconque, puis ces résultats ont été généralisés dans la cas du tore à une action couplant les actions de Liouville et de Mabuchi. Nous avons accédé à l'expression complète de la fonction de partition à aire fixée à deux boucles, puis nous avons calculé les divergences dominantes quadratiques et logarithmiques à trois boucles. La régularisation de la mesure d'intégration génère une "action de mesure", ajoutant ainsi des vertex à ceux issus du développement de l'action de Liouville (et de Mabuchi). Si, à deux boucles, les diagrammes à considérer ne sont qu'au nombre de quatre (dont dix sous-diagrammes), à trois boucles, il faut calculer 29 types de diagrammes totalisant plus de 200 contributions de sous-diagrammes. Des divergences étant présentes, il faut renormaliser les actions (en y ajoutant des contre-termes). Afin de les fixer, nous avons calculé la fonction à deux points complète à une boucle et requis que celle-ci soit à la fois finie et indépendante de notre choix de régularisation. Ceci nous à permis de fixer la plupart des contre-termes et d'obtenir une fonction de partition à aire fixée finie et indépendante de la régularisation à deux boucles. La susceptibilité de corde ainsi obtenue est compatible avec le résultat KPZ, mais plus générale car dépendante d'une constante libre. Nous avons donc poursuivi le calcul à trois boucles afin d'obtenir la contribution complète des contre-termes à la fonction de partition à aire fixée ainsi qu'aux fonctions à n-points au même ordre dans le développement perturbatif. Au bout du compte, il apparaît que parmi les 15 contretermes possibles, 4 restent indéterminés et contribuent à la susceptibilité de la corde. On peut attirer l'attention sur le fait que les contre-termes sont soit locaux (comme voulu) soit similaires à la mesure, cette dernière contenant en effet des termes non-locaux en 1/A. En revanche, il est possible de garantir la localité de l'action globale (somme des actions de Liouville, Mabuchi, de la mesure et des contre-termes) grâce aux contre-termes. Ceci nous suggère d'interpréter les contre-termes comme une renormalisation de la mesure d'intégration.

This thesis is devoted to the study of two-dimensional quantum gravity. After giving a general introduction displaying different approaches of quantum gravity, we highlight the continuous ones, mainly based on the so-called Liouville action which universally describes the coupling of any conformal field theory to gravity. While the Liouville action is relatively well understood, the appropriate functional integral measure is complicated, however. Nevertheless, a formula for the area dependence of the quantum gravity partition function in the presence of conformal matter has been obtained, under the simplifying assumption of a free-field measure. It has then been possible to derive relevant critical exponents for these theories, one of them called the "string susceptibility". Notwithstanding its non-rigorous derivation, this formula, often referred to as the KPZ formula, has since been verified in many instances and has scored many successes. However, the recent development of efficient multi-loop regularization methods on curved space-times opened the way for a precise and well-defined perturbative computation of the fixed-area partition function in the Kähler formalism. The string susceptibility was therefore previously computed in this framework up to one loop for surfaces of arbitrary genus using a somewhat more general quantum gravity action including the Liouville and Mabuchi actions; the latter corresponds to possible couplings to non-conformal matter. For conformal matter only, the one-loop KPZ result was reproduced. This was to be expected since the non-trivial nature of the quantum gravity integration measure only shows up at two and higher loops.

In this thesis, a first-principles computation of the fixed-area partition function up to three loops, considering the Liouville action, is performed. Among other things this allowed us to appreciate the role of the non-trivial quantum gravity integration measure. Our computation allows us to get the full expression of the partition function at two loops and to access both the leading quadratic and logarithmic divergences at three loops, as well as precisely discuss the diverging structure of the string susceptibility. This was done for Riemann surfaces of any genus. The regularization of the complicated integration measure leads to a "measure action" adding vertices to the ones coming from Liouville. While the two-loop computation only requires to take into account 4 types of diagrams subdivided in 10 subdiagrams, the three-loop calculation is equivalent to consider 29 types of diagrams consisting of more than 200 subdiagrams. As expected, the presence of divergences requires renormalization to obtain a finite result in the end. Therefore a counterterm action has been added and the full one-loop two-point Green's function computed. This allows to fix the relevant counterterms, resulting in a finite and regularization independent fixed-area partition function at two loops. The resulting string susceptibility is more general than the KPZ result, although compatible. It indeed depends on one of the unfixed counterterms. Therefore, the three-loop computation has been performed for the purpose of accessing to the complete contribution of the counterterms to both the partition function and the n-point functions of the same order in the perturbative expansion. Finally, it seems that among the initial 15 counterterms possible to insert, 4 stay undetermined and contribute to the string susceptibility. One can stress that the allowed counterterms are either local (as fitted) or measure-like. The measure action coming from the regularization gives indeed rise to non-local terms. The locality of the global Liouville, measure and counterterm action is however assured through the counterterms. This hints at an understanding of the measure-like counterterms as a renormalization of the measure, which has been overlooked before. In the last chapter these results are generalised to the coupling to non-conformal matter by considering the Mabuchi action in addition to the Liouville action, in the case of the torus.

Introduction

« La fantaisie et la liberté d'imagination ne s'acquièrent pas comme ça, qu'il y faut du temps, de l'obstination, de la sévérité, de la rigueur, des mathématiques, de la raison. » Philippe Sollers.

Quantum gravity remains one of the most thrilling scientific challenges of the 21th century. General relativity has deeply changed our conception of time and space a century ago and has been successfully experimentally verified using different techniques, including the recent discovery of gravitational waves [1], and from them the first observation of merging black holes. However, physics occurring near the center of black holes or in the early universe involves regions where the curvature becomes large and having at our disposal a theory of quantum gravity undoubtedly is unavoidable [2, 3]. Quantum gravity appears to be the missing piece in the jigsaw puzzle of our understanding of basic interactions.

Due to the complexity of the topic (see e.g. [4-10]), two-dimensional theories can be considered as insightful starting points to unravel the quantum aspect of gravity. First, one may think to look at pure quantum gravity. Yet, at 2D, pure quantum gravity does not contain any propagating degrees of freedom. For this reason, and of course keeping in mind that our universe does contain matter fields, a theory of quantum gravity coupled to matter is highly desirable. Since Polyakov's seminal paper [11], conformal matter coupled to quantum gravity on two-dimensional manifolds has been studied intensely [12, 13], both in the discretized approach [14–21] and in the continuum approach, known as Liouville quantum gravity [22–27]. While the matrix models give a non-perturbative definition, the Liouville theories offer a more transparent physical interpretation. In the continuum approach, most of the computations have been done within the conformal gauge. When the conformally coupled matter is integrated out, one ends up with the Liouville action $S_{\rm L}[g_0, g]$ as an effective gravity action.

One of the simplest, yet interesting objects to study in this quantum gravity is the partition function at fixed area Z[A]. One way to define this partition function Z[A] on a Riemann surface of genus h, with metric g of area A, is to choose the conformal gauge with a background metric g_0 and a conformal factor σ such that $g = e^{2\sigma}g_0$. Then,

$$Z_{\rm grav} = \int \mathcal{D}g \, e^{-\mu_c^2 A} Z_{\rm mat}[g] = \int dA \, Z[A] \;,$$

and Z[A] can be formally written as

$$Z[A] = \int \mathcal{D}\sigma \, e^{-\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi} S_{\rm L}[g_0,g] - \mu_c^2 A} \delta\left(A - \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \, e^{2\sigma}\right) \,, \quad \kappa^2 = \frac{26 - c}{3} \,,$$

where c is the matter central charge¹ and the -26 accounts for the gauge fixing (ghosts). The delta-function restricts the integration to metrics of area A. The measure $\mathcal{D}\sigma$ for

¹For reference on 2D Conformal Field Theory, see e.g. [28].

the conformal factor can be derived from the standard metric on the space of metrics and is a complicated non-flat measure. Many of the difficulties in dealing with this quantum gravity theory originate from this measure being non-trivial. One of the main difficulties when computing the partition function lies in the complicated non-flat measure $\mathcal{D}\sigma$ for the conformal factor.

Khnizik, Polyakov and Zamolodchikov studied two-dimensional gravity for genus zero in the light-cone gauge instead [22]. Using the relation with an SL(2) current algebra they derived a remarkable formula relating the scaling dimensions Δ of conformal primary operators coupled to gravity and their undressed conformal dimensions $\Delta^{(0)}$:

$$\Delta - \Delta^{(0)} = \frac{\left(\sqrt{25 - c} - \sqrt{1 - c}\right)^2}{24} \Delta(1 - \Delta) ,$$

known as algebraic KPZ relation. The scaling of the partition function is obtained from the dressing of the identity operator ($\Delta_{id}^{(0)} = 0$) and leads to a scaling

$$Z[A] \sim e^{-\mu_c^2 A} A^{\gamma_{\rm str} - 3} ,$$

where $\gamma_{\text{str}} = \Delta_{\text{id}}$ is the "string susceptibility". The previous equation then yields $\gamma_{\text{str}} = 2 - 2 \frac{\sqrt{25-c}}{\sqrt{25-c}-\sqrt{1-c}}$. This formula gives the correct scaling for certain random lattice models corresponding to specific values of c (see [29] and references therein).

On the other hand, working in the conformal gauge, and using several simplifying assumptions, specifically on the measure $\mathcal{D}\sigma$, as well as consistency conditions, ref. [23] and [24] have extended these remarkable formulae to surfaces of arbitrary genus. In particular they found the following formula for the string susceptibility

$$\gamma_{\rm str} = 2 + 2(h-1) \frac{\sqrt{25-c}}{\sqrt{25-c} - \sqrt{1-c}} ,$$

referred to as the KPZ formula. More recently, ref. [30–36] have given more rigorous, though more abstract alternative derivations of these formulae for $c \leq 1$ (and h = 0). An alternative, more physical derivation can be found in [37]. For recent probabilistic constructions of the free field Liouville measure on peculiar geometries, see [38–40].

Probably the most puzzling property of these formulae is that they only seem to work for $c \leq 1$, since for c > 1 (actually 1 < c < 25) they turn complex. This is the so-called c = 1 barrier (see e.g. [41, 42] and references therein), where tachyons appear in the Liouville theory [43]. It has been argued that, for c > 1, the two-dimensional geometry is dominated by configurations that no longer are smooth and that the surface develops spikes and a fractal character (see e.g. [24, 44–48]), sometimes considered as a branched polymer phase in which the surfaces collapse to tree-like objects (see e.g. [49–52] and references therein).

However, the recent development of efficient multi-loop regularization methods on curved space-times opened the way for a precise definition of the measure $\mathcal{D}\sigma$ as it follows from the usual metric on the space of metrics, and thus for a first-principles quantum field theory computation of Z[A], on a Riemann surface of arbitrary genus h. This regularization [53] is a generalization of the ζ -function regularization that works at one loop, to a regularization scheme that works for multi-loop computations on curved manifolds. Its basic objects are the heat kernel and generalized heat kernels defined on the manifold for which exist well-known formulae for the asymptotic "small t" behaviour.

More precisely, to compute the partition function at fixed area one can conveniently reparametrize the metric in the Kähler formalism, in terms of a fixed background metric, the area A and the Laplacian (in the background metric) of the Kähler potential, so that the area appears explicitly as a "coordinate" on the space of metrics. Since all the metrics are Kähler's in two dimension, this parametrization is complete. Then, the measure on the space of metrics is given in terms of dA, the standard flat measure on the space of Kähler potentials, and various non-trivial determinants. Expanding these determinants and the interactions in the Liouville action in powers of $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ generates the loop-expansion. Then, one can regularize the determinants and the propagators with the spectral cutoff regularization [53]. The first-principles computation has been initiated within this framework in [54] with the computation of the string susceptibility up to one loop, considering a somewhat more general quantum gravity action including the usual Liouville action for the coupling to conformal matter and the Mabuchi action for nonconformal matter. Indeed, it has been shown [55] that the Mabuchi action is involved in the first-order mass correction to the Liouville action. For conformal matter only, the one-loop computation was in agreement with the one-loop semi-classical expansion of the KPZ formula. However, it is only beyond one loop, starting at two loops, that the regularized measure plays a role. Thus, it is from this order in the perturbation theory that one can expect to see a difference with the KPZ formula, derived under the simplifying assumption of a free field measure [23, 24]. In order to highlight the consequence of regularizing the integration measure in a proper way, the aim of this thesis is to continue the first-principles computation of the fixed-area partition function to higher order.

In Chapter 1, we present different approaches to two-dimensional quantum gravity. We discuss some suitable effective gravitational actions, such as the Liouville and Mabuchi actions. Then, we present the one loop computation [54]. We also introduce in this chapter the Kähler formalism and the general smooth spectral cutoff regularization developed in [53]. This regularization scheme amounts to first replacing each propagator $G(x, y) = \sum_n \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \psi_n(x) \psi_n^*(y)$ by $\hat{K}(t_i, x, y) = \sum_n \frac{e^{-t_i \lambda_n}}{\lambda_n} \psi_n(x) \psi_n^*(y)$ where the ψ_n and λ_n are the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of the relevant differential operator, then substituting $t_i = \frac{\alpha_i}{\Lambda^2}$ and integrating $\int_0^\infty d\alpha_i \varphi(\alpha_i)$. Thus, Λ is the UV cutoff and $\varphi(\alpha)$ is a fairly general regulator function. This yields a regularized propagator $G_{\text{reg}}(x, y) = \sum_n \frac{f(\lambda_n/\Lambda^2)}{\lambda_n} \psi_n(x) \psi_n^*(y)$ with an almost arbitrary f that is a Laplace transform of the almost arbitrary φ . For large Λ , the t_i are small and to evaluate the diverging, as well as the finite parts of any loop diagram, it is enough to know the small tasymptotic of the \hat{K} . Of course, $\hat{K}(t, x, y)$ is related to the heat kernel K(t', x, y) on the manifold, which has a well-known small t' asymptotic expansion. We end this chapter by discussing the background independence of our formalism. Indeed, in any theory of quantum gravity, physical results should not depend on the arbitrarily introduced background metric. However, the regularization scheme is based on inserting a cutoff $e^{-t_i\lambda_n}$ in the sums of the eigenvalues, and both the eigenfunctions and the eigenvalues depend on the choice of the background metric. Thus, the regularization is expected to induce an explicit background dependence in our computations.

Chapter 2 is devoted to the study of the Liouville theory on a Riemann surface of arbitrary genus, up to three loops in the perturbation theory. It is based on [56] and [57]. First, we perform the full two-loop computations of the pure Liouville gravity in the general case of a surface of arbitrary genus. The loop expansion is an expansion around the classical solution of the Liouville equation of motion, thus around a background metric of constant curvature. We explicitly write the non-trivial measure in the Kähler formalism and we expand the measure and the Liouville action up to the order $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ which corresponds to the two-loop contributions to $\ln Z[A]$. Of course, the measure vertex itself is already a "one-loop" effect. The expansion of the Liouville action in terms of the Kähler potential yields the propagator and various n-point vertices. For the twoloop computation we find a cubic and two quartic vertices, with derivatives acting in various ways. Thus, we have to consider 3 types of "two-loop" diagrams and one "oneloop" measure diagram. They get contributions from 10 subdiagrams. We explicitly write their regularized expressions and discuss that they can depend on the dimensionful quantities A and Λ only through the dimensionless combination $A\Lambda^2$. Incidentally, this argument also explains why it is possible to obtain an explicit form for $\gamma_{\rm str}$. Indeed, $\gamma_{\rm str}$ is the coefficient of $\ln A\Lambda^2$ and, hence, it is related to short-distance singularities which, in turn, are determined by local quantities like heat kernel coefficients. The regularized fixed-area partition function depends on the cutoff Λ and the area A through divergent terms of the form $A\Lambda^2$, $\ln A\Lambda^2$, $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ and $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$. While the first term only contributes to the divergent cosmological constant (which can be adjusted by a corresponding local counterterm), and the coefficient of the second term determines $\gamma_{\rm str}$, the third and fourth terms are unwanted, non-local divergences. Quite non-trivially, all contributions to the third term added up to zero!

However, the $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ divergences remain. Then, one must introduce local counterterms in addition to the cosmological constant. Such local counterterms also contribute to the two-loop partition function, via one-loop diagrams. In particular, they can cancel the $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ divergences, while they could not have cancelled the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ divergences. The precise coefficients of the counterterms are determined up to regulatorindependent finite constants by requiring the two-point function of the Kähler fields, or equivalently of $\langle e^{2\sigma}e^{2\sigma}\rangle$, to be both finite and regulator-independent. Then, the partition function automatically becomes also both finite and regulator-independent. Yet, two finite "renormalization" constants – on which the two-loop contribution to $\gamma_{\rm str}$ depends – remain undetermined. By a locality argument, one of these renormalization constants can be fixed, precisely to the value consistent with the KPZ formula for $\gamma_{\rm str}$. However, the other renormalization constant has no particular reason to be fixed to the KPZ value. Remarkably, all values of this parameter are consistent with a background independent partition function at fixed area. This means that we actually have (at least) a one-parameter family of quantum gravity theories that we can consistently define in this Kähler approach (at least up to the two-loop order of perturbation theory).

The presence of this free parameter is intriguing and a natural question is whether the structure of the counterterm action introduced at two-loops is enough to also cancel the divergences at three (and higher) loops or whether new counterterms, with additional undetermined finite renormalization constants are required. Thus, in the last section of Chapter 2, we present the three-loop study of the Liouville quantum gravity on surfaces of any genus [57]. We expand the measure and the Liouville action up to the "threeloop" order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$ and add the previous counterterm action. This leads to new vertices: sextic, quintic, quartic and cubic (from the measure). Thus, in order to compute both the leading quadratic and logarithmic three-loop divergences of $\ln Z[A]$, we have now to consider 29 types of diagrams consisting of more than 200 subdiagrams. Although the summed leading logarithmic divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ cancels quite remarkably, the leading divergence $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ has a non-vanishing coefficient. Therefore, genuine three-loop counterterms are required. We compute their full contribution to the three-loop part of the partition function and then to equivalent order $\frac{1}{r^4}$ to the *n*-point function. Indeed, even if, in principle, one would need to compute the full one-loop three (and four)-point functions and the two-loop two-point function, and then to require them to be finite and regulator independent in order to really determine the coefficients of the three-loop counterterms, we can still discuss the degrees of freedom of the counterterms by comparing the independent combinations in which they appear. Then, while the full three-loop computation is beyond the scope of this thesis, the full counterterm parts already encodes some interesting information. For consistency, we also include the "two-loop" counterterms that could not be completely fixed by the previous study. It seems that among the initial 15 counterterms possible to insert, 5 stay undetermined and contribute to the string susceptibility, 4 more than at the two-loop order. We end this chapter by highlightening the relation between the regularized measure and the counterterms.

In Chapter 3, we present similar results for the mixed Liouville and Mabuchi theory in the more specific case of the torus. This chapter is based on [58]. We compute once again the full two-loop partition function. Counterterms are also required, as it should have been expected since the leading singularity comes from the Liouville action. However, quite remarkably, the leading logarithmic divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ once more cancels out between the diagrams, thus allowing a renormalization through only local counterterms! Then, we check that the three-loop leading divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ also cancel and we compute the contribution of the new counterterms to both the partition function and the *n*-point function. Then, we briefly discuss the finite part of the two-loop two-point function, so that we can reduce the number of the remaining free parameters in our theory.

Contents

1	The	conti	nuum approach to quantum gravity	1	
	1.1	Two-d	imensional quantum gravity	1	
		1.1.1	The DDK argument for the scaling of the fixed-area partition function $\$	1	
		1.1.2	Results from the discrete approaches	3	
	1.2	The g	ravitational action	4	
		1.2.1	Massive versus massless matter	5	
		1.2.2	The Kähler formalism	8	
		1.2.3	Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions	9	
		1.2.4	Heat kernel and zeta functions	9	
		1.2.5	Variation of the gravitational action	11	
	1.3	Regula	arization of the partition function	18	
		1.3.1	The measure on the space of metrics	19	
		1.3.2	One-loop expansion of the partition function at fixed area	21	
		1.3.3	Spectral cutoff regularization	22	
		1.3.4	One-loop result for the partition function at fixed area \ldots \ldots	28	
	1.4	Backg	round independence	29	
2	A multi-loop first principles analysis				
	2.1	Two-lo	pop landscape	37	
		2.1.1	Two-loop expansion of the Liouville and measure actions	38	
		2.1.2	Two-loop contributions to the partition function	41	
		2.1.3	Counterterm contribution to the partition function	54	
		2.1.4	One-loop computation of the two-point function and determination		
			of the counterterm coefficients	57	
		2.1.5	Two-loop result for the partition function and discussion	64	
	2.2	Three-	loop investigation	66	
		2.2.1	Three-loop expansions of the actions	66	
		2.2.2	Divergences of the partition function	71	
		2.2.3	Counterterms	79	
		2.2.4	Discussion	88	
3	Tow	vards n	on-conformal matter	90	
	3.1	Two-lo	pop partition function	92	
	-	3.1.1	Diagrams	92	
		3.1.2	Total contribution to the two-loop partition function	93	
		3.1.3	Counterterm contributions	94	
	3.2	Three-	loop discussion	97	
		3.2.1	Cancellation of the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence	97	
		3.2.2	Counterterm contributions	98	

CO	CONTENTS				
Discussion					
Α	Some useful integrals	107			
в	Two-point function B.1 "One-loop" contributions to the two-point functionB.1.1 One-loop contribution from $u - O - v$ B.1.2 One-loop contribution from the tadpole diagramB.1.3 One-loop contribution from the quartic verticesB.1.4 Order $1/\kappa^2$ contribution from the measureB.2"Two-loop" contributions to the two-point function	109 . 109 . 109 . 111 . 112 . 114 . 114			
С	Leading divergence at three loops	117			

CHAPTER 1 The continuum approach to quantum gravity

« Ma cohabitation passionnée avec les mathématiques m'a laissé un amour fou pour les bonnes définitions, sans lesquelles il n'y a que des à-peu-près. » Stendhal in *Vie de Henry Brulard*.

1.1 Two-dimensional quantum gravity

In this chapter, we first briefly recall the derivation of the KPZ result for the string susceptibility:

$$Z[A] \sim e^{-\mu_c^2 A} A^{\gamma_{\rm str} - 3} ,$$
 (1.1.1)

$$\gamma_{\rm str} = 2 + 2(h-1) \frac{\sqrt{25-c}}{\sqrt{25-c} - \sqrt{1-c}},$$
 (1.1.2)

and the discrete results confirming this formula. Then, we focus on the specificities of our approach. We first discuss the effective gravity action one may consider, based on [59] and [55], and the Kähler formalism. Then, to complete the presentation of our framework, we present the smooth spectral regularization techniques developed in [53]. This regularization is the one used throughout this thesis to obtain the results presented in Chapter 2 and 3. In order to illustrate this formalism, we then recall the one-loop computation of the fixed-area partition function of two-dimensional quantum gravity done in [54]. Finally, we discuss the background independence of our regularization, and give some key formula to check the background (in)dependence of our results.

1.1.1 The DDK argument for the scaling of the fixed-area partition function

Since we will compare our results with the KPZ relation (1.1.2), we find it useful to briefly present the DDK argument [23, 24] that gives this scaling of the partition function in terms of the area. This argument is amazingly simple and yields a result that has been cross-checked by other methods, at least for some specific models at certain values of the central charge (see section 1.1.2). On the other hand, as already pointed out, it relies on various simplifying assumptions that cannot be the full truth.

1.1. TWO-DIMENSIONAL QUANTUM GRAVITY

Consider two metrics g and g_0 of area $A = \int d^2x \sqrt{g}$ and A_0 related in the conformal gauge by the conformal factor σ :

$$g = e^{2\sigma} g_0 \ . \tag{1.1.3}$$

In this conformal gauge, the Liouville action takes the simple form

$$S_{\rm L}[g_0,g] \equiv S_{\rm L}[g_0,\sigma] = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \left(\sigma \Delta_0 \sigma + R_0 \sigma\right) \,, \tag{1.1.4}$$

and the area A can be written as $A = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} e^{2\sigma}$. Instead of using the correct nontrivial measure $\mathcal{D}\sigma$ in the fixed-area partition function, DDK use a *flat free-field* measure $\mathcal{D}_0\sigma$. At the same time they argue that, in the quantum theory, the coefficient κ^2 in front of the Liouville action should be renormalized to $\tilde{\kappa}^2$ and that the definition of the area can no longer simply be $\int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} e^{2\sigma}$: the coefficient in the exponential must also be renormalized so that it becomes $\int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} e^{2\alpha\sigma}$ which should be a conformal primary of weight (1, 1) with respect to the Liouville action. Thus

$$Z_{\text{DDK}}[A] = \int \mathcal{D}_0 \sigma \, e^{-\frac{\tilde{\kappa}^2}{8\pi} S_{\text{L}}[g_0,g] - \mu_c^2 A} \, \delta\left(A - \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \, e^{2\alpha\sigma}\right) \,. \tag{1.1.5}$$

To determine the coefficient α , one can switch to standard normalizations by setting $\hat{\sigma} = \tilde{\kappa} \sigma$. Then,

$$\frac{\widetilde{\kappa}^2}{8\pi} S_{\rm L}[g_0, g] = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \left(\frac{1}{2}\,\widehat{\sigma}\,\Delta_0\,\widehat{\sigma} + \frac{\widetilde{\kappa}}{2}\,R_0\,\widehat{\sigma}\right)\,,\tag{1.1.6}$$

which represents a standard free-field action with a background charge $\frac{\tilde{\kappa}}{2}$. The left and right conformal weights of : $e^{2\alpha\sigma} :=: e^{\frac{2\alpha}{\tilde{\kappa}}\hat{\sigma}}$: are well-known. Requiring them to equal unity yields

$$-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{2\alpha}{\widetilde{\kappa}}\right)^2 + \frac{\widetilde{\kappa}}{2}\frac{2\alpha}{\widetilde{\kappa}} = 1 , \qquad (1.1.7)$$

with solution

$$\alpha = \frac{\widetilde{\kappa}^2}{4} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{8}{\widetilde{\kappa}^2}} \right) , \qquad (1.1.8)$$

where the sign has been chosen to match with the semi-classical limit $\tilde{\kappa}^2 \to \infty$. The central charge of this "free" Liouville theory with background charge is

$$c_{\rm L} = 1 + 3\tilde{\kappa}^2 . \tag{1.1.9}$$

Background independence requires the total central charge of the matter (c), ghosts (-26) and the Liouville theory to vanish:

$$c - 26 + c_{\rm L} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{\kappa}^2 = \frac{25 - c}{3} = \kappa^2 - \frac{1}{3} .$$
 (1.1.10)

1.1. TWO-DIMENSIONAL QUANTUM GRAVITY

To obtain the area dependence of $Z_{\text{DDK}}[A]$, one simply changes the integration variable in (1.1.5) from σ to $\sigma' = \sigma - b$ with some constant b. The flat measure $\mathcal{D}_0 \sigma$ is invariant by translation, while the Liouville action changes as

$$S_{\rm L}[g_0,\sigma] = S_{\rm L}[g_0,\sigma'] + 8\pi \, b \, (1-h) \,, \qquad (1.1.11)$$

and the delta scales as

$$\delta\left(A - \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \, e^{2\alpha\sigma}\right) = e^{-2\alpha b} \,\delta\left(e^{-2\alpha b} A - \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \, e^{2\alpha\sigma'}\right) \,. \tag{1.1.12}$$

Putting things together, and letting $e^{2\alpha b} = \frac{A}{A_0}$, one gets

$$Z_{\text{DDK}}[A] = \left(\frac{A}{A_0}\right)^{-1 - \frac{\tilde{\kappa}^2}{2\alpha}(1-h)} e^{-\mu_c^2(A-A_0)} Z_{\text{DDK}}[A_0] , \qquad (1.1.13)$$

from which we read

$$\gamma_{\rm str} = 2 - \frac{\tilde{\kappa}^2}{2\alpha} (1-h) = 2 + 2(h-1) \frac{\sqrt{25-c}}{\sqrt{25-c} - \sqrt{1-c}} \,. \tag{1.1.14}$$

1.1.2 Results from the discrete approaches

General references for the discrete models – lattice models known as dynamical triangulations as well as matrix models – can be found for instance in [12]. Dynamical triangulations are a discretization of quantum geometries. Indeed, it was proposed in e.g. [14, 46, 60–63] that the integral over the internal geometry of a two-dimensional surface can be discretized as a sum over randomly triangulated surfaces. This way, the lattice spacing plays the role of a UV regulator, allowing the theory to be finite.

Another approach consists in expressing the two-dimensional quantum gravity partition function coupled to certain matter systems as the free energy of an associated hermitian matrix model. From it, many quantities can be computed exactly, as this matrix realization can be usually solved using large N techniques. It is interesting to note that matrix models originate from QCD, when in the 70s, t'Hooft [64] realized that planar graphs with a large number of colors could be considered as Feynman diagrams for matrix models. He also noticed that the size of the matrices can be used as an expansion parameter.

Both these discrete models reveal themselves to be in agreement with the Liouville theory. Indeed, considering the KPZ formula on the sphere:

$$\gamma_{\rm str}^{\rm KPZ} = 2 - 2 \frac{\sqrt{25 - c}}{\sqrt{25 - c} - \sqrt{1 - c}} , \qquad (1.1.15)$$

specific values of it have been exactly derived from dynamical triangulations (see e.g. [22, 29] and references therein) and matrix models (see e.g. [12, 65] and references therein). To exemplify, let us stress the value c = 0 corresponding to pure gravity and

yielding $\gamma_{\text{str}} = -\frac{1}{2}$. The case describing a coupling with the Ising model, *i.e.* $c = \frac{1}{2}$ has also been derived [66] and provides a string susceptibility $\gamma_{\text{str}} = -\frac{1}{3}$. The cases c = -2, 0, give [29, 62] $\gamma_{\text{str}} = -1$, 0, respectively. All these values are in agreement with (1.1.15).

A continuum limit that includes the sum over topologies of two-dimensional surfaces was then defined [15, 16, 18] for certain matter systems coupled to 2D quantum gravity. Before closing this section, let us add that other approaches to quantum gravity have been developed more recently, like for instance Tensor Field Theory [67–69] or Group Field Theory [70–72]. Details of these approaches are beyond the scope of this thesis.

1.2 The gravitational action

Ever since the seminal paper by Polyakov [11] it has been known that the coupling of conformal matter to gravity in two dimensions gives rise to the Liouville action [26, 73–77] as the effective gravitational action. More precisely,

$$-\ln \frac{Z_{\text{mat}}^{(c)}[g]}{Z_{\text{mat}}^{(c)}[g_0]} = -\frac{c}{24\pi} S_{\text{L}}[g_0, g] , \qquad (1.2.1)$$

where $Z_{\text{mat}}^{(c)}$ is the partition function of conformal matter of central charge c and g and g_0 two metrics of area A and A_0 related in the conformal gauge by the conformal factor σ : $g = e^{2\sigma}g_0$. Being defined as the logarithm of a ratio of partition functions computed with two different metrics, it is clear that the Liouville action satisfies a co-cycle identity

$$S[g_1, g_2] + S[g_2, g_3] = S[g_1, g_3] , \qquad (1.2.2)$$

which is a fundamental consistency condition any gravitational action must satisfy [55]. For more general "matter" (plus ghost) partition functions, one defines a general gravitational action as

$$-\ln \frac{Z_{\rm mat}[g]}{Z_{\rm mat}[g_0]} = S_{\rm grav}[g_0, g] . \qquad (1.2.3)$$

Any gravitational action defined this way automatically satisfies the co-cycle identity (1.2.2). The simplest example of such a gravitational action is the "cosmological constant action"

$$S_{\mu}[g_0,g] = \mu_c^2 \int d^2 x (\sqrt{g} - \sqrt{g_0}) = \mu_c^2 (A - A_0) . \qquad (1.2.4)$$

This action must actually be added to the Liouville action in (1.2.1) as a counterterm to renormalize the divergences.

Other gravitational actions than the Liouville or cosmological constant actions can be constructed and have been studied mainly in the mathematical literature, like the Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions (see e.g. [78–83]). These latter functionals crucially involve not only the conformal factor σ but also directly the Kähler potential ϕ and do admit generalizations to higher-dimensional Kähler manifolds. In the mathematical literature they appear in relation with the characterization of constant scalar curvature

metrics (see e.g. [78, 81, 84–89]). Their roles as two-dimensional gravitational actions in the sense of (1.2.3) have been discussed in some detail in [55, 90]. In particular, ref. [55] has studied the metric dependence of the partition function of non-conformal matter like a massive scalar field and shown that a gravitational action defined by (1.2.3) contains these Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions as first-order corrections (first order in m^2A where m is the mass and A the area of the Riemann surface of metric g) to the Liouville action. The purpose of this (quite technical) section is first to derive a few results valid exactly at finite m. Then, doing a small mass expansion allows us to retrieve some of the results of [55] and in particular the involvement of the Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions in the first order in m^2A . This section is quite extensively based on [59].

Ideally one would like to study some general matter action where non-conformal terms $\sim a_i \mathcal{O}^i$ have been added to some conformal theory and obtain exact results in these couplings a_i . We are much less ambitious and simply study a single massive scalar field with action

$$S_{\text{mat}}[g, X] = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left[g^{ab} \partial_a X \partial_b X + m^2 X^2 \right] = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} X (\Delta_g + m^2) X . \quad (1.2.5)$$

Here Δ_g is the Laplace operator for the metric g, defined with a minus sign, so that its eigenvalues are non-negative:

$$\Delta_g = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_a (g^{ab} \sqrt{g} \partial_b) . \qquad (1.2.6)$$

Maybe not too surprisingly, some of our massive formula look somewhat similar to those that can be found in [55] for the massless case. However, let us insist that our results are exact in m and valid for any finite mass. Nevertheless, we will write them in a way that immediately allows for a small mass expansion, thus recovering the Liouville action in the zero mass limit and the Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions as the first-order corrections.

1.2.1 Massive versus massless matter

One should keep in mind that adding the mass term is *not* just a perturbation by some operator that has a non-zero conformal weight. This is due to the zero mode of the scalar field that is absent from the action for zero mass but obviously plays an important role for non-zero mass. In particular, this means that the relevant quantities of the massive theory are not simply given by those of the massless theory plus order m^2 corrections. This is most clearly exemplified by the Green's function G(x, y) of the operator $\Delta_g + m^2$. We let

$$(\Delta_g + m^2)\psi_n(x) = \lambda_n\psi_n(x)$$
, $n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$ (1.2.7)

In general, if B is any quantity defined for $m \neq 0$, we will denote by $B^{(0)}$ the corresponding quantity for m = 0. Clearly, the eigenfunctions ψ_n do not depend on m (*i.e.* $\psi_n = \psi_n^{(0)}$), while $\lambda_n = \lambda_n^{(0)} + m^2$. The eigenfunctions which may be chosen to be real, are orthonormalized as

$$\int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g(x)} \,\psi_n(x)\psi_k(x) = \delta_{nk} \,. \tag{1.2.8}$$

As it is clear from (1.2.6), Δ_g always has a zero mode and, hence,

$$\lambda_0 = m^2$$
 , $\psi_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{A}}$. (1.2.9)

The Green's function for $m \neq 0$ is given by

$$G(x,y) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n} \quad , \quad (\Delta_g + m^2) \, G(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \delta(x-y) \; . \tag{1.2.10}$$

For m = 0 these definitions must be modified. Since $\lambda_0^{(0)} = 0$, obviously, the zero mode must be excluded from the sum and then

$$\widetilde{G}^{(0)}(x,y) = \sum_{n>0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n^{(0)}} \quad , \quad \Delta_g \widetilde{G}^{(0)}(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}\delta(x-y) - \frac{1}{A} \; . \tag{1.2.11}$$

The subtraction of $\frac{1}{A}$ on the r.h.s. ensures that, when integrated $\int d^2x \sqrt{g} \dots$, one correctly gets zero. We will consistently put a tilde over the various quantities we will encounter if the zero mode is excluded from the sum.¹ In particular, using (1.2.9), we can write for the massive Green's function

$$G(x,y) = \frac{1}{m^2 A} + \tilde{G}(x,y) \quad , \quad (\Delta_g + m^2) \,\tilde{G}(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \delta(x-y) - \frac{1}{A} \,. \tag{1.2.12}$$

The smallest eigenvalue contributing in \widetilde{G} is $\lambda_1 = \lambda_1^{(0)} + m^2$ with $\lambda_1^{(0)} > 0$ being of order $\frac{1}{A}$ [53]. Thus if $m^2 A \ll 1$ one can expand $\frac{1}{\lambda_n} = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} (-)^r \frac{m^{2r}}{(\lambda_n^{(0)})^{r+1}}$, resulting in

$$G(x,y) = \frac{1}{m^2 A} + \widetilde{G}^{(0)}(x,y) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-m^2)^r \widetilde{G}^{(0)}_{r+1}(x,y) , \qquad (1.2.13)$$

where

$$G_r(x,y) = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n^r} \quad , \quad \widetilde{G}_r^{(0)}(x,y) = \sum_{n>0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{(\lambda_n^{(0)})^r} \quad . \tag{1.2.14}$$

Clearly, the massive Green's function does not equal the massless one plus order- m^2 corrections since there is a crucial $\frac{1}{m^2A}$ term in (1.2.13).

Writing $X = \sum_{n>0} a_n \psi_n$, the matter partition function is defined as

$$Z_{\rm mat}[g] = \int \mathcal{D}_g X e^{-S_{\rm mat}[g,X]} = \int \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}a_n}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n\geq 0}\lambda_n a_n^2} = \left(\det(\Delta_g + m^2)\right)^{-1/2}.$$
(1.2.15)

¹Except for determinants missing the zero mode, where we will write det', following the usual notation.

In the massless case, since $\lambda_0^{(0)} = 0$, the integration over a_0 would be divergent and instead one replaces it by a factor \sqrt{A} (see e.g. [55]). Thus

$$Z_{\rm mat}^{(0)}[g] = \int \mathcal{D}_g^{(0)} X e^{-S_{\rm mat}^{(0)}[g,X]} = \sqrt{A} \int \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}a_n}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n>0}\lambda_n^{(0)}a_n^2} = \left(\frac{\det'\Delta_g}{A}\right)^{-1/2}.$$
(1.2.16)

Of course, the determinants det and det' are ill-defined and need to be regularized. We will use the very convenient zeta function scheme to regularize-renormalize them (see e.g. [53, 91, 92]). The spectral ζ -functions are defined as

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \lambda_n^{-s} \quad , \quad \widetilde{\zeta}(s) = \sum_{n > 0} \lambda_n^{-s} \; , \tag{1.2.17}$$

and similarly for $\tilde{\zeta}^{(0)}(s)$. By Weil's law (see e.g. [53]), the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues for large n is $\lambda_n \sim \frac{n}{A}$ and, hence the spectral ζ -functions are defined by converging sums for Res > 1, and by analytic continuations for all other values. In particular, they are well-defined meromorphic functions for all s with a single pole at s = 1 with residue $\frac{1}{4\pi}$ (see e.g. [53]). A straightforward formal manipulation shows that $\zeta'(0) \equiv \frac{d}{ds}\zeta(s)|_{s=0}$ provides a formal definition of $-\sum_{n\geq 0} \ln \lambda_n$, *i.e.* of $-\ln \det(\Delta_g + m^2)$:

$$Z_{\text{mat}}[g] = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\zeta'(0)\right) \quad , \quad Z_{\text{mat}}^{(0)}[g] = A^{1/2} \, \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{\zeta}^{(0)})'(0)\right) \,. \tag{1.2.18}$$

There is a slight subtlety one should take into account, see e.g. [53]. While the field X is dimensionless, the ψ_n scale as $A^{-1/2} \sim \mu$ where μ is some arbitrary mass scale (even if m = 0), and the a_n as μ^{-1} . It follows that one should write $\mathcal{D}_g X = \prod_n \frac{\mu \, da_n}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$. This results in $Z_{\text{mat}} = \left(\prod_n \frac{\lambda_n}{\mu^2}\right)^{-1/2}$, so that $\zeta'(0)$ should be changed into

$$\zeta'(0) \to \zeta'(0) + \zeta(0) \ln \mu^2$$
 (1.2.19)

in the previous expressions of Z_{mat} and $Z_{\text{mat}}^{(0)}$ [53]. This writing may seem inhomogeneous since μ encountered in the logarithm is a mass scale. However, this seemingly inhomogeneity is just a trick since this combination stands for $-\sum_{n\geq 0} \ln \frac{\lambda_n}{\mu^2}$. In section 1.2.5, we will get back with quantities of seemingly traceable homogeneity.

The regularization-renormalization of determinants in terms of the ζ -functions may appear as rather ad hoc, but it can be rigorously justified by introducing the spectral regularization [53]. The regularized logarithm of the determinant then equals $\zeta'(0) + \zeta(0) \ln \mu^2$ plus a diverging piece ~ $A\Lambda^2(\ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} + \text{const})$, where Λ is some cutoff. This diverging piece just contributes to the cosmological constant action (1.2.4), and this is why the latter must be present as a counterterm, to cancel this divergence.

Thus,

$$S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\zeta'_g(0) - \zeta'_{g_0}(0) + [\zeta_g(0) - \zeta_{g_0}(0)] \ln \mu^2 \right) , \qquad (1.2.20)$$

$$S_{\text{grav}}^{(0)}[g_0, g] = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} - \frac{1}{2} \left((\widetilde{\zeta}_g^{(0)})'(0) - (\widetilde{\zeta}_{g_0}^{(0)})'(0) + \left[\widetilde{\zeta}_g^{(0)}(0) - \widetilde{\zeta}_{g_0}^{(0)}(0) \right] \ln \mu^2 \right) ,$$

where the first line refers to the massive case and the second line to the massless one.

1.2.2 The Kähler formalism

Consider a compact Riemann surface with fixed complex structure moduli. As already mentioned, up to diffeomorphisms, any two-dimensional metric g on the surface may be written in conformal gauge as $g = e^{2\sigma}g_0$ where g_0 is a reference metric that can be chosen to be the constant curvature metric associated with some area A_0 . Moreover, in two dimensions all the metrics are Kähler's, so that rather than writing the metric g in terms of this g_0 and the conformal factor σ , one can also parametrize it in terms of g_0 , the area $A = \int d^2x \sqrt{g}$ and the Kähler potential ϕ as follows:

$$g = e^{2\sigma}g_0$$
 , $e^{2\sigma} = \frac{A}{A_0}\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}A_0\Delta_0\phi\right)$, (1.2.21)

where Δ_0 denotes the *positive* Laplacian (1.2.6) for the reference metric g_0 . Of course, $\Delta = e^{-2\sigma}\Delta_0$. This Kähler parametrization (1.2.21) has certain advantages and is certainly most convenient if one wants to consider metrics of fixed area, as it will be done throughout this thesis. Given σ , the above relation actually defines A and ϕ uniquely, up to unphysical constant shifts of ϕ . Moreover, positivity of the metric implies the non-perturbative constraint $\frac{1}{2}A_0\Delta_0\phi < 1$. While being crucial in a non-perturbative definition of the integral over the Kähler potentials [54, 90], this constraint is irrelevant in perturbation theory and thus will be ignored in this thesis. The second relation in (1.2.21) is equivalent to the relation

$$\omega = \frac{A}{A_0}\omega_0 + iA\partial\bar{\partial}\phi \tag{1.2.22}$$

between the volume (Kähler) forms ω and ω_0 of the metrics g and g_0 . Often in the following we will use a rescaled (constant curvature) metric g_* of area A, with corresponding Laplace operator Δ_* and Ricci scalar R_* given by

$$g_* = \frac{A}{A_0}g_0$$
, $\Delta_* = \frac{A_0}{A}\Delta_0$, $R_* = \frac{A_0}{A}R_0 = \frac{8\pi(1-h)}{A}$. (1.2.23)

In particular, since $A_0\Delta_0 = A\Delta_*$, eq. (1.2.21) can also be written as

$$e^{2\sigma} = \frac{A}{A_0} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} A \Delta_* \phi \right) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad g = g_* \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} A \Delta_* \phi \right) \quad . \tag{1.2.24}$$

Consequently, one has

$$\int d^2x \sqrt{g} = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} = A \quad , \quad \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} R_* = 8\pi (1-h) \; . \tag{1.2.25}$$

As compared to the DDK approach (cf section 1.1.1), where in the quantum theory the area is computed as $\int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} e^{2\alpha\sigma}$ (cf (1.1.5)), in the Kähler formalism the area A is a "coordinate" on the space of metrics and (1.2.25) always holds exactly even in the quantum theory where ϕ (or $A\Delta_*\phi$) is the quantum field.

1.2.3 Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions

Let us briefly recall the basic properties of the known gravitational actions. While the Liouville action (1.1.4) is simply written in terms of g_0 and the conformal factor σ , the Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions are naturally formulated using also the Kähler potential ϕ . The Mabuchi action on a Riemann surface of genus h can be written as [55]

$$S_{\rm M}[g_0,g] = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} \left[2\pi (h-1)\phi \Delta_0 \phi + \left(\frac{8\pi (1-h)}{A_0} - R_0\right)\phi + \frac{4}{A}\sigma e^{2\sigma} \right] , \quad (1.2.26)$$

while the Aubin-Yau action takes the form

$$S_{\rm AY}[g_0, g] = -\int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \left[\frac{1}{4} \phi \Delta_0 \phi - \frac{\phi}{A_0} \right] .$$
 (1.2.27)

As already mentioned, they both satisfy the co-cycle identity (1.2.2) and were shown [55] to appear as accompanying the term of first order in an expansion in $m^2 A$ of S_{grav} . Note that $S_{\text{M}} = 8\pi (1-h)S_{\text{AY}} + \int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} \left(\frac{4}{A}\sigma e^{2\sigma} - R_0\phi\right)$. Eq. (1.2.21) relates the variations $\delta\sigma$ and $\delta\phi$ as

$$\delta\sigma = \frac{\delta A}{2A} - \frac{A}{4}\Delta\delta\phi \quad \text{and} \quad \delta\left(\frac{e^{2\sigma}}{A}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta_0\delta\phi \;.$$
 (1.2.28)

It is then straightforward to show that the variations of the Liouville, Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions are given by

$$\delta S_{\rm L}[g_0, g] = 4\pi (1-h) \frac{\delta A}{A} - \frac{A}{4} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \,\Delta R \,\delta\phi ,$$

$$\delta S_{\rm M}[g_0, g] = 2 \frac{\delta A}{A} - \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(R - \frac{8\pi (1-h)}{A} \right) \delta\phi ,$$

$$\delta S_{\rm AY}[g_0, g] = \frac{1}{A} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\phi . \qquad (1.2.29)$$

Thus the Liouville and Mabuchi actions obviously admit the constant scalar curvature metrics as saddle-points at fixed area. Although not obvious from the previous equation, the variation of the Aubin-Yau action when restricted to the space of Bergmann metrics is similarly related to metrics of constant scalar curvature [81].

1.2.4 Heat kernel and zeta functions

Before going forward and computing δS_{grav} as defined in (1.2.20), one must introduce useful quantities such as the heat kernel and the local zeta functions (see e.g. [53, 93–95] and the review [96]).

The heat kernel and the integrated heat kernel for the operator $\Delta_g + m^2$ are defined in terms of the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions (1.2.7) as

$$K(t, x, y) = \sum_{n \ge 0} e^{-\lambda_n t} \psi_n(x) \psi_n(y) \quad , \quad K(t) = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \, K(t, x, x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} e^{-\lambda_n t} \, .$$
(1.2.30)

The corresponding \widetilde{K} , $K^{(0)}$ and $\widetilde{K}^{(0)}$ are defined similarly. The heat kernel K is the solution of

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \Delta_g + m^2\right) K(t, x, y) = 0 \quad , \quad K(t, x, y) \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \delta(x - y) \text{ as } t \to 0 \; . \tag{1.2.31}$$

Note that it immediately follows from either (1.2.30) or (1.2.31) that the massless and massive heat kernels are simply related by

$$K(t, x, y) = e^{-m^2 t} K^{(0)}(t, x, y) .$$
(1.2.32)

Since the eigenvalues λ_n of $\Delta_g + m^2$ are positive, it is clear from (1.2.30) that K(t, x, y) is given by a converging sum and remains finite even as $x \to y$ as long as t > 0. For $t \to 0$ however, one recovers various divergences, and in particular

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}t \, K(t, x, y) = G(x, y) \tag{1.2.33}$$

exhibits the short distance singularity of the Green's function which is well-known to be logarithmic in two dimensions.

The behaviour of K for small t is related to the asymptotics of the eigenvalues λ_n for large n, which in turn is related to the short-distance properties of the Riemann surface. It is thus not surprising that the small t asymptotic is given in terms of local expressions of the curvature and its derivatives. Indeed, one has the well-known small t expansion :

$$K(t,x,y) = \frac{e^{-(\ell^2/4t) - m^2 t}}{4\pi t} \left[a_0^{(0)}(x,y) + a_1^{(0)}(x,y) t + a_2^{(0)}(x,y) t^2 + \mathcal{O}(t^3) \right]$$
(1.2.34)

where $\ell^2 \equiv \ell_g^2(x, y)$ is the geodesic distance squared between x and y. For small t, the exponential forces ℓ^2 to be small (of order \sqrt{t}) and one can use normal coordinates around y. This allows one to obtain quite easily explicit expressions for the $a_r(x, y)$ in terms of the curvature tensor and its derivatives. They can be found e.g. in [53]. Here, we will only need them at coinciding points y = x, where

$$K(t, y, y) = \frac{1}{4\pi t} \left[1 + \left(\frac{R}{6} - m^2\right) t + \dots \right].$$
 (1.2.35)

Let us note that in the massless case and if the zero mode is excluded one has instead

$$\widetilde{K}^{(0)}(t,y,y) = \frac{1}{4\pi t} \left[1 + \left(\frac{R}{6} - \frac{4\pi}{A}\right)t + \dots \right] \,. \tag{1.2.36}$$

The spectral regularization scheme developed in [53] and used is this thesis also involves the heat kernel so that we will come back to these quantities later in section 1.3.3 and then give the specific values of the $a_i(x, y)$ for the study carried on in Chapter 2 and 3.

Local versions of the ζ -functions are defined as (see e.g. [53])

$$\zeta(s, x, y) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n^s} , \qquad (1.2.37)$$

and similarly for $\zeta(s, x, y)$, etc. Note that $\zeta(1, x, y) = G(x, y)$, while for s = r = 2, 3, ...these local ζ -functions coincide with the $G_r(x, y)$ defined above in (1.2.14). They are related to the heat kernel by

$$\zeta(s, x, y) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \, t^{s-1} K(t, x, y) \,. \tag{1.2.38}$$

For $s = 0, -1, -2, ..., \Gamma(s)$ has poles and the value of $\zeta(s, x, y)$ is entirely determined by the singularities of the integral over t that arise from the small t asymptotic of K. As shown above, the latter is given by local quantities on the Riemann surface. Explicitly (see e.g. [53])

$$\zeta(-k,x,x) = (-1)^k k! \frac{a_{1+k}(x,x)}{4\pi} , \quad k = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (1.2.39)

so that in particular,

$$\zeta(0, x, x) = \frac{R(x)}{24\pi} - \frac{m^2}{4\pi} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\zeta}(0, x, x) = \frac{R(x)}{24\pi} - \frac{m^2}{4\pi} - \frac{1}{A} \quad (1.2.40)$$

On the other hand, the values for s = 1, 2, 3, ... or the derivatives at s = 0 cannot be determined just from the small t asymptotic. To access them requires the knowledge of the full spectrum of $\Delta_g + m^2$.

Clearly, $\zeta(1, x, y) = G(x, y)$ is singular as $x \to y$, while for $s \neq 1$, $\zeta(s, x, y)$ provides a regularization of the propagator. More precisely, it follows from (1.2.38) that $\zeta(s, x, x)$ is a meromorphic function with a pole at s = 1 and that the residue of this pole is $\frac{a_0(x,x)}{4\pi} = \frac{1}{4\pi}$. Thus [53]

$$G_{\zeta}(x) = \lim_{s \to 1} \left[\mu^{2(s-1)} \zeta(s, x, x) - \frac{1}{4\pi(s-1)} \right]$$
(1.2.41)

is well-defined. (Here μ is an arbitrary scale.) This is an important quantity, called the "Green's function at coinciding points". One can give an alternative definition of G_{ζ} by subtracting the short distance singularity from G(x, y) and taking $x \to y$. More precisely

$$G_{\zeta}(y) = \lim_{x \to y} \left[G(x, y) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\ln \frac{\ell_g^2(x, y)\mu^2}{4} + 2\gamma \right) \right]$$
(1.2.42)

where $\ell_g^2(x, y)$ is the geodesic distance between x and y in the metric g. One can show [53] that both definitions of G_{ζ} are equivalent and define the same quantity. The same relations hold between $\tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$, $\tilde{G}(x, y)$ and $\tilde{\zeta}(s, x, x)$. Note that $G_{\zeta}(x)$ contains global information about the Riemann surface and cannot be expressed in terms of local quantities only.

1.2.5 Variation of the gravitational action

From (1.2.20), one directly reads the variation of the gravitational action:

$$\delta S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\delta \zeta'(0) + \delta \zeta(0) \ln \mu^2 \right) ,$$

$$\delta S_{\text{grav}}^{(0)}[g_0, g] = -\frac{\delta A}{2A} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta(\tilde{\zeta}^{(0)})'(0) + \delta \tilde{\zeta}^{(0)}(0) \ln \mu^2 \right) . \qquad (1.2.43)$$

Our goal is to compute $\delta\zeta'(0) \equiv \delta\zeta'_g(0)$ and $\delta\zeta(0) \equiv \delta\zeta_g(0)$ and express them as "exact differentials" so that one can integrate them and obtain the finite differences $\zeta'_{g_2}(0) - \zeta'_{g_1}(0)$ and $\zeta_{g_2}(0) - \zeta_{g_1}(0)$, thus accessing $S_{\text{grav}}[g_1, g_2]$. To do so, we need to study how the eigenvalues λ_n and eigenfunctions ψ_n change

To do so, we need to study how the eigenvalues λ_n and eigenfunctions ψ_n change under an infinitesimal change of the metric. Since $g = e^{2\sigma}g_0$, the Laplace operator Δ_g and hence also $\Delta_g + m^2$ only depend on the conformal factor σ and on g_0 : $\Delta_g = e^{-2\sigma}\Delta_0$ and thus under a variation $\delta\sigma$ of σ one has

$$\delta \Delta_g = -2\delta \sigma \Delta_g \quad \Rightarrow \quad \langle \psi_k | \delta \Delta_g | \psi_n \rangle = -2\lambda_n^{(0)} \langle \psi_k | \delta \sigma | \psi_n \rangle = -2(\lambda_n - m^2) \langle \psi_k | \delta \sigma | \psi_n \rangle ,$$
(1.2.44)

where, $\langle \psi_k | \delta \sigma | \psi_n \rangle = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \psi_k \delta \sigma \psi_n$. One can then apply standard quantum mechanical perturbation theory. The only subtlety comes from the normalisation condition (1.2.8) which also gets modified when varying σ [53, 55]. One finds

$$\delta\lambda_n = -2(\lambda_n - m^2)\langle\psi_n|\delta\sigma|\psi_n\rangle , \qquad (1.2.45)$$

$$\delta\psi_n = -\langle\psi_n|\delta\sigma|\psi_n\rangle\,\psi_n - 2\sum_{k\neq n}\frac{\lambda_n - m^2}{\lambda_n - \lambda_k}\langle\psi_k|\delta\sigma|\psi_n\rangle\,\psi_k\;. \tag{1.2.46}$$

Let us insists that this is first-order perturbation theory in $\delta\sigma$, but it is exact in m^2 . From (1.2.45) one immediately gets,

$$\zeta_{g+\delta g}(s) = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{1}{(\lambda_n + \delta\lambda_n)^s} = \zeta_g(s) + 2s \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{\lambda_n - m^2}{\lambda_n^{s+1}} \langle \psi_n | \delta\sigma | \psi_n \rangle .$$
(1.2.47)

Note that $\lambda_0 = m^2$ and, hence, there is no zero mode contribution to the second term. Thus,

$$\delta\zeta(s) = \delta\widetilde{\zeta}(s) = 2s \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\,\delta\sigma(x) \left[\widetilde{\zeta}(s,x,x) - m^2\widetilde{\zeta}(s+1,x,x)\right] \,. \tag{1.2.48}$$

For $m \neq 0$, the term in brackets could have been equally well written as $\zeta(s, x, x) - m^2 \zeta(s+1, x, x)$, but the writing in terms of the $\tilde{\zeta}$ is valid for all non-zero and zero values of m. It follows that

$$\delta\zeta'(0) = 2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \,\widetilde{\zeta}(0, x, x) - 2m^2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \,\lim_{s \to 0} \left[\widetilde{\zeta}(s+1, x, x) + s \,\widetilde{\zeta}'(s+1, x, x)\right] , \delta\zeta(0) = -2m^2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \lim_{s \to 0} \left[s \,\widetilde{\zeta}(s+1, x, x)\right] .$$
(1.2.49)

As recalled above, $\tilde{\zeta}(s, x, x)$ has a pole at s = 1 with residue $\frac{1}{4\pi}$. Hence,

$$\widetilde{\zeta}(s,x,x) = \widetilde{\zeta}_{\text{reg}}(s,x,x) + \frac{1}{4\pi(s-1)} , \qquad (1.2.50)$$

which implies

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \left[\widetilde{\zeta}(s+1,x,x) + s \,\widetilde{\zeta}'(s+1,x,x) \right] = \widetilde{\zeta}_{\text{reg}}(1,x,x) \,. \tag{1.2.51}$$

From (1.2.41) one sees that $\tilde{\zeta}_{\text{reg}}(1, x, x) = \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln \mu^2$. Using also (1.2.40) and (1.2.28), as well as $\delta A = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} e^{2\sigma} 2\delta\sigma$, we find

$$\delta\zeta'(0) = \frac{1}{12\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) R(x) - \frac{\delta A}{A} - 2m^2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \frac{1}{4\pi} - \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln \mu^2\right)$$
$$\delta\zeta(0) = -\frac{m^2}{2\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \,. \tag{1.2.52}$$

The result for $\delta\zeta(0)$ can also be directly obtained from (1.2.40), using the fact that

$$\int d^2x \sqrt{g} R(x) = 8\pi (1-h)$$
 (1.2.53)

is a topological invariant. Since $G_{\zeta} = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta} + \frac{1}{m^2 A}$, we arrive at two equivalent expressions for $\delta \zeta'(0) + \delta \zeta(0) \ln \mu^2$:

$$\delta\zeta'(0) + \delta\zeta(0) \ln \mu^2 = \delta\widetilde{\zeta}'(0) + \delta\widetilde{\zeta}(0) \ln \mu^2$$

= $\frac{1}{12\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) R(x) - \frac{\delta A}{A} - 2m^2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \frac{1}{4\pi}\right)$
= $\frac{1}{12\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) R(x) - 2m^2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \left(G_{\zeta}(x) + \frac{1}{4\pi}\right)$.
(1.2.54)

As it stands, this result is exact in m and holds whether $m^2 A$ is small or not. Let us insists that the G_{ζ} and \tilde{G}_{ζ} appearing on the right-hand side are the massive ones. The first writing is the appropriate one to study the small m^2 asymptotic, as \tilde{G}_{ζ} has a smooth limit for $m \to 0$.

The massless case

It is now straightforward to recover the Liouville action as the gravitational action in the massless case. Inserting (1.2.54) in (1.2.43) and using (1.2.28) and (1.2.53), one gets:

$$\delta S_{\rm grav}^{(0)}[g_0,g] = -\frac{1}{24\pi} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \,R(x) = -\frac{1}{24\pi} \delta S_{\rm L}[g_0,\sigma] \,. \tag{1.2.55}$$

Note that the term in $\delta A/A$ in (1.2.54) precisely cancels with the one in (1.2.43). Of course, eq. (1.2.55) is just the contribution of one conformal scalar field with c = 1. However, writing the metric $g = e^{2\sigma}g_0$ amounts to fixing the diffeomorphism invariance. The corresponding Faddeev-Popov determinant that arises gives also a contribution to $S_{\rm grav}$ in terms of the Liouville action but with a coefficient $+\frac{26}{24\pi}$ (see e.g. [11, 97, 98]), so that one gets the overall contribution:

$$S_{\text{grav}}^{(0)}[g_0,g]\Big|_{\text{ghost} + \text{ conf matter}} = \frac{26-c}{24\pi} S_{\text{L}}[g_0,\sigma] . \qquad (1.2.56)$$

The massive case

Combining (1.2.43) and (1.2.54), and using (1.2.55), one gets:

$$\delta S_{\rm grav}[g_0, g] = -\frac{1}{24\pi} \delta S_{\rm L}[g_0, g] + m^2 \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \left(G_{\zeta}(x) + \frac{1}{4\pi}\right) \,. \tag{1.2.57}$$

The task ahead is then to rewrite the second term on the r.h.s as the variation of some local functional.

Let us compute $\delta G_{\zeta}(x)$. In order to do so, we first establish a formula for $\delta G(x, y)$ under a variation $\delta g = 2\delta\sigma g$ of the metric and thus under a corresponding variation $\delta\Delta_g = -2\delta\sigma\Delta_g$ of the Laplace operator. One can then either use the definition (1.2.10) as an infinite sum and the perturbation theory formula (1.2.45) and(1.2.46), or directly the defining differential equation (1.2.10). In any case one finds

$$\delta G(x,y) = -2m^2 \int d^2 z \sqrt{g} \, G(x,z) \, \delta \sigma(z) \, G(z,y) \; . \tag{1.2.58}$$

To obtain the variation of G_{ζ} , according to (1.2.42) one needs to subtract the variation of the short-distance singularity. Now, the geodesic distance $\ell_g(x, y)$ transforms as (see e.g. appendix A1 of [53])

$$\delta \ell_g^2(x,y) = \ell_g^2(x,y) \left[\delta \sigma(x) + \delta \sigma(y) + \mathcal{O}((x-y)^2) \right] . \tag{1.2.59}$$

It follows that

$$\lim_{x \to y} \delta \ln \left[\mu^2 \ell_g^2(x, y) \right] = 2 \, \delta \sigma(x) \ . \tag{1.2.60}$$

Plugging (1.2.58) and (1.2.60) into (1.2.42) one gets

$$\delta G_{\zeta}(x) = -2m^2 \int d^2 z \sqrt{g} \left(G(x,z) \right)^2 \delta \sigma(z) + \frac{\delta \sigma(x)}{2\pi} . \qquad (1.2.61)$$

Upon integrating this over x one encounters

$$\int d^2x \sqrt{g} \left(G(x,z) \right)^2 = \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \sum_{n,k \ge 0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(z)\psi_k(x)\psi_k(z)}{\lambda_n \lambda_k}$$
$$= \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{\psi_n(z)\psi_n(z)}{\lambda_n^2}$$
$$= \zeta(2,z,z) . \tag{1.2.62}$$

(Note that $\zeta(2, z, z) = G_2(z, z)$ is finite.) It follows that

$$\delta \int d^2x \sqrt{g} G_{\zeta}(x) = 2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g} G_{\zeta}(x) \,\delta\sigma(x) - 2 m^2 \int d^2z \sqrt{g} \,\zeta(2,z,z) \,\delta\sigma(z) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta\sigma(x) \;.$$
(1.2.63)

One can then rewrite (1.2.57) as

$$\delta S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = \delta \left[-\frac{1}{24\pi} S_{\text{L}}[g_0, g] + \frac{m^2}{2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \, G_{\zeta}(x) \right] + m^4 \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \zeta(2, x, x) \delta \sigma(x) \,.$$
(1.2.64)

Note that we can replace G_{ζ} by \tilde{G}_{ζ} in the second term. Indeed, their difference is $\frac{m^2}{2} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{m^2 A} = \frac{1}{2}$, whose variation vanishes.

Next, we use (1.2.38) to rewrite the last term as $m^4 \int_0^\infty dt t \int d^2x \sqrt{g} K(t, x, x) \delta\sigma(x)$, and establish a formula for the variation of the integrated heat kernel K(t). Since $\lambda_0 = m^2$ its variation vanishes and we have

$$\delta K(t) = \delta \widetilde{K}(t) = -\sum_{n>0} t \, e^{-\lambda_n t} \delta \lambda_n = 2 \sum_{n>0} t \, e^{-\lambda_n t} (\lambda_n - m^2) \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \psi_n^2(x) \, \delta \sigma(x)$$
$$= -2 t \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} + m^2 \right) \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) \, \delta \sigma(x)$$
$$= -2 t \, e^{-m^2 t} \, \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{K}^{(0)}(t, x, x) \, \delta \sigma(x) , \qquad (1.2.65)$$

where we used (1.2.45) and (1.2.32). It then follows that

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \big(e^{m^2 t} - m^2 t - 1 \big) \delta \widetilde{K}(t) &= \\ & - \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \left(e^{m^2 t} - m^2 t - 1 \right) \big(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} + m^2 \big) \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) \, \delta \sigma(x) \\ &= m^4 \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \, t \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) \, \delta \sigma(x) = m^4 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{\zeta}(2, x, x) \, \delta \sigma(x) \\ &= m^4 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \zeta(2, x, x) \, \delta \sigma(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \delta \sigma(x) \,, \end{split}$$
(1.2.66)

where we integrated by parts and used (1.2.38). The boundary terms do not contribute² since \tilde{K} vanishes at $t = \infty$ as $e^{-\lambda_1 t}$ and $\lambda_1 - m^2 > 0$. Upon inserting this into (1.2.64) we finally get

$$\delta S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = \delta \left[-\frac{1}{24\pi} S_{\text{L}}[g_0, g] + \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \frac{m^2}{2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} \left(e^{m^2 t} - m^2 t - 1 \right) \widetilde{K}(t) \right].$$
(1.2.67)

Note that in the last term the t-integral is convergent both at t = 0 and at $t = \infty$. This

²Had we started with δK rather than $\delta \widetilde{K}$ and written this equation for K and $\zeta(2, x, x)$, the $-\frac{1}{A}\int \sqrt{g}\delta\sigma$ would have appeared as the boundary term.

is immediately integrated as

$$S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = -\frac{1}{24\pi} S_{\text{L}}[g_0, g] + \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \frac{m^2}{2} \int d^2 x \left(\sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x; g) - \sqrt{g_0} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x; g_0)\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} \left(e^{m^2 t} - m^2 t - 1\right) \left(\widetilde{K}(t; g) - \widetilde{K}(t; g_0)\right).$$
(1.2.68)

Thus we have expressed the variation of the gravitational action as the variation of a sum of (local) functionals that are all perfectly well-defined without any need of analytical continuation (contrary to the initial $\zeta'(0)$).

It will be useful to rewrite (1.2.61) to obtain the variation of \widetilde{G}_{ζ} in terms of quantities that all have well-defined limits as $m \to 0$. Recall that $G = \frac{1}{m^2 A} + \widetilde{G}$ and $G_{\zeta} = \frac{1}{m^2 A} + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}$. Thus (1.2.61) can be rewritten as

$$\delta \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = -\frac{4}{A} \int \mathrm{d}^2 z \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{G}(x,z) \, \delta \sigma(z) - 2 \, m^2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 z \sqrt{g} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z) \right)^2 \delta \sigma(z) + \frac{\delta \sigma(x)}{2\pi} \, . \tag{1.2.69}$$

Using (1.2.28), we can replace $\delta\sigma$ in the second term by $-A\Delta\delta\phi/4$. Indeed, the $\delta A/2A$ piece doesn't contribute since \tilde{G} has no zero mode. Using the differential equation (1.2.12) satisfied by \tilde{G} , the second term may then be rewritten as

$$-\frac{4}{A}\int d^2 z \sqrt{g}\,\widetilde{G}(x,z)\,\delta\sigma(z) = \int d^2 z \sqrt{g}\,\delta\phi(z)\,\Delta_z\widetilde{G}(x,z)$$
$$= \delta\phi(x) - \delta S_{\rm AY}[g_0,g] - m^2 \int d^2 z \sqrt{g}\,\widetilde{G}(x,z)\,\delta\phi(z)\,\,,\qquad(1.2.70)$$

with δS_{AY} given in (1.2.29). Thus

$$\delta \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = \frac{\delta \sigma(x)}{2\pi} + \delta \phi(x) - \delta S_{\text{AY}}[g_0, g] - m^2 \int d^2 z \sqrt{g} \left[\widetilde{G}(x, z) \delta \phi(z) + 2 \left(\widetilde{G}(x, z) \right)^2 \delta \sigma(z) \right] .$$
(1.2.71)

In exactly the same way we also get

$$\delta \widetilde{G}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta \phi(x) + \delta \phi(y) \right) - \delta S_{\text{AY}}[g_0,g]$$

$$- m^2 \int d^2 z \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z) + \widetilde{G}(y,z) \right) \delta \phi(z) + 2 \, \widetilde{G}(x,z) \, \delta \sigma(z) \widetilde{G}(z,y) \right] \,.$$

$$(1.2.72)$$

While these are exact relations valid for all m, they are written in a way that makes the small mass expansions obvious.

Small mass expansion

Eq. (1.2.67) is non-perturbative in m. However, it is also written in a way that immediately allows for a perturbative expansion in m, since \widetilde{G}_{ζ} and \widetilde{K} have smooth limits as $m \to 0$. The $m^2 \to 0$ limit of (1.2.67) also exhibits an extra $\frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{A}{A_0}$ term which only gets removed for $m^2 = 0$ due to the difference in the definitions (cf (1.2.20)).

Let us determine the order $m^2 A$ -correction $S_{\text{grav}}^{(1)}$ to $S_{\text{grav}}^{(0)}$. Since $\widetilde{K}(t) = e^{-m^2 t} \widetilde{K}^{(0)}(t)$ and $\lambda_n^{(0)} \sim \frac{1}{A}$ it follows that

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \left(e^{m^2 t} - m^2 t - 1 \right) \widetilde{K}(t) = \mathcal{O}((m^2 A)^2) \ . \tag{1.2.73}$$

Next, it follows from (1.2.12) and (1.2.13), upon subtracting the short-distance singularity and letting $x \to y$, that

$$\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-m^2)^r \widetilde{G}_{r+1}^{(0)}(x,x) , \qquad (1.2.74)$$

so that $\int d^2x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x) + \mathcal{O}(m^2 A)$. Thus, one reads the terms of order $m^2 A$ in the gravitational action from (1.2.68):

$$S_{\rm grav}^{(1)}[g_0,g] = \frac{m^2}{2} \Big(A \Psi_G[g] - A_0 \Psi_G[g_0] \Big) = \frac{m^2 A}{2} \Big(\Psi_G[g] - \Psi_G[g_0] \Big) + (A - A_0) \frac{m^2}{2} \Psi_G[g_0] ,$$
(1.2.75)

where, following [55], we have introduced

$$\Psi_G[g] = \frac{1}{A} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x;g) \,. \tag{1.2.76}$$

The variation of \widetilde{G}_{ζ} was given in (1.2.71) and that of $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}$ immediately follow as

$$\delta \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x) = \frac{\delta \sigma(x)}{2\pi} + \delta \phi(x) - \delta S_{\text{AY}}[g_0, g] , \qquad (1.2.77)$$

so that

$$\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x;g) = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x;g_0) + \frac{\sigma(x)}{2\pi} + \phi(x) - S_{\rm AY}[g_0,g] .$$
(1.2.78)

This relation has been derived before in [55]. Using (1.2.21), it is then straightforward to obtain (as in [55])

$$\Psi_G[g] - \Psi_G[g_0] = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \left[\frac{4}{A} \sigma e^{2\sigma} - 2\pi \phi \Delta_0 \phi - 4\pi \phi \,\Delta_0 \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x;g_0) \right] \,. \tag{1.2.79}$$

For genus h = 0 and choosing g_0 to be the round metric on the sphere, $\tilde{G}_{\zeta}^{(0)}(x;g_0)$ is a constant, and one directly gets the Mabuchi action for h = 0. More generally, for arbitrary genus, it has been shown in [55] that

$$\Psi_G[g] - \Psi_G[g_0] = \frac{1}{8\pi} S_{\rm M}[g_0, g] + h \Big(S_{\rm AY}[g_0, g] - \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_c} \,\phi \Big) \,, \tag{1.2.80}$$

where g_c is the canonical metric on the Riemann surface. Finally, (1.2.75) becomes

$$S_{\text{grav}}^{(1)}[g_0, g] = \frac{m^2 A}{2} \Big[\frac{1}{8\pi} S_{\text{M}}[g_0, g] + h \Big(S_{\text{AY}}[g_0, g] - \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_c} \, \phi \Big) \Big] + (A - A_0) \frac{m^2}{2} \Psi_G[g_0] \,.$$
(1.2.81)

While the last term contributes to the cosmological constant action, the other terms are to be considered as the genuine order m^2A correction to the gravitational action, and it involves the Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions. This motivates the choice made in this thesis to also consider the Mabuchi action in addition to the Liouville action in the quantum gravity partition function.

One can straightforwardly obtain the expansion in powers of m^2 of the terms in (1.2.67) or (1.2.68). Denoting the term of order $(m^2 A)^r$ by $S_{\text{grav}}^{(r)}$, we have

$$S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} S_{\text{grav}}^{(r)}[g_0, g] , \qquad (1.2.82)$$

with

$$S_{\text{grav}}^{(r)}[g_0,g] = \frac{(-)^{r+1}}{2r} m^{2r} \left[\int d^2x \sqrt{g} \, \widetilde{G}_r^{(0)}(x,x;g) - \int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} \, \widetilde{G}_r^{(0)}(x,x;g_0) \right] \quad , \quad r \ge 2 \; .$$
(1.2.83)

While these $S_{\text{grav}}^{(r)}[g_0, g]$ are appropriate local gravitational actions, it would be desirable to express them in terms of more geometric quantities like the conformal factor or the Kähler potential, as was the case for $S_{\text{grav}}^{(0)}[g_0, g]$ and $S_{\text{grav}}^{(1)}[g_0, g]$ with the Liouville, Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau actions. As previously stated, in the following of this thesis, both the Liouville action (for conformal matter) and the Mabuchi action are considered, the later being involved in the first-order mass correction to the gravitational action. A writing of these $S_{\text{grav}}^{(r)}[g_0, g]$ in terms of the conformal factor or the Kähler potential could open a way for a continuation of the present study. To our knowledge however, there does not seem to exist any appropriate functional in the mathematical literature. Nevertheless, since the $\tilde{G}_r^{(0)}$ are entirely determined in terms of the properties of the Riemann surface, they are purely geometric quantities.

1.3 Regularization and computation of the partition function at fixed area

The quantum gravity partition function may be written in terms of the so-called partition function at fixed area Z[A]

$$Z_{\text{grav}} = \int \mathcal{D}g \, e^{-\mu_c^2 A} Z_{\text{mat}}[g] = \int dA \, Z[A] \,, \qquad (1.3.1)$$

with

$$Z[A] = \int \mathcal{D}g \, e^{-\mu_c^2 A} Z_{\text{mat}}[g] \,\delta\left(\int_{\Sigma_h} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} - A\right) = \int \mathcal{D}g \, e^{-S_{\text{grav}}[g_0,g]} \,\delta\left(\int_{\Sigma_h} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} - A\right) \,,$$
(1.3.2)

and Σ_h is a compact Riemann surface of genus h. Some suitable gravitational actions have been discussed in the previous section. In Chapter 2, we will only consider the

Liouville action while in Chapter 3 and in the remaining part of this chapter both the Liouville and the Mabuchi actions will be considered. As previously stated (see section 1.2.5), fixing the conformal gauge amounts to replacing $\mathcal{D}g$ by $\mathcal{D}\sigma Z_{\text{ghost}}[g]$ and results in a term $+\frac{26}{24\pi}S_{\text{L}}[g]$ in the gravitational action. Thus, following [54] we write

$$Z[A] = \int \mathcal{D}\sigma \, e^{-\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi\varepsilon}S_{\mathrm{L}}[g_0,g] - \frac{\beta^2}{\varepsilon}S_{\mathrm{M}}[g_0,g] - \mu_c^2 A} \,\delta\left(\int_{\Sigma_h} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} - A\right) \,, \tag{1.3.3}$$

where ε is a loop counting parameter (to be set to 1 in the end) and $\kappa^2 = \frac{26-c}{3}$ plays the role of the coupling constant of the Liouville theory of central charge c and includes the ghost contribution.

Note that, as discussed in [54], a further subtlety arises in the case of the sphere, h = 0, because the gauge-fixing (1.2.21) then is incomplete. An additional gauge fixing of the residual $SL(2, \mathbb{C})/SU(2)$ group of diffeomorphisms acting non-trivially on the conformal factor σ and Kähler potential ϕ must be performed. The result is to project out the spin-one modes of ϕ in its decomposition in terms of the spherical harmonics Y_l^m , which produces an overall factor of $A^{3/2}$ in the partition function coming from the Faddeev-Popov determinant. It is implicitly assumed in the rest of this thesis that h > 0, in order not to explicitly deal with this complication.

1.3.1 The measure on the space of metrics

We consider the quantum gravity integration measure $\mathcal{D}g$. This measure can be derived from a choice of metric on the space of metrics. It is generally assumed that this metric should be ultralocal and, hence, of the form $||\delta g||^2 = \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\delta g_{ab} \delta g_{cd} \left(g^{ac}g^{bd} + a g^{ab}g^{cd}\right)$ for some constant a > -1/2 (see e.g. [11, 54, 99]). The authors of [54] argue that ultralocality may not be the most important condition for a theory of quantum gravity, and that background independence is a more fundamental requirement. (Then, other metrics satisfying the constraint of background independence could be used in the path integral, such as the Donaldson-Semmes-Mabuchi metric [79, 85, 100].) Nevertheless, we use the above with $g = e^{2\sigma}g_0$ to get

$$||\delta g||^2 = 8 (1+2a) ||\delta \sigma||^2 \quad , \quad ||\delta \sigma||^2 = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \ e^{2\sigma} (\delta \sigma)^2 \ . \tag{1.3.4}$$

The integration measure $\mathcal{D}\sigma$ over σ is determined from this metric [23]. It is *not* the measure of a free field, because of the non-trivial factor $e^{2\sigma}$. Instead of σ , we will use equivalently the variables (A, ϕ) , using the relation (1.2.21). Following [54], we have

$$||\delta\sigma||^{2} = \frac{(\delta A)^{2}}{4A} + ||\delta\sigma||_{A}^{2} , \qquad (1.3.5)$$

where $||\delta\sigma||_A^2$ is the metric on the space of metrics for fixed area A

$$||\delta\sigma||_A^2 = \frac{1}{16} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(A\Delta\delta\phi\right)^2. \tag{1.3.6}$$

1.3. REGULARIZATION OF THE PARTITION FUNCTION

Using eq. (1.2.21) and (1.2.23), this term can be rewritten as

$$||\delta\sigma||_{A}^{2} = \frac{1}{16} \int d^{2}x \sqrt{g_{0}} e^{2\sigma} \left(e^{-2\sigma} A \Delta_{0} \delta\phi \right)^{2} = \frac{1}{16} \int d^{2}x \sqrt{g_{*}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} A \Delta_{*} \phi \right)^{-1} \left(A \Delta_{*} \delta\phi \right)^{2} ,$$
(1.3.7)

in terms of the rescaled (constant curvature) metric g_* of area A. Formally, (1.3.5) and (1.3.7) thus induce the non-trivial measure [54]

$$\mathcal{D}\sigma = \frac{\mathrm{d}A}{\sqrt{A}} \mathcal{D}\phi = \frac{\mathrm{d}A}{\sqrt{A}} \left[\mathrm{Det}' \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} A \Delta_* \phi \right)^{-1} \right]^{1/2} \mathrm{Det}'(A \Delta_*) \mathcal{D}_* \phi , \qquad (1.3.8)$$

where $\mathcal{D}_*\phi$ is the standard free field integration measure in the background metric g_* deduced from the metric $||\delta\phi||_*^2 = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \,\delta\phi^2$. As previously stated, the notation Det' means that we are not taking into account the zero mode when computing the determinant. Indeed, from (1.2.21), the zero mode of ϕ is unphysical and must not be included in the integration measure over the Kähler potentials. The measure $\mathcal{D}_*\phi$ can be expressed in the traditional way by expanding ϕ in eigenmodes of the Laplace operator Δ_* . Following the notation of section 1.2.1, we have

$$\phi = \sum_{n>0} a_n \psi_n \,, \quad \Delta_* \psi_n = \lambda_n^{(0)} \psi_n \,, \quad \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\psi_n \psi_m = \delta_{nm} \,, \tag{1.3.9}$$

and thus

$$\mathcal{D}_*\phi = \prod_{n>0} \frac{\mu \,\mathrm{d}a_n}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \ . \tag{1.3.10}$$

One could instead define an expansion of ϕ with respect to eigenfunctions normalized with the metric g_0 of area A_0 . Then, the integration measure $\mathcal{D}_0\phi$ in the background metric g_0 is related to $\mathcal{D}_*\phi$ by $\mathcal{D}_*\phi = e^{\frac{1}{2}\sum_n \ln \frac{A}{A_0}} \mathcal{D}_0\phi$ [55]. All these relations are formal and must be regularized.

Our starting point for the computation of the quantum gravity partition function at fixed area then is (cf (1.3.3))

$$Z[A] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{A}} \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi\varepsilon}S_{\rm L}[g_0,g] - \frac{\beta^2}{\varepsilon}S_{\rm M}[g_0,g] - \mu_c^2 A\right)$$
(1.3.11)
$$\equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{A}} \int \mathcal{D}_*\phi \, e^{-\mu_c^2 A} \exp\left(-S_{\rm measure}[g_0,g] - \frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi\varepsilon}S_{\rm L}[g_0,g] - \frac{\beta^2}{\varepsilon}S_{\rm M}[g_0,g]\right) .$$

The measure action in thus defined as

$$S_{\text{measure}}[g_0, g] = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \left[\text{Det}' \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} A \Delta_* \phi \right)^{-1} \right] - \ln \text{Det}'(A \Delta_*).$$
(1.3.12)

This expression is a formal writing and needs to be regularized.
1.3.2 One-loop expansion of the partition function at fixed area

The semi-classical partition function at fixed area is dominated by the minimum of the gravitational action at fixed area. As previously stated in section 1.2.3 (see (1.2.29)), the classical saddle-points at fixed area of both the Liouville (1.1.4) and the Mabuchi (1.2.26) actions are the constant curvature metrics of arbitrary area A. In terms of the background metric g_0 of constant curvature and of area A_0 , the saddle-point value of σ is $\sigma_{\rm cl} = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{A}{A_0}$. Expanding around this saddle-point up to quadratic order then leads to

$$S_{\rm L}[g_0,g] = 4\pi(1-h)\ln\frac{A}{A_0} + \frac{1}{16}\int d^2x\sqrt{g_*}\,\phi\,(A\Delta_*)^2 \Big[\Delta_* + \frac{8\pi(h-1)}{A}\Big]\phi + O(\phi^3)$$

$$S_{\rm M}[g_0,g] = 2\ln\frac{A}{A_0} + \frac{1}{4}\int d^2x\sqrt{g_*}\,\phi\,A\Delta_*\Big[\Delta_* + \frac{8\pi(h-1)}{A}\Big]\phi + O(\phi^3)\,. \tag{1.3.13}$$

with respect to the Kähler potential ϕ . The terms $O(\phi^3)$ are relevant beyond the oneloop approximation and will be considered in Chapter 2 and 3. Let us insist that, in this expression, the zero mode is excluded. Indeed, as stressed in the previous subsection, the zero mode of ϕ is unphysical for all h.

As highlighted in [54], the full dependence of the these actions in the area A comes from the tree-level term in (1.3.13). Indeed, using (1.2.23), all the apparent A-dependence in the second term can be absorbed, and this remains true to all orders in the expansion. The authors of [54] conclude that the non-trivial area dependence of the quantum gravity partition function is actually due to the requirement of a proper regularization procedure for the measure in the functional integral.

The loop counting parameter ε introduced in (1.3.3) allows us to write a loopexpansion of the form

$$\ln Z[A] \equiv W[A] = \sum_{L \ge 0} W^{(L)}[A]$$
(1.3.14)

where $W^{(L)}[A]$ is the sum of connected vacuum diagrams of order ε^{L-1} . The tree-level contribution $W^{(0)}$ can be directly read from the tree-level terms in (1.3.13)

$$W^{(0)}[A] = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{h-1}{2}\kappa^2 - 2\beta^2\right) \ln \frac{A}{A_0} . \qquad (1.3.15)$$

This yields a tree-level string susceptibility

$$\gamma_{\rm str} = \frac{h-1}{2} \frac{\kappa^2}{\varepsilon} - 2\frac{\beta^2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(1) . \qquad (1.3.16)$$

Note that when considering only the Liouville action, the loop counting parameter can be taken to be directly κ^2 so that

$$\gamma_{\rm str}^{\rm L} = \frac{h-1}{2}\kappa^2 + \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{1.3.17}$$

which is precisely the KPZ value. Indeed, if one does a loop-expansion of the KPZ result (1.1.2) for the string susceptibility up to one loop, one gets

$$\gamma_{\rm str} = \frac{h-1}{2}\kappa^2 + \frac{19-7h}{6} + O(\kappa^{-2}). \qquad (1.3.18)$$

1.3. REGULARIZATION OF THE PARTITION FUNCTION

Hence, eq. (1.3.16) is a generalization in agreement with (1.3.18).

The one-loop computation was made in [54], starting from (1.3.11). The complicated determinant factor $\left[\operatorname{Det}'(1-\frac{1}{2}A\Delta_*\phi)^{-1}\right]^{1/2}$ in the measure action (1.3.12) is irrelevant at one loop. Its contributions will be carefully studied in the following chapters of this thesis.

From eq. (1.3.13) and (1.3.12) one has [54],

$$W^{(1)}[A] = -\frac{1}{2}\ln A + \ln \text{Det}'(A\Delta_*) -\frac{1}{2}\ln \text{Det}' \left[A\Delta_* \left(\Delta_* + \frac{8\pi(h-1)}{A} \right) \left(\frac{\kappa^2}{32\pi} A\Delta_* + \beta^2 \right) \right]. \quad (1.3.19)$$

This expression is formal and must be regularized. In section 1.2 the determinants were regularized using the standard ζ -function scheme. However, as discussed in [54], this method is not adapted when dealing with a product of determinants. This is the socalled multiplicative anomaly [101–106]: the ζ -renormalized determinant of a product of operators does not always equal the product of the ζ -renormalized determinants of the operators. As reminded in [54], the multiplicative anomaly is usually irrelevant since the determinants are defined modulo the addition of arbitrary local counterterms [107–111]. However, in the present computation, this anomaly has to be taken into account when performing the change of variables (1.2.21) from the conformal factor σ to the area Aand Kähler potential ϕ if one uses the ζ -function regularization scheme. Otherwise one gets a wrong area dependence of the partition function. This is explained and derived in [54].

1.3.3 Spectral cutoff regularization

The general spectral cutoff approach is a powerful regularization scheme developed in [53]. This is the regularization scheme used throughout this thesis. At one loop it generalizes the zeta function regularization scheme without stumbling into the multiplicative anomaly problem [54]. It also allows a physical discussion of the divergences. At higher loops it amounts to regulating the propagators in a specific way. In particular, it will allow us in the following to regularize the two- and three-loop Feynman diagrams in our semi-classical expansion of the partition function.

A basic feature of the spectral cutoff is to replace any sum over the eigenvalues λ_n^D of the relevant differential operator D_g by a regularized sum as

$$\sum_{n} F(\lambda_{n}^{D}) \to \left[\sum_{n} F(\lambda_{n}^{D})\right]_{\varphi,\Lambda} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \sum_{n} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^{2}}\lambda_{n}^{D}} F(\lambda_{n}^{D}) \,. \tag{1.3.20}$$

The regulator function φ is relatively arbitrary, except for a normalization condition which ensures that for $\Lambda \to \infty$ one recovers the unregulated sum, and regularity properties as $\alpha \to 0$ or $\alpha \to \infty$ [53]:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) = 1$$

$$\varphi(\alpha) \underset{\alpha \to 0}{=} \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{n}) \quad \text{for any} \quad n \ge 0 , \qquad (1.3.21)$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\alpha \,\alpha^{n} \varphi(\alpha) < \infty \quad \text{for any} \quad n \ge 0 .$$

A is the cutoff scale (which is eventually sent to infinity). An important physical requirement is that, in the end, all φ -dependence should be only in terms that can be changed by the addition of (local) counterterms, while any physical part should be regulator independent³. This has been checked on several examples in [53].

Then, in particular, the regularized $propagator^4$ is

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y) \to \left[\widetilde{G}(x,y)\right]_{\varphi,\Lambda} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \sum_{n>0} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^2}\lambda_n^D} \,\frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n^D} \,. \tag{1.3.22}$$

The right-hand-side is related to the "hatted heat kernel" on the manifold. Recalling the expression of the heat kernel (1.2.30), this quantity is defined in [53] as

$$\widetilde{K}(t,x,y) = \sum_{n>0} e^{-\lambda_n^D t} \psi_n(x)\psi_n(y) ,$$

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = \int_t^\infty dt' \widetilde{K}(t',x,y) = \sum_{n>0} e^{-\lambda_n^D t} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n^D} .$$
(1.3.23)

The integration is convergent at $+\infty$ since⁵ $\lambda_n^D > 0$ for all n > 0.

Of course, $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$ and $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ are symmetric under exchange of x and y and one has the following relations

$$-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = D_x\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = D_y\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = \widetilde{K}(t,x,y) , \qquad (1.3.24)$$

as well as

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(0, x, y) = \widetilde{G}(x, y) ,
\widetilde{K}(0, x, y) = \frac{\delta(x - y)}{[g_*(x)g_*(y)]^{1/4}} - \frac{1}{A} .$$
(1.3.25)

³For the partition function (1.3.2) or (1.3.11), this means that all the residual φ -dependence can be absorbed in the cosmological constant μ_c^2 , possibly up to an area-independent global normalization constant.

⁴As previously stated, the zero mode of ϕ is unphysical and has to be excluded. Thus we will only consider quantities with the zero mode excluded. This is indicated by a tilde such as in $\widetilde{G}(x, y)$.

⁵Indeed, in this thesis, the operator D_g will be either $A\Delta_*(\Delta_* - R_*)\left(\frac{\kappa^2}{32\pi}A\Delta_* + \beta^2\right)$ or of the form $\Delta_* - R_* + m^2$. In any case, if the zero mode of the Laplacian is excluded then $\lambda_n^D > 0$ for n > 0.

As it is clear from the definitions (1.3.23), for t > 0, $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$ and $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ are given by converging sums and are finite, even as $x \to y$. For $t \to 0$, one recovers various divergences. In particular, for an operator $D_g = \Delta_* - R_* + m^2$, $\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ then yields the logarithmic short distance singularity of $\widetilde{G}(x, y)$. Also, since $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$ and $\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ do not include the zero-mode, their integrals over x or over y vanish (as is also the case for $\widetilde{G}(x, y)$, of course):

$$\int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\widetilde{K}(t,x,y) = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = 0 \,. \tag{1.3.26}$$

Also, from the definition (1.3.23) of $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$ and $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$ and the orthonormality of the eigenfunctions ψ_n , it is straightforward to get⁶

$$\int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \widetilde{K}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v) = \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1 + t_2, u, v) ,$$

$$\int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \widetilde{K}(t_1, u, x) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, v) = \widetilde{K}(t_1 + t_2, u, v) ,$$

$$\int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \frac{d}{dt_1} \widetilde{K}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v) = -\widetilde{K}(t_1 + t_2, u, v) . \qquad (1.3.27)$$

These formula will be useful in the following chapters. The regularized Green's function (1.3.22) is now seen to be given by

$$\left[\widetilde{G}(x,y)\right]_{\varphi,\Lambda} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(\frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^2},x,y) \,\,. \tag{1.3.28}$$

If a given Feynman diagram (integral) I_n contains n propagators, we can now define its regularized version as

$$I_n^{\text{reg}} \equiv \left[I_n\right]_{\varphi,\Lambda} = \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\alpha_i \,\varphi(\alpha_i)\right) \ I_n(t_1 = \frac{\alpha_1}{\Lambda^2}, \dots, t_n = \frac{\alpha_n}{\Lambda^2}) \ , \tag{1.3.29}$$

where $I_n(t_1, \ldots, t_n)$ is the Feynman diagram (integral) with all propagators $\widetilde{G}(x_i, y_i)$ replaced by $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_i, x_i, y_i)$. It is obvious from (1.3.29) that the only part of $I_n(t_i)$ that contributes is the part that is completely symmetric in all t_i . To simplify the notation, we will not write the $\int_0^\infty d\alpha_1 \varphi(\alpha_1) \ldots \int_0^\infty d\alpha_n \varphi(\alpha_n)$ in our later computations in Chapter 2 and 3.

In our two- and three-loop computations in Chapter 2 and 3, the strategy is then to compute the relevant $I_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n)$ and extract the small t_i asymptotic. Since we always let

$$t_i = \frac{\alpha_i}{\Lambda^2} \tag{1.3.30}$$

the small t_i and large Λ asymptotics are, of course, equivalent. To do this, we will once more use the well-known small t asymptotic of the heat kernel K(t, x, y), resp $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$

 $^{^{6}}$ The last two lines may also be deduced from the first relation using (1.3.24).

(cf section 1.2.4). Unfortunately, this does not allow us to get the small t asymptotic of $\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ since by (1.3.23) the latter involves $\widetilde{K}(t', x, y)$ for all $t' \ge t$ which are not all small. However, using (1.3.23) and (1.3.25) we can write

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = \widetilde{G}(x,y) - \int_0^t \mathrm{d}t' \, \widetilde{K}(t',x,y) \,. \tag{1.3.31}$$

In the second term $t' \leq t$ is small for small t and we get a useful formula if we can also say something about the un-regularized Green's function $\tilde{G}(x, y)$. This is the case if xis close to y, where a short distance asymptotic involving $\tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$ (defined in (1.2.37) and (1.2.38) in section 1.2.4) is available.

In view of our later two- and three-loop computations in Chapter 2 and 3 we will now give some more specific formulae in the small t asymptotic for the operators $D_* = \Delta_* - R_*$ and $D_*^{\rm M} = \Delta_* + \frac{32\pi}{A} \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} \equiv \Delta_* + T$. Indeed, Chapter 2 is dedicated to the study of the Liouville theory coupled to the regularized quantum gravity measure and thus β will be taken to be zero. In Chapter 3, the Mabuchi action will be added but the study will be restricted to the case of the torus, so that in both cases we will be able to work with the field⁷

$$\widehat{\phi} = \frac{1}{2} A \Delta_* \phi \ . \tag{1.3.32}$$

Since the zero-mode of ϕ was excluded anyway, the relation between ϕ and $\hat{\phi}$ is one-to-one. Then,

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y)\big|_{\mathcal{L}} = \langle x|(\Delta_* - R_*)^{-1}|y\rangle',$$

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y)\big|_{\mathcal{L}+\mathcal{M}}^{h=1} = \langle x|(\Delta_* + \mathcal{T})^{-1}|y\rangle'.$$
(1.3.33)

Small t and short-distance expansions

We consider the general operator $D = \Delta_* + \xi R_* + m^2$. For the Liouville theory, $\xi = -1$, m = 0 and $\lambda_0 = -R_*$, while for the Liouville and Mabuchi theory on the torus $R_* = 0$, $m^2 = T = \frac{32\pi}{A} \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2}$ and $\lambda_0 = T$. Recalling the small t expansion of the heat kernel K(t, x, y), we have the following small t expansion of $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$:

$$\widetilde{K}(t,x,y) = \frac{1}{4\pi t} e^{-\ell^2/4t} \Big[a_0(x,y) + a_1(x,y) t + a_2(x,y) t^2 + \dots \Big] - \frac{e^{-\lambda_0 t}}{A}$$
(1.3.34)

where $\ell^2 \equiv \ell_A^2(x, y)$ is once again the geodesic distance squared between x and y. As previously stated in section 1.2.4, for small t, the exponential forces ℓ^2 to be small and we can use normal coordinates around y. Then

$$\ell^2 = (x - y)^2 \equiv z^2 \tag{1.3.35}$$

⁷Using ϕ instead of $\hat{\phi}$ as the basic integration variable generates a Jacobian determinant that cancels a similar determinant at one loop coming from the Liouville action [54]. This cancellation could be incomplete if the multiplicative anomaly is present. The correct cancellation thus depends on the regularization scheme. As was discussed in detail in [54], when using the spectral regularization no multiplicative anomaly occurs and there is no subtlety associated with the change of integration variables from ϕ to $\hat{\phi}$.

1.3. REGULARIZATION OF THE PARTITION FUNCTION

in normal coordinates. From eq. (1.2.34), one reads

$$a_{0}(x,y) = a_{0}^{(0)}(x,y) ,$$

$$a_{1}(x,y) = a_{1}^{(0)}(x,y) - m^{2}a_{0}^{(0)}(x,y) ,$$

$$a_{2}(x,y) = a_{2}^{(0)}(x,y) - m^{2}a_{1}^{(0)}(x,y) + \frac{m^{4}}{2}a_{0}^{(0)}(x,y) ,$$

(1.3.36)

where, following the notation of section 1.2, the $a_i^{(0)}(x, y)$ are associated with the "massless" operator $D^{(0)} = \Delta_* + \xi R_*$, and (see e.g. the appendix of [53])

$$a_0^{(0)}(x,y) = 1 + \frac{R_*}{24}z^2 + \frac{R_*^2}{640}(z^2)^2 + \dots ,$$

$$a_1^{(0)}(x,y) = \frac{1-6\xi}{6}R_* + \frac{R_*^2}{6}\left(\frac{1}{20} - \frac{\xi}{4}\right)R_*^2z^2 + \dots ,$$

$$a_2^{(0)}(x,y) = \frac{R_*^2}{60}\left(1 - 30\xi + 90\xi^2\right) + \dots .$$

(1.3.37)

and

$$\sqrt{g_*} = \frac{1}{(a_0(x,y))^2} = 1 - \frac{R_*}{12}z^2 + \frac{R_*^2}{480}(z^2)^2 + \dots$$
 (1.3.38)

The specific values of the $a_i(x, y)$ for the Liouville theory and for the Liouville and Mabuchi theory on the torus can be immediately deduced from these formulae.

In particular, the heat kernel at coinciding points $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x)$ is independent of the point x since R_* is constant at fixed area. Then, for any function f that does not include the zero-mode, this implies that $\int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) f(x) = 0$. In particular,

$$\int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \widetilde{K}(t,x,x) \,\widetilde{\phi}(x) = 0 \,. \tag{1.3.39}$$

To get the small t expansion of $\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ we use (1.3.31). This yields [53]

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = \widetilde{G}(x,y) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{k \ge 0} a_k(x,y) t^k E_{k+1} \left(\frac{\ell^2}{4t}\right) + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}t' \, \frac{e^{-\lambda_0 t'}}{A} \,, \tag{1.3.40}$$

where the exponential integral functions E_n are defined as

$$E_n(w) = \int_1^\infty \mathrm{d}u \, u^{-n} e^{-uw} \,, \qquad (1.3.41)$$

with asymptotic behaviours for small a: $E_1(a) = -\gamma - \ln a + a + \mathcal{O}(a^2)$ and $E_2(a) = 1 + (\ln a + \gamma - 1)a + \mathcal{O}(a^2)$ (see e.g. [112, 113]).

We will be mostly interested in the case when x is close to y where one can use the small distance expansion of the Green's function⁸ $\tilde{G}(x, y)$ (see e.g. [53, 56]). Thus, in

⁸To obtain this expansion, the idea is to first fix the leading singularity so that for x close to y, $\Delta_*^x \widetilde{G}(x,y) \sim \delta(x-y)$ (in normal coordinates around y, $\sqrt{g_*(y)} = 1$). Then, one has to adjust the subleading terms so that $(\Delta_*^x - R_*)\widetilde{G}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{A}$ for $x \neq y$, and finally, one fixes the "integration constants" in terms of $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y)$.

normal coordinate and for small t, one gets the following expression for the "hatted heat kernel" (1.3.40):

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Biggl\{ a_0(z) \left(4\pi \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) - \ln \frac{\mu^2 z^2}{4} - 2\gamma - E_1\left(\frac{z^2}{4t}\right) \right) - a_1(z) \Biggl[\frac{z^2}{4} \left(4\pi \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) - \ln \frac{\mu^2 z^2}{4} - 2\gamma + 2 \right) + t \, E_2\left(\frac{z^2}{4t}\right) \Biggr] + \frac{1}{A} \left(t + \frac{z^2}{4} \right) \Biggr\} + \mathcal{O}(t^2, tz^2, z^3) \, . \quad (1.3.42)$$

As long as t > 0, this has a smooth limit as $x \to y$ given by

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,y,y) = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\ln \mu^2 t + \gamma + t \left(a_1(y,y) - \frac{4\pi}{A} \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(t^2) .$$
(1.3.43)

Note that the only term in $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,y,y)$ that depends on the position y is $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y)$. Thus,

$$\int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,x) f(x) = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) f(x) ,$$

$$\int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \,\widetilde{K}(t,x,x) f(x) = 0 , \qquad (1.3.44)$$

for any function f that does not include the zero-mode.

For later use, let us quote some explicit formulae for the pure Liouville theory on a Rieman surface of genus $h \ge 1$, studied in Chapter 2:

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,y) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\left(1 - \frac{z^2}{4} R_* \right) \left(4\pi \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) - \ln \frac{\mu^2 z^2}{4} - 2\gamma \right) - \frac{7}{12} R_* z^2 - \left(1 + \frac{R_*}{24} z^2 \right) E_1 \left(\frac{z^2}{4t} \right) - \frac{7}{6} R_* t \, E_2 \left(\frac{z^2}{4t} \right) + \frac{1}{A} \left(t + \frac{z^2}{4} \right) + \dots \right],$$

$$\widetilde{K}(t,x,y) = \frac{e^{-z^2/4t}}{4\pi t} \left[1 + \frac{1}{6} R_* t \left(\frac{z^2}{4t} + 7 \right) + \dots \right] - \frac{e^{R_* t}}{A}, \qquad (1.3.45)$$

as well as

$$-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\widetilde{K}(t,x,y) = \frac{e^{-z^2/4t}}{4\pi t^2} \left[\left(1 - \frac{z^2}{4t}\right) \left(1 + \frac{R_*}{24}z^2\right) - \frac{7}{6}R_*\frac{z^2}{4} + \dots \right] + \frac{R_*}{A}e^{R_*t} \quad (1.3.46)$$

and

$$\widetilde{K}(t,x,x) = \frac{1}{4\pi t} \left[1 + \left(\frac{7}{6}R_* - \frac{4\pi}{A}\right)t + \left(\frac{41}{60}R_* - \frac{4\pi}{A}\right)R_*t^2 \right] + \mathcal{O}(t^2) , \\
\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,x) = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\ln\mu^2 t + \gamma + \left(\frac{7}{6}R_* - \frac{4\pi}{A}\right)t \right] + \mathcal{O}(t^2) .$$
(1.3.47)

1.3.4 One-loop result for the partition function at fixed area

Let us recall the derivation of $W^{(1)}[A]$ (1.3.19) made in [54] in this framework. The determinant (1.3.19) is of the general form

$$\ln \operatorname{Det}(F_1(\Delta) \cdots F_p(\Delta)), \qquad (1.3.48)$$

where the operators $F_i(\Delta)$ can be expressed in terms of the Laplacian. In the prescription (1.3.20), the regularized version of (1.3.48) is the sum of the regularized versions of the individual logarithm of determinants:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \sum_{r} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^{2}}\lambda_{r}} \ln \operatorname{Det}\left(F_{1}(\lambda_{r})\cdots F_{p}(\lambda_{r})\right)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \sum_{i=1}^{p} \sum_{r} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^{2}}\lambda_{r}} \ln \operatorname{Det}F_{i}(\lambda_{r}) \,. \quad (1.3.49)$$

and one has no multiplicative anomaly in this case. This simple result is true because it is the same cutoff function $\varphi(\alpha)e^{-\frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^2}\lambda_r}$ that is used to regularize all the determinants. Here, λ_r denotes the eigenvalues of the Laplacian.

Now, the only sums required to compute in order to access $W^{(1)}[A]$ are

$$S_0 = \sum_{r>0} e^{-t\lambda_r} ,$$

$$S_1\left(\frac{a}{A}\right) = \sum_{r>0} e^{-t\lambda_r} \ln(\lambda_r + \frac{a}{A}) , \qquad (1.3.50)$$

so that

$$\left[\ln \operatorname{Det}'\left(z\left(\Delta + \frac{a}{A}\right)\right)\right]_{\varphi,\Lambda} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \left[\mathcal{S}_0 \ln z + \mathcal{S}_1\left(\frac{a}{A}\right)\right] \tag{1.3.51}$$

Following the techniques used in [53], these sums are evaluated in [54] such that

$$S_1\left(\frac{a}{A}\right) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\frac{A}{t} + a\right) \left(\gamma + \ln t\right) - \zeta'\left(0, \frac{a}{A}\right) + O(t), \qquad (1.3.52)$$

and

$$S_0 = \frac{A}{4\pi t} - \frac{h+2}{3} + O(t), \qquad (1.3.53)$$

where

$$\zeta(s, a/A) = \sum_{r>0} \frac{1}{(\lambda_r + \frac{a}{A})^s}.$$
(1.3.54)

To access the area dependence of these expressions when the determinants are evaluated on the saddle point metric g_* of area A, one uses (1.2.23) and the definition (1.3.54) to

get the scaling relations [53, 54]

$$\zeta_*(s, \frac{a}{A}) = \left(\frac{A}{A_0}\right)^s \zeta_0(s, \frac{a}{A_0}), \zeta_*'(0, \frac{a}{A}) = -\left(\frac{h+2}{3} + \frac{a}{4\pi}\right) \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \zeta_0'(0, \frac{a}{A_0}),$$
(1.3.55)

so that eq. (1.3.51) can be rewritten as,

$$\left[\ln \operatorname{Det}'\left(z\left(\Delta + \frac{a}{A}\right)\right)\right]_{\varphi,\Lambda} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \left[\frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\frac{A\Lambda^2}{\alpha} + a\right) \left(\ln \frac{z\Lambda^2}{\alpha} - \gamma\right) + \left(\frac{h+2}{3} + \frac{a}{4\pi}\right) \left(\ln \frac{A}{A_0} - \ln z\right) - \zeta_0'\left(0, \frac{a}{A_0}\right) + O(\Lambda^{-2})\right]. \quad (1.3.56)$$

Using (1.3.56), one immediately obtains the expression of the regularized one-loop quantum gravity partition function (1.3.19)

$$\begin{bmatrix} W^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}_{\varphi,\Lambda} = \int_0^\infty d\alpha \,\varphi(\alpha) \left[\frac{A\Lambda^2}{8\pi\alpha} \left(\gamma - \ln\Lambda^2 - \ln\frac{\kappa^2}{32\pi\alpha} \right) - \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{7h - 4}{6} + 4\frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} \right) \ln\frac{A}{A_0} + C[A_0, \kappa^2, \beta^2, \alpha] \right], \quad (1.3.57)$$

where C is an A-independent irrelevant coefficient. The first term in (1.3.57), which is divergent and cutoff dependent, is proportional to A and can thus be absorbed into the cosmological constant. The one-loop string susceptibility is read from the coefficient of the ln A term [54]:

$$\gamma_{\rm str}^{\rm one-loop} = \frac{19 - 7h}{6} - 4\frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2}$$
 (1.3.58)

As required, it is finite and cutoff independent. This expression⁹ generalizes the KPZ result (1.3.18). This was to be expected since the non-trivial nature of the quantum gravity integration measure only shows up at two and higher loops.

1.4 Background independence

Background independence is the statement that physical quantities should not depend on the choice of the background metric g_0 or $g_* = \frac{A}{A_0}g_0$. Necessary conditions for this background independence are various co-cycle identities. As an example, consider three different metrics, g_1 , g_2 and g_3 related by conformal factors as

$$g_2 = e^{2\sigma_{21}}g_1 , \quad g_3 = e^{2\sigma_{32}}g_2 , \quad g_3 = e^{2\sigma_{31}}g_1 .$$
 (1.4.1)

⁹Although the reasoning presented here has been restricted to surfaces of genus $h \ge 1$, it is shown in [54] that this expression is also valid in the case of the sphere.

One may consider g_3 as the quantum metric and g_2 as the background metric. If one then expresses g_2 in terms of g_1 and uses g_1 as the new background metric, all references to g_2 must disappear. This is only possible if the conformal factors are related by the obvious co-cycle identity

$$\sigma_{32} + \sigma_{21} = \sigma_{31} \ . \tag{1.4.2}$$

In the Kähler formalism, this identity leads to a corresponding identity for the Kähler potentials. Indeed,

$$g_b = e^{2\sigma_{ba}}g_a \equiv \frac{A_b}{A_a} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}A_a\Delta_a\phi_{ba}\right)g_a \tag{1.4.3}$$

implies the relation

$$\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}A_2\Delta_2\phi_{32}\right)\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}A_1\Delta_1\phi_{21}\right) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}A_1\Delta_1\phi_{31}\right) .$$
(1.4.4)

Recalling that $\Delta_b = e^{-2\sigma_{ba}}\Delta_a$ then leads to the co-cycle identity for the Kähler potentials

$$\phi_{32} + \phi_{21} = \phi_{31} , \qquad (1.4.5)$$

up to an irrelevant constant. From (1.4.4), one has the following identity in terms of $\hat{\phi}_{ba} = \frac{1}{2} A_a \Delta_a \phi_{ba}$:

$$(1 - \hat{\phi}_{32})(1 - \hat{\phi}_{21}) = (1 - \hat{\phi}_{31}) . \tag{1.4.6}$$

As emphasized in section 1.2, the gravitational action satisfies the similar co-cycle identity (1.2.2). Let us consider for the present discussion the following gravitational action:

$$S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = \frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi} S_{\text{L}}[g_0, g] + S_{\text{measure}}[g_0, g] + S_{\text{ct}}[g_0, g] \quad . \tag{1.4.7}$$

The counterterm action $S_{\rm ct}$ will be shown to be required in Chapter 2 section 2.1.2.

The gravitational action (1.4.7) must satisfy the co-cycle identity (1.2.2). As previously stated in section 1.2, this is true for the Liouville action. Anticipating the rewriting of integration measure $\mathcal{D}\hat{\phi} \exp(-S_{\text{measure}})$ in terms of $\hat{\phi}$ in the next chapter (see section 2.1.1), we have

$$\mathcal{D}\widehat{\phi} = \prod_{n>0} \mu \,\mathrm{d}b_n \;. \tag{1.4.8}$$

with

$$\widehat{\phi} = \sum_{n>0} b_n \psi_n \,, \quad \Delta \psi_n = \lambda_n^{(0)} \psi_n \,, \quad \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \,\psi_n \psi_m = \delta_{nm} \,, \tag{1.4.9}$$

and

$$S_{\text{measure}}[g_1, \widehat{\phi}] = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \text{Det}'(1 - \widehat{\phi})^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}' \ln(1 - \widehat{\phi}) . \qquad (1.4.10)$$

Eq. (1.4.6) immediately implies that S_{measure} also satisfies the required co-cycle identity, at least naively. Of course, to show that this naive statement is really true, we need to understand how $\text{Tr}' \sim \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \sum_r \psi_r \psi_r$ behaves.

To follow the background independence in our computations, we will now study the variations of different quantities under an infinitesimal change of the background metric. To be precise, we begin by expressing our quantum metric g_3 in terms of the background metric $g_* \equiv g_1$. Then we let

$$g_2 = e^{2\omega}g_1 \quad , \quad g_1 \equiv g_* \; , \tag{1.4.11}$$

with infinitesimal ω and use g_2 as the new background metric. In section 1.2, the infinitesimal change was in $g_3 = e^{2\delta\sigma}g_1$. Here, the quantum metric g_3 is fixed and hence only the background metric g_1 and the conformal factor $\sigma_{31} \equiv \sigma$ vary. We will simply write

$$\delta_{\rm B} g = 2 \omega g_* , \quad \delta_{\rm B} \sigma = -\omega , \qquad (1.4.12)$$

where g is the background metric varying from its original value g_* and δ_B gives the infinitesimal change of any quantity under this change of background metric. In particular, the following quantities yield

$$\delta_{\rm B} \sqrt{g} = 2 \,\omega \sqrt{g_*} \quad , \quad \delta_{\rm B} R = -2 \,\omega R_* + 2 \,\Delta_* \omega \quad , \quad \delta_{\rm B} \Delta = -2 \,\omega \Delta_* \; , \qquad (1.4.13)$$

with R and Δ respectively the background curvature and Laplacian in the background metric. To simplify, we may assume that g_2 and g_1 correspond to the same area so that by (1.2.24) and (1.4.4)

$$\delta_{\rm B} \ln\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}A\Delta\phi\right) = \delta_{\rm B} \ln\left(1 - \widehat{\phi}\right) = -2\omega \quad \Rightarrow \quad \delta_{\rm B}\,\widehat{\phi} = 2\,\omega(1 - \widehat{\phi}) \,. \tag{1.4.14}$$

Thus $\delta_{\rm B} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \, \widehat{\phi} = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \, 2 \, \omega$. Since $\widehat{\phi}$ has no zero-mode, the left-hand side vanishes and we see that ω has no zero-mode either:

$$\int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\omega = 0 \;. \tag{1.4.15}$$

As a consistency check, it is easy to verify that the area and the genus of the Riemann surface are invariant under δ_{B} :

$$\delta_{\rm B}A = \delta_{\rm B} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} = 2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\omega = 0 ,$$

$$\delta_{\rm B} \left[8\pi (1-h) \right] = \delta_{\rm B} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \,R = 2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\Delta_* \omega = 0 . \qquad (1.4.16)$$

Note that the co-cycle identity for the Liouville action becomes

$$\delta_{\rm B} S_{\rm L} \equiv S_{\rm L}[g_2, \sigma_{32}] - S_{\rm L}[g_1, \sigma_{31}] = -S_{\rm L}[g_1, \omega] = -\int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} R_* \omega + \mathcal{O}(\omega^2) . \quad (1.4.17)$$

By (1.4.15) and since R_* is constant at fixed area, we see that, to first order in ω , the Liouville action is background independent:

$$\delta_{\rm B} S_{\rm L} = 0 \ . \tag{1.4.18}$$

Even though the Liouville action is background invariant, the sum of Feynman diagrams it generates at two loops (and at higher order) will not be automatically be background independent. There are two reasons for this. First, the integration measure may or may not be invariant as we will see next. Second, the diagrams have to be regularized. Now, the spectral cutoff regularization is based on inserting $e^{-\lambda_n t}$ into all sums over the eigenvalues λ_n of the operator D. Since the eigenvalues (and eigenfunctions) change under a variation of the background metric, all the regularized quantities have thus an induced additional background dependence. Since $\delta_{\rm B}e^{-\lambda_r t} = -te^{-\lambda_r t}\delta_{\rm B}\lambda_r$, this is an order $t \sim \frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$ effect but, as usual, when multiplied by some other divergence $\sim \Lambda^2$ it could well lead to some finite additional background dependence. Let us first discuss the integration measure $\left(\prod_{n>0} \frac{\mu \, \mathrm{d} b_n}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\right) \exp(-S_{\mathrm{measure}})$. Once reg-

ularized, the measure action (1.4.10) stands as

$$S_{\text{measure}}[g_1,\widehat{\phi}] = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \widetilde{K}(t,x,x) \ln(1-\widehat{\phi}(x)) , \qquad (1.4.19)$$

since, from the previous discussion (cf section 1.3.3):

$$\widetilde{K}(t,x,x) = \left[\sum_{n>0} (\psi_n^{(1)}(x))^2\right]_{\text{reg}} .$$
(1.4.20)

Note that the $\psi_n^{(1)}$ are the eigenfunctions of $D_1 = \Delta_1 - R_1 \equiv \Delta_* - R_* \equiv D_*$ normalized with $g_1 = g_*$. The variation of eq. (1.4.10) is

$$\delta_{\rm B} S_{\rm measure}[g_1, \hat{\phi}] = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[\left(\omega \, \widetilde{K} + \frac{1}{2} \delta \widetilde{K} \right) \ln(1 - \hat{\phi}) - \widetilde{K} \, \omega \right] \\ = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left(\omega \, \widetilde{K} + \frac{1}{2} \delta \widetilde{K} \right) \ln(1 - \hat{\phi})$$
(1.4.21)

since ω has no zero mode and $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x)$ is a constant (see (1.3.44)). To determine the variation $\delta \widetilde{K}$, we need first to know how the eigenvalues $\lambda_n^{\rm L} \equiv \lambda_n^{(0)} - R_*$ and the eigenfunctions ψ_n behave under an infinitesimal change of the background metric. The relevant formulae are once more given by standard quantum mechanical first-order perturbation theory for $\delta D = D_2 - D_1 = -2\omega D_* - 2(\Delta_*\omega)$, see e.g. [53]. There is one slight subtlety though, since the $\psi_n + \delta \psi_n$ are normalized with respect to g_2 while the ψ_n are normalized with respect to g_1 . This implies that $\langle \psi_n | \delta \psi_n \rangle$ is not vanishing but equals $-\langle \psi_n | \omega | \psi_n \rangle$. One finds

$$\delta\lambda_n^{\rm L} = \langle\psi_n|\delta D|\psi_n\rangle = -2\langle\psi_n|\left(\lambda_n^{\rm L}\omega + (\Delta_*\omega)\right)|\psi_n\rangle , \qquad (1.4.22)$$

and

$$\delta\psi_n(x) = -\omega(x)\psi_n(x) + \sum_{m \neq n} \frac{\psi_m(x)}{\lambda_m^{\rm L} - \lambda_n^{\rm L}} \Big[(\lambda_n^{\rm L} + \lambda_m^{\rm L}) \langle\psi_m|\omega|\psi_n\rangle + 2\langle\psi_n|(\Delta_*\omega)|\psi_m\rangle \Big] .$$
(1.4.23)

Note that the eigenfunctions ψ_m are real and, hence, the square bracket in the last line is symmetric under exchange of n and m. These formulae would in principle allow us to

compute δK . However, we only need the asymptotic for large cutoff. From eq. (1.3.47) and (1.4.13), we find $\delta_{\rm B} \tilde{K}(t, x, x) \sim \frac{7}{12\pi} (\Delta_* \omega - \omega R_*) + \mathcal{O}(t)$ and thus (1.4.21) becomes

$$\delta_{\rm B} S_{\rm measure}[g_1, \widehat{\phi}] = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left(\frac{\omega}{4\pi t} + \frac{7}{24\pi} \Delta_* \omega - \frac{\omega}{A} + \mathcal{O}(t)\right) \ln(1 - \widehat{\phi}) \,. \tag{1.4.24}$$

This action does not appear to be background independent, as it is also the case for the counterterm action introduced in the section 2.1.3.

We also need to study how $\mathcal{D}_* \widehat{\phi} = \prod_{n>0} \frac{\mu \, \mathrm{d} b_n}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$ transforms. We define the expansion coefficients $b_n^{(2)}$ and $b_n^{(1)}$ of $\widehat{\phi}$ as

$$\widehat{\phi} = \sum_{n>0} b_n^{(1)} \psi_n^{(\Delta_1)} = \sum_{m>0} b_m^{(2)} \psi_m^{(\Delta_2)} \quad . \quad \psi_n^{(\Delta_1)} = \psi_n \quad , \ \psi_m^{(\Delta_2)} = \psi_m + \delta \psi_m^{\Delta} \quad , \quad (1.4.25)$$

where the $\psi_n^{(\Delta_i)}$ are the eigenfunctions of the Laplacian Δ_i , rather than of $\Delta_i - R_i$. For the constant curvature metric g_1 these are, of course, the same eigenfunctions, but for g_2 this is no longer true. The formula for $\delta \psi_n^{\Delta}$ is given by (1.2.46) with the m = 0 and $\delta \sigma$ replaced by ω . In any case, we will only need $\langle \psi_n | \delta \psi_n^{\Delta} \rangle = -\langle \psi_n | \omega | \psi_n \rangle$. Note that $\psi_0^{(\Delta_1)} = \psi_0^{(\Delta_2)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{A}}$ is unchanged, and the zero-mode and the non-zero modes transform into each other separately. Thus, for $m \neq 0$, $b_m^{(2)} = b_m^{(1)} + \delta b_m$ with

$$\delta b_m = \sum_{n>0} M_{mn} b_n^{(1)} \quad , \quad M_{mn} = \langle \delta \psi_m | \psi_n \rangle \; , \qquad (1.4.26)$$

and

$$\prod_{n>0} \mathrm{d}b_n^{(2)} = \prod_{n>0} \mathrm{d}b_n^{(1)} e^{-\delta_{\mathrm{B}}S} \quad , \quad \delta_{\mathrm{B}}S = -\mathrm{Tr}'\log(1+M) = -\mathrm{Tr}'M + \mathcal{O}(\omega^2) \; . \quad (1.4.27)$$

Since $\langle \psi_n | \delta \psi_n^{\Delta} \rangle = - \langle \psi_n | \omega | \psi_n \rangle$, we get upon regularization

$$\delta_{\rm B} \mathcal{S} = \left[\sum_{n>0} \langle \psi_n | \omega | \psi_n \rangle \right]_{\rm reg} = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[\sum_{n>0} (\psi_n(x))^2 \right]_{\rm reg} \omega(x)$$
$$= \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) \, \omega(x) = 0 , \qquad (1.4.28)$$

and hence $\prod_{n>0} \frac{\mu \, db_n}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$ is invariant to first order in ω .

Les us now remark that even if the regularized measure action (1.4.24) does not seem to be background invariant, this does not mean that the overall computation does not satisfy the background independence requirement. Indeed, as previously stated, the spectral cutoff regularization induces a priori a background dependence in all the diagrams, because of the insertion of the $e^{-\lambda_n t}$ terms in the propagators. Thus, the background independence of the actions themselves would not have been enough to ensure the background independence of the result of our computation. Of course, it would be extremely cumbersome to follow the background dependence through the individual

regularized Feynman diagrams that will appear at two (and higher) loops (see Chapter 2 and 3). Hence, we will give here some relevant formula that would allow, in principle to do this. However, we will content ourselves by studying directly the background (in)dependence of the *final* result for the two-loop partition function.

Since we are interested in the dependence in the area of the partition function and anticipating the scaling

$$\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A}(x) = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_{0}}(x) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln \frac{A}{A_{0}} , \qquad (1.4.29)$$

we need to compute the variation of the Green's function at coinciding point $\delta_{\rm B}G_{\zeta}(x)$ and thus the variation $\delta_{\rm B}\tilde{G}(x,y)$ of the Green's function. From the equations (1.4.22) and (1.4.23) giving the transformations of the eigenvalues $\lambda_n^{\rm L}$ and eigenfunctions ψ_n . One straightforwardly finds

$$\delta_{\rm B}\widetilde{G}(x,y) = -(\omega(x) + \omega(y))\widetilde{G}(x,y) + B + C , \qquad (1.4.30)$$

with

$$B = 2\sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)\langle \psi_n | (\lambda_n \omega + \Delta_* \omega) | \psi_n \rangle}{(\lambda_n^L)^2}$$

$$C = \sum_{n \neq 0} \sum_{m \neq n} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_m(y) + \psi_m(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_m^L - \lambda_n^L} \frac{1}{\lambda_n^L} \langle \psi_m | ((\lambda_n^L + \lambda_m^L)\omega + 2\Delta_* \omega) | \psi_n \rangle .$$
(1.4.31)

Upon separating the terms m = 0 from the sum C, we can symmetrize $\frac{1}{\lambda_m^L - \lambda_n^L} \frac{1}{\lambda_n^L} \rightarrow \frac{1}{\lambda_m^L - \lambda_n^L} \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_n^L} - \frac{1}{\lambda_m^L} \right) = \frac{1}{2\lambda_n^L\lambda_m^L}$ and rewrite

$$C = C_1 + C_2 \equiv \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{m \neq n, \\ n, m \neq 0}} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_m(y) + \psi_m(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_m^{\rm L}\lambda_n^{\rm L}} \langle \psi_m | \left((\lambda_n^{\rm L} + \lambda_m^{\rm L})\omega + 2\Delta_*\omega \right) | \psi_n \rangle + \sum_{\substack{n \neq 0}} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_0(y) + \psi_0(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_0^{\rm L} - \lambda_n^{\rm L}} \frac{1}{\lambda_n^{\rm L}} \langle \psi_0 | \left((\lambda_n^{\rm L} + \lambda_0^{\rm L})\omega + 2\Delta_*\omega \right) | \psi_n \rangle \right)$$
(1.4.32)

The "missing terms" m = n in the first sum C_1 are exactly given by the sum B, so that, recalling $\sum_{n \neq 0} \psi_n(x)\psi_n(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g_*(x)}}\delta(x-z) - \frac{1}{A}$, one has

$$C_{1} + B = (\omega(x) + \omega(y))\widetilde{G}(x, y) - \frac{1}{A}\int d^{2}z\sqrt{g_{*}} \left(\widetilde{G}(x, z) + \widetilde{G}(y, z)\right)\omega(z) + 2\int d^{2}z\sqrt{g_{*}}\widetilde{G}(x, z)\Delta_{*}\omega(z)\widetilde{G}(z, y) .$$
(1.4.33)

To evaluate the sum C_2 we have to remember that $\lambda_n^{\rm L} - \lambda_0^{\rm L} = \lambda_n^{\rm L} + R_*$ are the eigenvalues of Δ_* and that $\psi_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{A}}$ so that $\langle \psi_0 | ((\lambda_n^{\rm L} + \lambda_0^{\rm L})\omega + 2\Delta_*\omega) | \psi_n \rangle = \frac{3\lambda_n^{\rm L} - \lambda_0^{\rm L}}{\sqrt{A}}\omega_n$, where ω_n is the expansion coefficient in $\omega = \sum_{n \neq 0} \omega_n \psi_n$. Then, one finds

$$C_2 = -\frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}^2 z \sqrt{g_*} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z) + \widetilde{G}(y,z) + 2 \,\widetilde{G}_\Delta(x,z) + 2 \,\widetilde{G}_\Delta(y,z) \right) \omega(z) \,, \qquad (1.4.34)$$

where $\widetilde{G}_{\Delta}(x,z) = \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(z)}{\lambda_n^{\rm L} - \lambda_0^{\rm L}}$ denotes the Green's function of the Laplacian Δ_* . Combining (1.4.30), (1.4.33) and (1.4.34) we finally get

$$\delta_{\rm B}\widetilde{G}(x,y) = 2 \int d^2 z \sqrt{g_*(z)} \left[\widetilde{G}(x,z) \Delta_* \omega(z) \widetilde{G}(z,y) - \frac{1}{A} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z) + \widetilde{G}(y,z) + \widetilde{G}_{\Delta}(x,z) + \widetilde{G}_{\Delta}(y,z) \right) \omega(z) \right]. \quad (1.4.35)$$

Note that this has no short-distance singularity as $x \to y$ and we can safely take the coincidence limit to get $\delta_{\rm B} \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$.

The change of the geodesic length $\ell(x, y)$ under the Weyl rescaling of the metric was given in (1.2.59). Then, (as always, to first order in ω):

$$\delta_{\rm B} \ln(\ell_A^2(x, y) \mu^2) = \omega(x) + \omega(y) . \qquad (1.4.36)$$

Thus, recalling the definition (1.2.42) of $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$, we have

$$\delta_{\mathrm{B}}\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = \lim_{x \to y} \delta_{\mathrm{B}} \Big[\widetilde{G}(x,y) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln(\ell_{A}^{2}(x,y)\mu^{2}) \Big]$$

= $2 \int \mathrm{d}^{2}z \sqrt{g_{*}} \Big[\big(\widetilde{G}(x,z) \big)^{2} \Delta_{*}\omega(z) - \frac{2}{A} \big(\widetilde{G}(x,z) + \widetilde{G}_{\Delta}(x,z) \big) \omega(z) \Big] + \frac{\omega(x)}{2\pi} . (1.4.37)$

This complicated-looking variation simplifies when integrated over the Riemann surface, since \tilde{G} , \tilde{G}_{Δ} and ω have no zero-mode:

$$\delta_{\rm B} \int d^2x \sqrt{g(x)} \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = 2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \,\omega(x) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + 2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \int d^2z \sqrt{g_*(z)} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z)\right)^2 \Delta_* \omega(z) , \quad (1.4.38)$$

and similarly

$$\delta_{\rm B} \int d^2x \sqrt{g(x)} R(x) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = 2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \Delta_* \omega(x) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + 2R_* \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \int d^2z \sqrt{g_*(z)} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z)\right)^2 \Delta_* \omega(z) . (1.4.39)$$

We will also encounter expressions involving an integral of $R \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^2$. We have

$$\delta_{\rm B} \int d^2x \sqrt{g(x)} R(x) \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\right)^2 = 2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \Delta_* \omega(x) (\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x))^2 + 2 \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)} R_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \left\{ \frac{\omega(x)}{2\pi} + 2 \int d^2z \sqrt{g_*(z)} \left[\left(\widetilde{G}(x,z)\right)^2 \Delta_* \omega(z) - \frac{2}{A} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z) + \widetilde{G}_{\Delta}(x,z)\right) \omega(z) \right] \right\}.$$
(1.4.40)

We should remember that we will be interested in the area dependence and that areaindependent terms only lead to irrelevant normalization factors and will drop out in

the end upon computing $Z[A]/Z[A_0]$. Anticipating the discussion of the scaling of the Green's function in the next Chapter, $\tilde{G}(x,z)$ does not depend of the area. Then, from eq. (1.2.23) and (1.4.29), and the three preceding formulae, we find that

$$\delta_{\rm B} \frac{1}{A} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g(x)} \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi A} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \,\omega(x) + A \text{-independent} \\ = 0 + A \text{-independent} , \qquad (1.4.41)$$

$$\delta_{\rm B} \int d^2x \sqrt{g(x)} R(x) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \Delta_* \omega(x) + A \text{-independent} \\ = 0 + A \text{-independent} , \qquad (1.4.42)$$

 and

$$\delta_{\rm B} \int d^2x \sqrt{g(x)} R(x) \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\right)^2 = \frac{1}{\pi} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \Delta_* \omega(x) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) + \frac{R_*}{\pi} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} \int d^2x \, d^2z \sqrt{g_*(x)g_*(z)} \left(\widetilde{G}(x,z)\right)^2 \Delta_* \omega(z) + A \text{-independent.}$$
(1.4.43)

We conclude that the appearance of the terms $\int \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}$ and $\int R \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}$ is compatible with background independence, while the appearance of $\int R \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^2$ is not¹⁰.

¹⁰Note that from (1.4.37), we expect the structure $\int R \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^3$ not to be background independent either.

CHAPTER 2 A multi-loop first principles analysis

« Le courage consiste à donner raison aux choses quand nous ne pouvons les changer. » Marguerite Yourcenar in Alexis ou le Traité du Vain Combat.

This chapter present a first-principles quantum field theory computation of Z[A] on a Riemann surface of arbitrary genus, using the spectral cutoff regularization scheme introduced in the previous chapter in section 1.3.3. We consider the Liouville action and the measure action which arises of the regularization of the quantum gravity measure (see section 1.3.1). This work has been initiated with the one-loop computation presented in section 1.3.2 (see [54]). Now, in section 2.1, we will present the full two-loop computation of Z[A] in a loop-expansion where $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ is the loop-counting parameter (see [56]). This will give us the two-loop contribution to the string susceptibility γ_{str} . Then, in section 2.2, the three-loop contribution of the partition function is partially computed. Indeed, we compute the non-vanishing quadratic leading divergence. Thus, counterterms are required and we compute the full contribution of the partition function (see [57]).

2.1 Two-loop landscape

In ref. [54] the partition function Z[A] was computed, with the spectral cutoff regularization scheme, up to and including the one-loop contributions, using a more general quantum gravity action that is a sum of the Liouville as well as Mabuchi actions, as presented in section 1.3.2 in the previous chapter. This gave a definite result for γ_{str} which for the pure Liouville gravity reduced to $\gamma_{\text{str}}^{0,1-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{2}(h-1)\kappa^2 + \frac{19-7h}{6}$ in agreement with the loop-expansion of the KPZ result for the string susceptibility (1.3.18). Although satisfying, the agreement was, maybe, not too much a surprise. Indeed, the truly non-trivial nature of the determinants coming from the measure over the space of metrics only shows up beyond one loop, starting at two loops. It is thus quite intriguing to try and compute the two-loop contributions to the fixed-area partition function. This is what we will do in the present section, based on [56].

In the subsection 2.1.1, we expand the Liouville action and the measure up to order $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ which corresponds to the two-loop contributions to $\ln Z[A]$. The regularized loopintegrals are then evaluated in subsection 2.1.2. It is remarkable that the individual $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ -divergences are always accompanied by certain structures that are not background independent. The fact that the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ -divergences cancel is equivalent to the cancellation of these background non-invariant structures! However, the leading divergence $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ is non-vanishing and we are led to introduce counterterms. This is done in the subsection 2.1.3. Note that the appearance of a non-local divergence should not be a surprise. In a local quantum field theory, one-loop divergences always are local, but starting at two loops the divergences are not necessarily local, in particular also due to the so-called overlapping divergences. However, we know from the standard BPHZ proofs [114–116] that they can always be cancelled by one-loop diagrams including local counterterm vertices (as well as tree diagrams including further local counterterm vertices). These counterterm vertices occurring in the one-loop diagrams are themselves determined from the cancellation of the divergences of the corresponding one-loop npoint functions. The same does happen here. This will be worked out in subsection 2.1.4.

The subsection 2.1.4 is devoted to computing the one-loop two-point function of the Kähler field and determining the necessary counterterms to make it finite and regulator independent. This computation is done on an arbitrary Riemann surface and is done consistently in the same spectral cutoff regularization as the computation of the partition function. Note that this two-point function is closely related to the two-point function of the conformal factor $\langle e^{2\sigma(x)}e^{2\sigma(y)} \rangle$. Most of the lengthy computational details are relegated into the appendix. However, the absence of divergences does not fix the counterterms uniquely. To fix the finite parts of the counterterms requires to impose finite renormalization conditions. While in a massive Minkowski space quantum field theory it is usually convenient to impose conditions on the mass shell, already in a massless theory it is often more convenient to impose the conditions at an arbitrary scale μ . In the present theory on a curved Riemann surface, there seems just to be no *natural* finite condition one should impose, rather than any other. Thus there appears to be a whole family of counterterms, depending on two finite parameters. Remarkably, for all choices of these finite parameters, the unwanted $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ terms cancel in the two-loop contribution to $\ln Z[A]$, and the coefficient of $\ln A\Lambda^2$, which is the two-loop contribution to the string susceptibility, becomes independent of the regulator functions $\varphi(\alpha)$. This result is given (and discussed) in subsection 2.1.5.

For later comparison, we quote the loop-expansion of the KPZ result up to two loops:

$$\gamma_{\rm str} = \frac{1}{2}(h-1)\kappa^2 + \frac{19-7h}{6} + 2(1-h)\frac{1}{\kappa^2} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-4}) \ . \tag{2.1.1}$$

2.1.1 Two-loop expansion of the Liouville and measure actions

In the previous chapter, we have expanded the Liouville action up to the relevant order in ϕ for the one-loop computation. To go further and perform the two-loop computation, let us consider again the Liouville action written in the background metric g_* of constant curvature R_* and area A.

$$S_{\rm L}[\sigma] = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left(\sigma \Delta_* \sigma + R_* \sigma \right) \,. \tag{2.1.2}$$

Recalling (1.2.24) in terms of $\hat{\phi}$ (1.3.32), we have

$$\sigma - \sigma_{\rm cl} = \frac{1}{2} \ln(1 - \hat{\phi}) \quad , \quad \sigma_{\rm cl} = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} \; .$$
 (2.1.3)

Since the first term in $S_{\rm L}$ is not affected by constant shifts of σ and the second term is linear, one obviously has

$$S_{\rm L}[\sigma] = S_{\rm L}[\sigma_{\rm cl}] + S_{\rm L}[\sigma - \sigma_{\rm cl}] = 4\pi (1 - h) \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + S_{\rm L}\left[\frac{1}{2}\ln(1 - \hat{\phi})\right] \,. \tag{2.1.4}$$

Expanding the logarithm in terms of $\hat{\phi}$ one gets

$$S_{\rm L}[\sigma - \sigma_{\rm cl}] = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \Big[\frac{1}{4} \widehat{\phi} (\Delta_* - R_*) \widehat{\phi} + \frac{1}{4} \widehat{\phi}^2 (\Delta_* - \frac{2}{3} R_*) \widehat{\phi} \\ + \frac{1}{16} \widehat{\phi}^2 \Delta_* \widehat{\phi}^2 + \frac{1}{6} \widehat{\phi}^3 \Delta_* \widehat{\phi} - \frac{1}{8} R_* \widehat{\phi}^4 + \mathcal{O}(\widehat{\phi}^5) \Big] . \quad (2.1.5)$$

When looking at the definition of the quantum gravity partition function (1.3.11) with $\beta = 0$, the quantity $\frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2}$ can be seen to be a loop-counting parameter. Thus, in the following of this chapter we absorb ε so that the loop-expansion of Z[A] is now done in powers of $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$. To emphasize it, we rescale $\hat{\phi}$ as

$$\widetilde{\phi} = \frac{\kappa}{4\sqrt{\pi}} \,\widehat{\phi} \,\,, \tag{2.1.6}$$

so that

$$\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi} S_{\rm L}[\sigma] = \frac{\kappa^2}{2} (1-h) \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \int {\rm d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\phi} (\Delta_* - R_*) \widetilde{\phi} + \int {\rm d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \Big[\frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{\kappa} \widetilde{\phi}^2 (\Delta_* - \frac{2}{3} R_*) \widetilde{\phi} + \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \widetilde{\phi}^2 \Delta_* \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{16\pi}{3\kappa^2} \widetilde{\phi}^3 \Delta_* \widetilde{\phi} - \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} R_* \widetilde{\phi}^4 + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-3}) \Big] .$$
(2.1.7)

The first term in the first line provides the classical contribution to the partition function. The second term of the first line yields the one-loop determinant studied in [54]. It also provides a standard propagator for the present two-loop computation. The terms of the second and third line provide the cubic and quartic vertices relevant for the two-loop vacuum diagrams. Clearly, the $\mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-3})$ terms correspond to quintic and higher vertices that can only contribute to three (and higher)-loop vacuum diagrams.

The non-trivial measure does not contribute at one-loop. However, it gives a two-loop (as well as higher loop) contribution. In terms of $\hat{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}A\Delta_*\phi$, eq. (1.3.7) becomes

$$||\delta\sigma||_{A}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \int d^{2}x \sqrt{g_{*}} (1-\widehat{\phi})^{-1} \delta\widehat{\phi}^{2}, \qquad (2.1.8)$$

so that the measure action (1.3.12) changes in¹

$$S_{\text{measure}} = -\frac{1}{2}\ln \text{Det}'(1-\widehat{\phi})^{-1} = \frac{1}{2}\text{Tr}'\ln(1-\widehat{\phi}) = \text{Tr}'\left(-\frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{\kappa}\widetilde{\phi} - \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2}\widetilde{\phi}^2 + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-3})\right).$$
(2.1.9)

¹As previously stated (see [54], the change of variable in the field $\hat{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}A\Delta_*\phi$ does not induce a multiplicative anomaly when using the spectral cutoff regularization scheme.

More explicitly, in terms of the orthonormal set of eigenfunctions ψ_r of the Laplace operator, cf (1.3.9), the trace of any operator O is given by

$$\operatorname{Tr}'O = \sum_{r>0} \langle \psi_r | O | \psi_r \rangle = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \sum_{r>0} \langle \psi_r | x \rangle \langle x | O | \psi_r \rangle = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \sum_{r>0} \psi_r^2(x) O(x) ,$$
(2.1.10)

(the eigenfunctions ψ_r are chosen to be real) and, hence,

$$S_{\text{measure}} = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \sum_{r>0} \psi_r^2(x) \left(-\frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{\kappa} \widetilde{\phi}(x) - \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \widetilde{\phi}^2(x) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-3}) \right) .$$
(2.1.11)

Of course, $\sum_{r>0} \psi_r^2(x) = \frac{\delta(x-x)}{\sqrt{g_*(x)}} - \psi_0^2$ is a formal writing which translates in $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x)$ once regularized (see section 1.3.3). Since $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x) = \frac{\Lambda^2}{4\pi\alpha} + \frac{7}{24\pi}R_* - \frac{1}{A} + \dots$ does not depend² on x and since $\widetilde{\phi}$ has no zero-mode, the first term in the action drops out (cf eq. (1.3.39)). Thus, at two loops, S_{measure} provides a quadratic vertex with a diverging coefficient. This is very similar to a counterterm, as we will see later-on.

One might wonder what is the advantage of rewriting the simple-looking Liouville action (2.1.2) in terms of $\hat{\phi}$ or $\tilde{\phi}$ which has resulted in a complicated action (2.1.5) or (2.1.7) with cubic and quartic (and higher) interactions that all involve derivatives. Would it not be simpler to use $\frac{1}{2}\ln(1-\hat{\phi}) = \sigma - \sigma_{cl}$ as the basic field instead? One important point concerns the zero-mode. The absence of zero-mode is easy to implement for $\hat{\phi}$, while for $\sigma - \sigma_{cl} = -\frac{1}{2}\hat{\phi} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{\phi}^2 - \frac{1}{8}\hat{\phi}^3 - \ldots$ it results in a very complicated constraint. Taking this constraint properly into account is highly non-trivial and probably equivalent in difficulty to working with the complicated actions (2.1.5) or (2.1.7).

Vertices

The Feynman rules are straightforwardly read from the expansions (2.1.7) and (2.1.11). Note that we normalize our vertices without including any symmetry factors (*i.e.* a term $\alpha \tilde{\phi}^n$ in the total action gives a vertex with n legs and a factor $-\alpha$, not $-\alpha n!$) so that when evaluating the diagrams one has to count all possible contractions. There is a cubic vertex

$$Y = -\frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{\kappa} (\Delta_* - \frac{2}{3}R_*) , \qquad (2.1.12)$$

where $(\Delta_* - \frac{2}{3}R_*)$ is meant to act on the propagator connected to the bold line of the vertex. There are also two quartic vertices,

$$\sum = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} (\Delta_* - 2R_*) , \qquad (2.1.13)$$

with $(\Delta_* - 2R_*)$ acting on the *two* propagators connected to the bold part of the vertex (of course, upon integrating by parts, it does not matter whether one chooses the two

²Recall that the considered metrics are of constant curvature at fixed area.

lines to the left or the two lines to the right), and

$$\mathbf{X} = -\frac{16\pi}{3\kappa^2} \Delta_* . \qquad (2.1.14)$$

The measure yields an unique quadratic vertex:

$$\checkmark = \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \sum_{n>0} \psi_n^2(x) . \qquad (2.1.15)$$

Propagator

These vertices are connected by propagators that are

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y) = \langle x | (\Delta_* - R_*)^{-1} | y \rangle' .$$
 (2.1.16)

We recall that the tilde on G and the prime on the r.h.s. indicate that the zero-mode is not to be included. This propagator can be written explicitly in terms of the eigenvalues $\lambda_n^{\rm L}$ and eigenfunctions ψ_n of

$$D = \Delta_* - R_*$$
, $D \psi_n = \lambda_n^{\rm L} \psi_n$. (2.1.17)

Since $R_* = \frac{8\pi(1-h)}{A}$ is constant, D and Δ_* have the same (real) eigenfunctions ψ_n , while the eigenvalues simply are related by $\lambda_n^{\rm L} = \lambda_n^{(0)} - R_*$. Since ϕ has no zero-mode, the propagator is given by the sum over all non-zero modes as

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y) = \sum_{n>0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n^{\mathrm{L}}} . \qquad (2.1.18)$$

Furthermore, for genus h > 1 one has $\lambda_0^{\rm L} = -R_* > 0$, and then one can explicitly subtract the zero-mode contribution $\frac{\psi_0^2}{\lambda_0^{\rm L}} = \frac{1}{8\pi(h-1)}$:

for
$$h > 1$$
: $\widetilde{G}(x,y) = G(x,y) - \frac{1}{8\pi(h-1)}$, $G(x,y) = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{\psi_n(x)\psi_n(y)}{\lambda_n^{\rm L}}$. (2.1.19)

Note also that for all $h \geq 1$, we have $\lambda_n^{\rm L} > 0$ for n > 0 since the eigenvalues $\lambda_n^{(0)}$ of the Laplacian are positive (for n > 0) and $-R_* \geq 0$. It is only for h = 0 where $\lambda_n^{\rm L} \equiv \lambda_{l,m}^{\rm L} = \frac{4\pi}{A} l(l+1) - \frac{8\pi}{A}$ that we get $\lambda_{0,0}^{\rm L} < 0$ and $\lambda_{1,m}^{\rm L} = 0$. As already mentioned, for h = 0, these three spin-1 modes are excluded by the SL(2, **C**)/SL(2, **R**) gauge fixing. In the sequel we will always implicitly assume $h \geq 1$.

2.1.2 Two-loop contributions to the partition function

The purpose of the present computation is to pursue the one-loop expansion made in [54] (see section 1.3). We recall:

$$\ln Z[A] \equiv W[A] = \sum_{L \ge 0} W^{(L)}[A] . \qquad (2.1.20)$$

For the present pure Liouville quantum gravity,

$$W^{(0)}[A] = \frac{\kappa^2}{2}(h-1)\ln\frac{A}{A_0}$$
(2.1.21)

as can be read off directly from (2.1.7), and [54]

$$W^{(1)}[A] = \frac{1 - 7h}{6} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \mu_{\rm c,div}^2 A + c_1 , \qquad (2.1.22)$$

where the divergent piece $\mu_{c,div}^2 A \sim \Lambda^2 A$ is cancelled by the renormalization of the cosmological constant μ_c^2 , and c_1 is an A-independent finite constant that could be eliminated by computing $W^{(1)}[A] - W^{(1)}[A_0]$ instead. The coefficients of $\ln \frac{A}{A_0}$ yield the contributions to $\gamma_{str} - 3$ and thus from (2.1.21) and (2.1.22)

$$\gamma_{\rm str} = \frac{h-1}{2}\kappa^2 + \frac{19-7h}{6} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-2}) , \qquad (2.1.23)$$

in agreement with (2.1.1). As already mentioned, one of the present goals is to determine the order $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ term in this expansion which comes from the two-loop contribution. The two-loop contribution to W[A] is

$$W^{(2)}[A] = \sum \left[\text{connected vacuum diagrams} \sim \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \right].$$
 (2.1.24)

This includes the genuine two-loop diagrams made with the vertices of $S_{\rm L}$, as well as a one-loop diagram made with the vertex from $S_{\rm measure}$ and, as we will see, also one-loop diagrams made with further counterterm vertices.

The vacuum diagrams of order $1/\kappa^2$

The two quartic vertices both give a "figure-eight" diagram \bigcirc with the four lines of a single vertex connected by two propagators. The cubic vertex gives two types of diagrams: the "setting sun" diagram \bigcirc with two cubic vertices connected by three propagators, and the "glasses" diagram \bigcirc — \bigcirc with the two vertices joined by a single propagator and the remaining two lines of each vertex connected by a propagator. Finally the measure vertex gives the "measure" (one-loop) diagram \bigcirc with the two lines of the vertex connected by a single propagator.

The figure-eight diagram: This diagram actually gets three contributions : one from the quartic vertex (2.1.14) and two from the different ways to contract the lines of the quartic vertex (2.1.13). Taking into account the different numbers of contractions in each case (3, 2 and 1) yields

$$= -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[\frac{1}{4} \widetilde{G}(x, x) (\Delta^x_* - 2R_*) \widetilde{G}(x, x) + \frac{1}{2} \left[(\Delta^x_* - 2R_*) (\widetilde{G}(x, z))^2 \right] \Big|_{z=x} + 2 \widetilde{G}(x, x) \left[\Delta^x_* \widetilde{G}(x, z) \right] \Big|_{z=x} \right].$$
(2.1.25)

The setting sun diagram: This diagram gets two contributions, one with the two bold lines of the two cubic vertices connected by the same propagator (two possible contractions) and one with the two bold lines not connected by the same propagator (four contractions). Overall, there is also a factor $\frac{1}{2}$ from expanding $e^{-S_{\text{int}}}$ to second order. Thus

$$= \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \, d^2 y \sqrt{g_*(y)} \, \widetilde{G}(x,y) \left[\widetilde{G}(x,y) (\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3}R_*) (\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3}R_*) \, \widetilde{G}(x,y) \right] + 2 \left[(\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3}R_*) \, \widetilde{G}(x,y) \right] (\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3}R_*) \, \widetilde{G}(x,y) \right] . \quad (2.1.26)$$

<u>The glasses diagram</u>: This diagram gets four contributions, since for each of the cubic vertices the bold lines can either be contracted with a line from the same vertex (giving a factor of 2) or with a line of the other vertex (factor 1). Again, overall, there is also a factor $\frac{1}{2}$. Thus

$$\bigcirc -\bigcirc = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*(x)} d^2 y \sqrt{g_*(y)} \left[(\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3}R_*) \widetilde{G}(x,x) + 2(\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3}R_*) \widetilde{G}(x,z) \Big|_{z=x} \right] \\ \times \widetilde{G}(x,y) \left[(\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3}R_*) \widetilde{G}(y,y) + 2(\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3}R_*) \widetilde{G}(y,z) \Big|_{z=y} \right]. \quad (2.1.27)$$

The measure diagram: The vertex (2.1.15) simply gives

$$\bullet = \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \sum_{n>0} \psi_n^2(x) \, \widetilde{G}(x,x) \, . \tag{2.1.28}$$

In addition to these diagrams there are also one-loop diagrams involving counterterm vertices that contribute at the same order in $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$. They are discussed in the next subsection (section 2.1.3). So far, to summarize:

$$W^{(2)}[A] = W^{(2)}[A]\big|_{\text{loops}} + W^{(2)}[A]\big|_{\text{ct}}$$

$$W^{(2)}[A]\big|_{\text{loops}} = \bigcirc + \bigcirc \bigcirc + \bigcirc \bigcirc + \circlearrowright$$

$$W^{(2)}[A]\big|_{\text{ct}} = \text{counterterm contributions at order } \frac{1}{\kappa^2}.$$

$$(2.1.29)$$

Of course, these expressions for the Feynman diagrams are formal writings and have to be regularized. To do so, we use the smooth spectral cutoff regularization described in the section 1.3.3 of Chapter 1. In particular, the Green's function $\tilde{G}(x, y)$ are replaced by the $\hat{\tilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ and the diverging sum $\sum_{r>0} \psi_r^2(x)$ by the heat kernel at coinciding points $\tilde{K}(t, x, x)$, so that one immediately gets the following expressions for the regularized integrals I^3 :

³We recall that $I(t_1, \ldots, t_n)$ has to be integrated over $\int_0^\infty d\alpha_1 \varphi(\alpha_1) \ldots \int_0^\infty d\alpha_n \varphi(\alpha_n)$. These integrations are implicitly understood.

$$\begin{split} I_{\bigcirc} &= -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[\frac{1}{4} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) (\Delta^x_* - 2R_*) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{1}{2} \Big[(\Delta^x_* - 2R_*) \big(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, z) \big) \Big] \Big|_{z=x} \right. \\ &\left. + 2 \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \big[\Delta^x_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, z) \big] \Big|_{z=x} \right], \quad (2.1.30) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} I_{\ominus} &= \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \, d^2 y \sqrt{g_*(y)} \, \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \\ &\times \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) (\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3} R_*) (\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3} R_*) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \right. \\ &+ 2 \left[(\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3} R_*) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \right] (\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3} R_*) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \right] , \quad (2.1.31) \end{split}$$

$$I_{\bigcirc\bigcirc} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \, d^2y \sqrt{g_*(y)} \\ \times \left[(\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3}R_*)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) + 2(\Delta_*^x - \frac{2}{3}R_*)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \big|_{z=x} \right] \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \\ \times \left[(\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3}R_*)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, y) + 2(\Delta_*^y - \frac{2}{3}R_*)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, z) \big|_{z=y} \right], \quad (2.1.32)$$

$$I_{\odot} = \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \, \widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \,.$$
(2.1.33)

One should keep in mind that one can always symmetrize in the $t_i = \alpha_i / \Lambda^2$ because these expressions are multiplied by the symmetric $\prod_i \int d\alpha_i \varphi(\alpha_i)$. Thus, we consider two expressions as identical if they only differ by a permutation of the t_i .

Scalings

Let us briefly discuss some general features about the expected dependence on the area A of the Feynman diagram (integrals) $I_r(t_1, \ldots, t_n)$.

Recall that the eigenfunctions ψ_n of $D = \Delta_* - R_*$ are normalized as

$$\int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\psi_n(x)\psi_m(x) = \delta_{nm} \,. \tag{2.1.34}$$

It follows from (1.2.23) that ψ_n and $\lambda_n^{\rm L} \equiv \lambda_n$ scale as

$$\lambda_n \equiv \lambda_n^A = \frac{A_0}{A} \lambda_n^{A_0} \quad , \quad \psi_n \equiv \psi_n^A = \sqrt{\frac{A_0}{A}} \psi_n^{A_0} \quad , \tag{2.1.35}$$

where the quantities with a label A_0 are defined as the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of $\Delta_0 - R_0$ with respect to the metric g_0 of area A_0 . This immediately implies the scaling relations

$$\widetilde{K}_{A}(t,x,y) = \frac{A_{0}}{A} \ \widetilde{K}_{A_{0}}(\frac{A_{0}}{A}t,x,y) \quad , \qquad \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{A}(t,x,y) = \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{A_{0}}(\frac{A_{0}}{A}t,x,y) \ . \tag{2.1.36}$$

The last relation implies in particular that $\widetilde{G}(x,y) = \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(0,x,y)$ does not depend on A:

$$\widetilde{G}_A(x,y) = \widetilde{G}_{A_0}(x,y) .$$
(2.1.37)

It then straightforwardly follows from (2.1.36) together with (1.2.23) that all the integrals $I_r(t_i)$ as given in (2.1.30)-(2.1.33) satisfy

$$I_r[t_i, A] = I_r[\frac{A_0}{A} t_i, A_0] . \qquad (2.1.38)$$

Of course, this is true only because these integrals are finite convergent integrals (for $t_i > 0$). In particular, since $t_i = \alpha_i/\Lambda^2$, we see that the I_r cannot depend on A and Λ^2 separately but only on the combination $A\Lambda^2$. On the other hand, the small t shortdistance expansion for $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}$ given in (1.3.45) also depends on an arbitrary scale μ introduced when defining \widetilde{G}_{ζ} in (1.2.42), so one might wonder whether an additional area-dependence of the form $\mu^2 A$ could occur. However, this is not the case. Indeed, in (1.2.42) the scale μ appears in the combination $\ln[\ell_A^2(x, y)\mu^2]$ where $\ell_A(x, y)$ is the geodesic distance between x and y computed with the metric of area A. Thus $\ln[\ell_A^2(x, y)\mu^2] = \ln A\mu^2 + \ldots$ where $+ \ldots$ refers to terms that do not depend on A or μ . It follows that $4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta} - \ln A\mu^2$ does not depend on μ . Since also, as anticipated in the previous chapter ans as we will explain shortly,

$$\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A} = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_{0}} + \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln \frac{A}{A_{0}} , \qquad (2.1.39)$$

it follows that

$$4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A} - \ln \frac{\ell_{A}^{2}(x,y)\mu^{2}}{4} = 4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_{0}} - \ln A_{0}\mu^{2} + \dots , \qquad (2.1.40)$$

depends neither on A nor on μ . Since \widetilde{G}_{ζ} and μ only ever appear in this combination in $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}$ it is clear that there is no real μ dependence in the end. Thus

$$I_r[\frac{\alpha_i}{\Lambda^2}, A] = f_r[A\Lambda^2, \frac{\alpha_i}{\alpha_j}] . \qquad (2.1.41)$$

For example, a term $(\ln \Lambda^2 A)^2$ will appear as

$$\left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} = \left(\ln\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{\mu^{2}} + \ln\frac{A}{A_{0}} + \ln\mu^{2}A_{0}\right)^{2} = \left(\ln\frac{A}{A_{0}}\right)^{2} + 2\ln\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{\mu^{2}} \ln\frac{A}{A_{0}} + \dots \quad (2.1.42)$$

where $+ \ldots$ refers to terms independent of the area A. This structure will be indeed explicitly observed below. Similarly, a term $A\Lambda^2 \ln \mu^2 A$ must be accompanied by a term $A\Lambda^2 \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2}$. Again, this will be explicitly the case.

The relation (2.1.39) that gives the area dependence of $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A}$ will play a most important role below, since it is through this relation that the $\ln \frac{A}{A_{0}}$ terms appear in the logarithm of the partition function. Let us prove it. To begin with, $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$ is defined in terms of the spectral ζ -function (without zero-mode) in (1.2.41) as

$$\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) = \lim_{s \to 1} \left[\mu^{2(s-1)} \widetilde{\zeta}(s, x, x) - \frac{1}{4\pi(s-1)} \right] , \qquad (2.1.43)$$

which is equivalent to saying

$$\mu^{2(s-1)}\widetilde{\zeta}(s,x,x) = \frac{1}{4\pi(s-1)} + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \mathcal{O}(s-1) . \qquad (2.1.44)$$

From the definition of $\tilde{\zeta}(s, x, y)$ (1.2.37) and eq. (2.1.35) it follows that

$$\widetilde{\zeta}_A(s,x,x) = \left(\frac{A}{A_0}\right)^{s-1} \widetilde{\zeta}_{A_0}(s,x,x) . \qquad (2.1.45)$$

Inserting this into (2.1.43) or (2.1.44) for $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A}$ and rewriting the r.h.s. in terms of $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_{0}}$ yields the desired relation (2.1.39). It remains to show that \widetilde{G}_{ζ} defined by (2.1.43) (and (1.2.41)) is exactly the same quantity as the one defined by (1.2.42) and that appears in the expansion (1.3.42) of \widetilde{K} . This is done as follows. By the Mellin transformation between $\widetilde{\zeta}(s, x, y)$ and the heat kernel, the singularity of the former is related to the small t asymptotic of the latter and one sees that

$$\widetilde{\zeta}_R(s,x,y) = \widetilde{\zeta}(s,x,y) - \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^{1/\mu^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{4\pi t^2} t^s a_0(x,y) e^{-\ell^2(x,y)/4t}$$
(2.1.46)

is smooth for $s \to 1$ and for $y \to x$. Taking first the limit $y \to x$ (for s > 1) and then $s \to 1$ yields $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$. On the other hand, taking first $s \to 1$ yields $\widetilde{G}(x,y) - \frac{1}{4\pi}a_0(x,y)E_1(\frac{\mu^2\ell^2(x,y)}{4})$ and then letting $y \to x$ yields the relation (1.2.42).

Note for later use that $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, x)$ in (1.3.47) can now be rewritten as

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(\frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^2}, x, x) = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\ln A\Lambda^2 - \ln A_0 \mu^2 - \ln \alpha - \gamma - \left(\frac{7}{6}R_* - \frac{4\pi}{A}\right) \frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^2} + \dots \right].$$
(2.1.47)

Evaluating the regularized two-loop integrals

We will now explicitly compute the regularized two-loop integrals. Before going on, we would like to stress that we are free to drop all terms that vanish as $\Lambda \to \infty$. Also, the area-independent finite terms are without interest since they drop out when computing $Z[A]/Z[A_0]$. We do, however, keep the area-independent diverging terms in order to check that, in the end, they only show up in the combinations allowed by the above

The figure-eight and the measure diagrams:

First,
$$\partial_i^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, x) = 2 \partial_i^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, z) \Big|_{z=x}$$
 so that

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_*^x \Big(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, z) \Big) \Big|_{z=x} &= 2 \left(\Delta_*^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \right) \Big|_{z=x} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} g_*^{ij} \partial_i^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \partial_j^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \\ &= 2 \left[\widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \right] \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} g_*^{ij} \partial_i^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \partial_j^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) . \end{aligned}$$
(2.1.48)

Also,

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \, g_*^{ij} \, \partial_i^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \, \partial_j^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) = \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \Delta_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x)$$
(2.1.49)

upon integrating by parts. Hence,

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int dx \left[-3 \,\widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) - \frac{3}{2} \,R_* \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right] \,. \quad (2.1.50)$$

From the asymptotic expansions (1.3.47) of $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,x)$ and $\widetilde{K}(t,x,x)$, it is then straightforward to get

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \, \widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1} + \frac{7}{6} R_* - \frac{4\pi}{A} \right) \int \mathrm{d}x \, \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2 \alpha_2} - \gamma \right] \\ + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) \tag{2.1.51}$$

 and

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2 \alpha_1} - \gamma \right]$$
(2.1.52)
$$\times \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2 \alpha_2} - \gamma \right] + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) .$$

Here and in the following, the symbol $c(\alpha_i)$ denotes a generic finite and A-independent constant (but that may depend of the α_i). We always write $c(\alpha_i)$, but this same symbol stands for different constants. Using (2.1.39) to explicitly display the area dependence, one can rewrite

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - \gamma \right] = A \left[\ln A\Lambda^2 + G_0 \right] , \qquad (2.1.53)$$

with

$$G_0 = \frac{4\pi}{A_0} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) - \gamma - \ln A_0 \mu^2 \,. \tag{2.1.54}$$

Thus,

$$I_{\odot} = \frac{1}{2\pi\kappa^2} \left\{ \frac{A\Lambda^2}{2\alpha_1} \ln A\Lambda^2 + \left(\frac{7}{12}AR_* - 2\pi\right) \ln A\Lambda^2 + \frac{A\Lambda^2}{2\alpha_1} \left(G_0 - \ln \alpha_2\right) + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) \right\} \quad (2.1.55)$$

and

$$I_{CO} = \frac{1}{2\pi\kappa^2} \left\{ -\frac{3}{\alpha_1} A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \left[\left(-\frac{7}{2} + 3\ln\alpha_1 \right) AR_* + 12\pi \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 - \frac{3}{\alpha_1} A\Lambda^2 \left(G_0 - \ln\alpha_2 \right) - \frac{3}{2} R_* \int dx \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln\frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - \gamma \right]^2 + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) \right\}.$$
 (2.1.56)

 I_{\bigcirc} involves the structure $\int R \tilde{G}_{\zeta}^2$ which is not background independent, as was remarked in section 1.4. However, this structure will be seen to cancel against similar contributions from the other diagrams.

The setting sun diagram:

Rewriting (2.1.31) gives

$$\begin{split} I_{\ominus} &= \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \\ &\times \left[- \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \,\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \widetilde{K}(t, x, y) \Big|_{t=t_3} + 2\,\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y) \\ &+ 2\,R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y) + \frac{R_*^2}{3} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \right] \,. \quad (2.1.57) \end{split}$$

First consider the last term in $R^2_* \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y)$. Replacing each of the $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_i, x, y)$ by the unregulated Green's function $\widetilde{G}(x, y)$ one gets a converging finite integral, since the short-distance singularity $\sim (\ln \ell(x, y))^3$ is integrable. Now, $\widetilde{G}(x, y)$ does not depend on the area and, thus

$$R_*^2 \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) = R_*^2 \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,(\widetilde{G}(x, y))^3 + \mathcal{O}\big((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2\big) \,.$$

$$(2.1.58)$$

Since $\int dx \, dy \equiv \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)} \, d^2y \sqrt{g_*(y)}$ scales as A^2 and $R^2_* \sim \frac{1}{A^2}$ this term is obviously an A-independent constant, up to vanishing terms.

All the other terms in (2.1.57) involve at least one $\widetilde{K}(t_i, x, y)$ or $\frac{d}{dt}\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$. We write

$$\widetilde{K}(t,x,y) = K(t,x,y) - \frac{e^{R_*t}}{A}$$
 (2.1.59)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\widetilde{K}(t,x,y) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}K(t,x,y) - \frac{R_*}{A}e^{R_*t}$$
(2.1.60)

and use the fact that for small t the heat kernel K(t, x, y) and its derivated $\frac{d}{dt}K(t, x, y)$ both exponentially vanish unless $\ell(x, y)^2$ is of order t or less. Thus we can use normal coordinates z = x - y and use the expressions (1.3.38), (1.3.45) and (1.3.46), so that we can do the various integrations over z explicitly. For convenience, we have listed the relevant integrals in the appendix A. Now, eq. (2.1.57) may once more be rewritten (upon symmetrising the t_i) as

$$\begin{split} I_{\ominus} &= \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \\ &\times \left[- \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \, \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} K(t, x, y) \Big|_{t=t_3} + 2 \, K(t_2, x, y) K(t_3, x, y) \\ &+ 2 \, R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) K(t_3, x, y) \right] \\ &- \frac{e^{R_* t_3}}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \left[4 \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) K(t_2, x, y) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \right] \\ &+ c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A \Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) \Biggr\} \,. \end{split}$$

$$(2.1.61)$$

The last two terms are easy to compute. Similarly as previously, one may indeed safely replace

$$\frac{R_*}{A}e^{R_*t_3}\int \mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}y\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,x,y)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,y) = \frac{R_*}{A}\int \mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}y\,(\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 + \mathcal{O}\big((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2/\Lambda^2\big) ,$$
(2.1.62)

ending up with an A-independent term. It is also straightforward to get

$$\frac{e^{R_* t_3}}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) K(t_2, x, y) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\ln A\Lambda^2 - \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) + G_0 \right] + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2 / \Lambda^2) \,.$$
(2.1.63)

We consider next $R_* \int dx dy \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) K(t_3, x, y)$. For this integral, one only needs to keep the leading term in the small t_i expansion of $K(t_3, x, y)$ (1.3.45) and one can drop all terms $\mathcal{O}(t_i)$ or $\mathcal{O}(z^j)$ in the expansion of the $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_i, x, y)$ (1.3.45), or of $\sqrt{g_*}$

(1.3.38). The relevant integrals that multiply terms involving either \tilde{G}_{ζ} and/or $\ln \mu^2 t_3$ are all listed in the appendix A. Other integrals like $\int d^2 \tilde{z} e^{-\tilde{z}^2} E_1(\tilde{z}^2 \frac{t_3}{t_1}) E_1(\tilde{z}^2 \frac{t_3}{t_2})$ only contribute finite constants that only depend on ratios of the α_i . One gets

$$R_* \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) K(t_3, x, y) = \frac{R_*}{(4\pi)^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - \gamma \right]^2 - 2 \frac{AR_*}{(4\pi)^2} \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \ln A\Lambda^2 + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) \right].$$

$$(2.1.64)$$

We now consider the term in $\frac{d}{dt}K(t,x,y)|_{t=t_3}$. This term involves one more factor of t_3^{-1} than $K(t_3,x,y)$ in the previous computation (see (1.3.46)), so that one has to keep the terms $\mathcal{O}(t_i)$ or $\mathcal{O}(z^i z^j)$ in the expansions of $\widehat{K}(t_i,x,y)$. The computation is then quite lengthy but straightforward. Note that a term $\int dx \,\partial_i \widetilde{G}_{\zeta} \partial^i \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}$ appears. Integrating once more by parts and using (2.1.39), this equals $\int dx \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta} \Delta_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta} = \int dx \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0} \Delta_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}$. Since $\int dx \equiv \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*}$ scales as A and $\Delta_* = \frac{A_0}{A} \Delta_0$ this is once more an A-independent constant. Upon using the symmetry under exchange of the α_i , the result then is

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \,\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} K(t, x, y) \bigg|_{t=t_3} = -\frac{R_*}{(4\pi)^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - \gamma \right]^2 - \frac{2}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} \ln A\Lambda^2 - \frac{2}{(4\pi)^2} \left[\left(\frac{1}{6} - \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \right) AR_* - 4\pi \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 + A\Lambda^2 C(\alpha_i) + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) .$$
(2.1.65)

The constant $C(\alpha_i)$ is a rather complicated fonction of the α_i we choose not to explicitly display since it will be absorbed in the cosmological constant in the end. It comes indeed with the combination $A\Lambda^2$ (as allowed by the scaling argument (2.1.41)). Note that one might have expected a leading singularity $\sim A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$, due to the leading $\frac{1}{t_3^2}$ singularity of $\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{K}(t,x,y)\Big|_{t=t_3}$ multiplying the $\ln A\Lambda^2$ singularities from each of the two $\hat{\tilde{K}}(t_i,x,y)$. However, this leading term is multiplied by $\int d^2\tilde{z}e^{-\tilde{z}^2}(1-\tilde{z}^2)$ which vanishes. Thus the leading singularity is $\sim A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ as expected from naive power counting for the present two-loop diagrams.

To compute the last remaining integral, we use (1.3.38) and (1.3.45) to get

$$\sqrt{g_*(x)} K(t_2, x, y) K(t_3, x, y) = \frac{e^{-z^2/4T}}{(4\pi)^2 (t_2 + t_3)T} \left[1 + \frac{7}{6} R_*(t_2 + t_3) + \dots \right] , \quad (2.1.66)$$

where $T = \frac{t_2 t_3}{t_2 + t_3}$. Thus, one has once again to keep the terms $\mathcal{O}(t_1)$ or $\mathcal{O}(z^i z^j)$ in the

short-distance expansion of $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y)$. Doing the integrals over z results in

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) K(t_2, x, y) K(t_3, x, y) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} \left[\ln A\Lambda^2 + G_0 + \ln \frac{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3}{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 + \alpha_1 \alpha_3 + \alpha_2 \alpha_3} \right] \\ + \frac{AR_*}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{7}{6} - \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} \right) \ln A\Lambda^2 + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) , \quad (2.1.67)$$

so that one ends up with the following contribution from the setting sun diagram:

$$I_{\Theta} = \frac{1}{2\pi\kappa^2} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} R_* \int \mathrm{d}x \left[4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - \gamma \right]^2 + \frac{2A\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} \ln A\Lambda^2 \right. \\ \left. + \left[\left(\frac{4}{3} - \frac{2\alpha_1\alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 3\ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \right) AR_* - 12\pi \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 \right. \\ \left. + A\Lambda^2 C(\alpha_i) + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) \right\}.$$
(2.1.68)

The glasses diagram:

Expanding (2.1.32), one has

$$\begin{split} I_{\bigcirc\bigcirc} &= \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \left\{ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, y) \right. \\ & \left. \times \left[\left. -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \widetilde{K}(t, x, y) \right|_{t=t_2} + 2R_* \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) + R_*^2 \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \right] \right. \\ & \left. + 2 \left(\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \right) \left(\widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, y) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widetilde{K}(t_3, y, y) \right) \right. \\ & \left. + 4 \, \widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \widetilde{K}(t_3, y, y) \right\} \,. \quad (2.1.69) \end{split}$$

However, $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x)$ does not depend of x and the only dependence in x in $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, x)$ is $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$ (cf (1.3.47)). Then, using (1.3.44), and since $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)\Big|_{t=t_2}$, $\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y)$ and $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y)$ have no zero-mode, the last two lines vanish and one gets

$$I_{\bigcirc\bigcirc} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \left[\left. -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \widetilde{K}(t,x,y) \right|_{t=t_2} + 2R_* \widetilde{K}(t_2,x,y) + R_*^2 \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,y) \right].$$
(2.1.70)

Using the by now familiar argument of replacing the $\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y)$ by $\widetilde{G}(x, y)$, one sees that the last term is just an A-independent constant. Indeed,

$$R_*^2 \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) = R_*^2 \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \widetilde{G}(x, y) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) + \mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2)$$
$$= R_*^2 \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) \widetilde{G}(x, y) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(y) + \mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2)$$
(2.1.71)

where we once again used $\int dx \, \widetilde{G}(x,y) = \int dy \, \widetilde{G}(x,y) = 0$, together with (2.1.39). Since $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}$ and \widetilde{G} do not depend on A, this term is just another A-independent constant, up to vanishing terms.

Writing once more $\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) = K(t_2, x, y) - \frac{e^{R_* t_2}}{A}$, we compute

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y)\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) = \int \mathrm{d}x \left[\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^2(x)(1 + R_* t_2) - t_2 \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\Delta_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\right] \\ - \frac{e^{R_* t_2}}{A} \left(\int \mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y)\right)^2 + \mathcal{O}(t_2^2) \,. \quad (2.1.72)$$

Note that we also keep the subleading terms ~ t_2 since the remaining term in (2.1.70) is simply obtained by taking $-\frac{d}{dt_2}$ of (2.1.72). These subleading terms in (2.1.72) yield the finite terms of

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_2} \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) = \int \mathrm{d}x \, \left[R_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^2(x) - \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \Delta_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \right] \\ - \frac{R_*}{A} \left(\int \mathrm{d}y \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right)^2 + \mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2) \,. \quad (2.1.73)$$

As previously seen, $\int dx G_{\zeta} \Delta_* G_{\zeta}$ is an A-independent term, so that

$$I_{O\circ O} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \left\{ R_* \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^2(x) - \frac{R_*}{A} \left(\int \mathrm{d}y \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right)^2 + c + \mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2) \right\}$$
$$= \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \left\{ c + \mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2) \right\}, \qquad (2.1.74)$$

where we used again (2.1.39) to show that the explicitly written finite terms do not depend on A.

It is satisfying that this diagram does not give any non-trivial contribution. Indeed, we expect that the propagator connecting the two loops should carry zero "momentum" and, since no zero-mode is present, we expect to obtain zero. The absence of a zeromode, of course, was the reason that the $\widehat{K}(t_i, x, x)$ could be replaced by $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$, and similarly for y. However, on a non-trivial manifold $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$ is not constant, and the overall contribution does not need to vanish. We also note that each individual integral is finite and area-independent, in agreement with our general argument that A can only appear in the combination $A\Lambda^2$: only divergent integrals can give an area dependence.

Summing the two-loop and measure diagrams

Summing the contributions of the four diagrams, we find the two-loop contribution for the logarithm of the partition function:

$$W^{(2)}[A]|_{\text{loops}} = I_{\bigcirc} + I_{\bigcirc} + I_{\ominus} + I_{\bigcirc} - \frac{1}{2\pi\kappa^{2}} \left\{ \left[\frac{2A\Lambda^{2}}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}} - \frac{5A\Lambda^{2}}{2\alpha_{1}} + AR_{*} \left(\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2})^{2}} - 2\frac{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2})^{2}} - \frac{19}{12} \right) - 2\pi \right] \ln A\Lambda^{2} + A\Lambda^{2} C(\alpha_{i}) + c(\alpha_{i}) + \mathcal{O}(\left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2}/\Lambda^{2}) \right\}, \quad (2.1.75)$$

where $C(\alpha_i)$ and $c(\alpha_i)$ are finite area-independent but regulator-dependent "constants". Quite remarkably, the $R_* \int dx \left(4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - \gamma\right)^2$ terms and thus the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ divergences appear in exactly the right combination in I_{\bigcirc} and I_{\ominus} to cancel in $W^{(2)}$.

The cancellation of these $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ -terms is equivalent to the cancellation of the $\int R(\tilde{G}_{\zeta})^2$ terms. As we have observed in section 1.4 in the previous chapter, the presence of these terms in the logarithm of the partition function would have ruined its background independence. Thus, it is this cancellation which ensures the background independence of the fixed-area partition function! Indeed, the remaining structures $R\tilde{G}_{\zeta}$ and $\frac{1}{A}\int \tilde{G}_{\zeta}$ were shown to be background independent, up to irrelevant area-independent terms. Finally, $\Lambda^2 \int \tilde{G}_{\zeta}$ is background independent modulo adjusting the divergent cosmological constant.

To simplify the notation, we define

$$F(\alpha_i) = 8\pi (1-h) \left(\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 2 \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - \frac{19}{12} \right) - 2\pi ,$$

$$H(\alpha_i) = \frac{2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{5}{2\alpha_1} .$$
(2.1.76)

If we normalize with respect to A_0 , i.e we compute $\ln \frac{Z[A]}{Z[A_0]}$, we get

$$W^{(2)}[A]|_{\text{loops}} - W^{(2)}[A_0]|_{\text{loops}} = \frac{1}{2\pi\kappa^2} \Big(A\Lambda^2 H(\alpha_i) + F(\alpha_i) \Big) \ln \frac{A}{A_0} \\ + \frac{(A - A_0)\Lambda^2}{2\pi\kappa^2} C(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) . \quad (2.1.77)$$

The last line corresponds to a cosmological constant term, and we may always add a corresponding counterterm to the quantum gravity action to cancel this term. The first line displays an $\ln \frac{A}{A_0}$ -term, as expected, although with a rather complicated, regulator dependent coefficient, as well as a diverging term $\sim A\Lambda^2 \ln \frac{A}{A_0}$. The latter term is certainly not expected to occur. It is non-local, and it cannot be cancelled by any local *two-loop* counterterm. At this point it is useful to mention that the KPZ result is, see

(2.1.1),

$$\left[W^{(2)}[A] - W^{(2)}[A_0]\right]\Big|_{\rm KPZ} = \frac{2}{\kappa^2}(1-h)\ln\frac{A}{A_0} - \mu_c^2(A-A_0) \ . \tag{2.1.78}$$

Clearly, as in any quantum field theory, the contributions at order κ^{-2} do not only come from two-loop diagrams, but also from tree and one-loop diagrams involving counterterms. Of course, there is no "vacuum tree-diagram" and the only "tree" contribution is the cosmological constant counterterm we already mentioned. However, the various *n*-point functions at one loop (that are $\sim \kappa^{-n}$) are also divergent quantities and, to make them finite, one has to introduce various "one-loop" counterterm *n*-point vertices that will be of order κ^{-n} . In particular, there will be a quadratic counterterm vertex needed to make the renormalized propagator finite, and the one-loop diagram made with this counterterm vertex will contribute at order κ^{-2} to the partition function. Thus, our next task is to determine this counterterm. This will involve the one-loop computation of the two-point function.

2.1.3 Counterterm contribution to the partition function

Any divergence in $W[A]|_{\text{loops}}$ that is simply proportional to the area A (and hence also to Λ^2) can be cancelled by a counterterm of the form $\int d^2x \sqrt{g_*}\Lambda^2 \left(c_i \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} + c_i\right)$, referred to as cosmological constant. Also, any A-independent constants drop out when computing $\ln \frac{Z[A]}{Z[A_0]} = W[A] - W[A_0]$ and are thus irrelevant. However, the divergences $\sim \Lambda^2 \int dy \, 4\pi \tilde{G}_{\zeta} = A\Lambda^2 (\ln \frac{A}{A_0} + c)$ are non-local divergences. Of course, they cannot be cancelled by any local two-loop counterterm. However, they can be cancelled by one-loop diagrams involving local (one-loop) counterterm vertices. The same thing happens on a four-dimensional curved manifold with non-derivative ϕ^3 and ϕ^4 couplings [53]. At present, the only such one-loop contribution to the partition function comes from a diagram having a single propagator connecting the two legs of the counterterm vertex that itself is $\sim \frac{1}{\kappa^2}$. This is very similar to the diagram coming from the measure and can thus be seen as renormalizing the measure. In particular, the measure resulted in a vertex $\sim \int dx \, \tilde{K}(t,x,x) \tilde{\phi}^2(x)$ where $\tilde{K}(t,x,x) = \frac{\Lambda^2}{4\pi\alpha} + \frac{7}{24\pi}R_* - \frac{1}{A} + \ldots$ is a constant. Thus any counterterm that looks like an (unwanted) mass renormalization can actually be interpreted as a renormalization of the measure. We thus allow a counterterm action of the form

$$S_{\rm ct} = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[\frac{c_\phi}{2} \widetilde{\phi} (\Delta_* - R_*) \widetilde{\phi} + \frac{c_R}{2} R_* \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{c_m}{2} \widetilde{\phi}^2 \right] . \tag{2.1.79}$$

Note that a linear counterterm automatically vanishes since ϕ has no zero-mode, and higher counterterm vertices only contribute within two-loop vacuum diagrams that are $\sim \frac{1}{\kappa^4}$ (see section 2.2.3). The counterterm coefficients can obviously depend on the cutoff Λ and on the regularization functions $\varphi(\alpha)$. They also have an expansion in powers of $\frac{1}{\kappa}$. Due to the explicit factor of $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ in front of the counterterm action, we will only be interested here in the lowest order, κ -independent pieces. Note that in terms of the

original $\hat{\phi}$ they are of order $\kappa^0 \hat{\phi}^2$, consistent with the fact that these terms originate at one loop. The dependence on Λ is again dictated by dimensional considerations: c_{ϕ} and c_R must be dimensionless and will correspond to at most logarithmic divergences, while c_m has dimension of Λ^2 and corresponds to an at most quadratic (times a log) divergence. Then, with $\int d\alpha_i \varphi(\alpha_i)$ implicitly understood⁴, one has:

$$c_{\phi}(\Lambda, \alpha_{i}) = c_{\phi}^{(1)}(\alpha_{i}) \ln A\Lambda^{2} + c_{\phi}^{(2)}(\alpha_{i}) ,$$

$$c_{R}(\Lambda, \alpha_{i}) = c_{R}^{(1)}(\alpha_{i}) \ln A\Lambda^{2} + c_{R}^{(2)}(\alpha_{i}) ,$$

$$c_{m}(\Lambda, \alpha_{i}) = c_{m}^{(1)}(\alpha_{i}) \Lambda^{2} \ln A\Lambda^{2} + c_{m}^{(2)}(\alpha_{i}) \Lambda^{2} + c_{m}^{(3)}(\alpha_{i}) \frac{1}{A} .$$
 (2.1.80)

Note that counterterms involving explicitly the area A like $c_{\phi}^{(1)}$, $c_{R}^{(1)}$, $c_{m}^{(1)}$ and $c_{m}^{(3)}$ are non-local counterterms that should not occur in any standard QFT. However, we have already observed the similarity between the counterterms and the measure action. The latter actually corresponds to some well-defined values of $c_{m}^{(2)}$, $c_{R}^{(2)}$ and $c_{m}^{(3)}$, so that a non-vanishing counterterm coefficient $c_{m}^{(3)}$ is certainly allowed.

Of course, the counterterm action (2.1.79) cannot be expressed in terms of geometric invariants written using only the metric g and curvature R, contrary to the cosmological constant $\sim \int d^2x \sqrt{g}$. This is why it is often considered that such counterterms should not be allowed. However, as repeatedly emphasized, the whole quantization procedure is carried out with respect to some fixed background metric g_* and already the original Liouville action cannot be written in terms of g and R alone but requires reference to the background metric. As discussed before, the real question is whether the whole quantization procedure is independent of the choice of the background metric. As argued in the section 1.4 of the previous chapter, discussing the background independence of the counterterm action (2.1.79) (or of the measure plus counterterm action) is pointless. Indeed, it misses the crucial contributions from the regularization of the two-loop integrals. Thus, as already stated, we will instead study the background (in)dependence of the final contributions to the logarithm of the fixed-area partition function $W^{(2)}[A]$.

The one-loop diagram with the counterterm vertex that follows from (2.1.79) gives a contribution $W^{(2)}[A]|_{ct}$ to be added to (2.1.75) that is

$$W^{(2)}[A]\Big|_{\text{ct}} = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int dx \left[-\frac{c_{\phi}}{2} \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) - \left(\frac{c_R}{2} R_* + \frac{c_m}{2}\right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, x) \right]$$
(2.1.81)
$$= -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \left[c_{\phi} \left(\frac{A\Lambda^2}{\alpha} + \frac{7}{6} R_* A - 4\pi \right) + (c_R R_* A + c_m A) \left(G_0 + \ln \frac{A\Lambda^2}{A_0 \mu^2} - \ln \alpha \right) \right] ,$$

where we used the small t expansions (1.3.47) of $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x)$ and $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, x)$, as well as the relation (2.1.53) and the definition (2.1.54) for G_0 .

Before actually computing the counterterm coefficients in the next subsection, let us discuss what are the "desired" values of the c_{ϕ}, c_R and c_m . In particular, the non-local

⁴This means that if any given $c(\alpha_i)$ depends on any given number of α_i , $i = 1, \ldots r$, one should really think of it as $c[\varphi] = \int_0^\infty d\alpha_1 \ldots d\alpha_r \varphi(\alpha_1) \ldots \varphi(\alpha_r) c(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_r).$

terms ~ $A\Lambda^2(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ and ~ $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ are absent from $W^{(2)}[A]|_{\text{loops}}$, as given in (2.1.75) and, hence, should also be absent from (2.1.81). It is easy to see that this implies

$$c_m^{(1)} = c_R^{(1)} = 0$$
 , (desired values) . (2.1.82)

Below, we will indeed find that $c_m^{(1)} = c_R^{(1)} = 0$, as well as $c_{\phi}^{(1)} = 0$. Anticipating (2.1.82), as well as

$$c_{\phi}^{(1)} = 0 \ , \tag{2.1.83}$$

eq. (2.1.81) becomes

$$W^{(2)}[A]\Big|_{\rm ct} = -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \left\{ c_m^{(2)} A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 + \left[c_m^{(3)} + c_R^{(2)} R_* A \right] \ln A \Lambda^2 + \left[\frac{c_{\phi}^{(2)}}{\alpha} + c_m^{(2)} \left(G_0 - \ln A_0 \mu^2 - \ln \alpha \right) \right] A \Lambda^2 \right\} + c_{\rm ct}(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}(\ln A \Lambda^2 / \Lambda^2) , \quad (2.1.84)$$

where $c_{\rm ct}(\alpha_i)$ is some A-independent finite function of the α_i . The terms in the second line are either ~ A and can again be changed by adding an additional cosmological constant counterterm, or irrelevant area-independent constants. If one adds (2.1.84) to (2.1.75), one gets

$$W^{(2)}[A]\Big|_{\text{loops}} + W^{(2)}[A]\Big|_{\text{ct}} = -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \left\{ \left[-\frac{1}{2\pi} H(\alpha_i) + c_m^{(2)} \right] A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \left[-\frac{1}{2\pi} F(\alpha_i) + c_m^{(3)} + c_R^{(2)} R_* A \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 \right\} + A\Lambda^2 [\dots] + c(\alpha_i) + c_{\text{ct}}(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) .$$
(2.1.85)

We see that $c_{\phi}^{(2)}$ only enters in the cosmological constant part and, hence, does not play any role. Cancellation of the $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ terms requires

$$c_m^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2\pi} H(\alpha_i) . \qquad (2.1.86)$$

Finally, the "physical" coefficient of $\ln A\Lambda^2$ should not depend on the choice of the regulator functions $\varphi(\alpha_i)$, which requires

$$c_m^{(3)} + c_R^{(2)} R_* A \equiv c_m^{(3)} + 8\pi (1-h) c_R^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2\pi} F(\alpha_i) + \text{const} , \qquad (2.1.87)$$

where const is a true, α_i -independent constant. One could be tempted to equate separately the terms proportional to $R_*A \sim (1-h)$ and those not involving the curvature, resulting in "universal", genus-independent counterterm coefficients. But since we compute on a surface of fixed genus h, this does not really make sense. In any case, it is
satisfying to remark that, with the possible exception of $c_m^{(3)}$, the non-local counterterms $c_{\phi}^{(1)}$, $c_m^{(1)}$ and $c_R^{(1)}$ are not required!

Let us come back to the issue of background independence. As one sees from (2.1.81), the counterterms can only give rise to contributions in $W^{(2)}$ that involve at most one \tilde{G}_{ζ} (contained in G_0). This is obvious since the counterterm action is quadratic in ϕ and the resulting one-loop diagrams involve at most one \hat{K} giving rise to one \tilde{G}_{ζ} . For this same reason, only $\ln A\Lambda^2$ appears in $W_{ct}^{(2)}$, and not $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ as did appear in the individual two-loop diagrams. While one could obtain a contribution to $W_{ct}^{(2)}$ involving $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ by allowing a non-local counterterm coefficient $c_R^{(1)}$, there is no way to produce a term $\sim R(\tilde{G}_{\zeta})^2$. For the total two-loop contribution to $W^{(2)}$, the absence of $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ was equivalent to the absence of $R(\tilde{G}_{\zeta})^2$ terms. The latter would have violated background independence and, as just shown, it could not have been cancelled by counterterms. We see that the absence of non-local counterterm coefficients is a consequence of background independence of the fixed-area two-loop partition function $W^{(2)}$!

After all these considerations, it is now time to actually compute the counterterm coefficients. Remarkably, we will find that they satisfy all desired relations, in particular (2.1.86) and (2.1.87), which are quite non-trivial.

2.1.4 One-loop computation of the two-point function and determination of the counterterm coefficients

To actually determine the counterterms, one must do a one-loop computation of the twopoint Green's function and impose some convenient renormalization conditions to not only cancel the diverging parts but to also ensure the result to be regulator independent. Doing so will constrain the finite contributions.

Note that in ordinary flat space quantum field theory one does not need to compute the full two-point Green's function $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$. Instead one rather computes the amputated or 1PI (which is the same at one loop) two-point function in momentum space. The corresponding contribution of the counterterms can then be read directly from the counterterm action. The analogue of such a momentum space computation is not available, in general, on a curved manifold,⁵ and one has to do the computation directly in real space. In this case it seems that the simplest way to correctly take into account all contributions is to compute $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$.

We will compute the regularized⁶ two-point function $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ which we define so that

⁵The analogue of momentum space is the mode decomposition with respect to the eigenfunctions $\psi_r(x)$ of Δ , replacing the plane waves e^{ipx} . An important property is momentum conservation that follows from $\int dx e^{i(p_1+p_2+p_3)} \sim \delta(p_1+p_2+p_3)$. On a curved manifold one then needs the $C_{rst} = \int dx \psi_r \psi_s \psi_t$, etc. While on the round sphere, where the ψ_r are the spherical harmonics, the C_{rst} are the well-known Clebch-Gordan coefficients, on the higher genus surfaces much less is known about the C_{rst} and things are much more complicated.

⁶Contrary to what we did at tree-level where we used \widetilde{G} and \widetilde{K} , resp $\widetilde{G}_{\varphi,\Lambda}$ to denote the Green's function and its regularized version, here we just write $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}$ since we will always deal with the regularized two-point function.

2.1. TWO-LOOP LANDSCAPE

at tree-level it is just $\hat{\widetilde{K}}(t, u, v)$. At order κ^{-2} it receives one-loop Liouville contributions and tree-level contributions from the measure and the counterterms:

$$\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v) = \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,u,v) + \mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v) \Big|_{\mathrm{L}}^{1-\mathrm{loop}} + \mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v) \Big|_{\mathrm{measure}}^{\mathrm{tree}} + \mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v) \Big|_{\mathrm{ct}}^{\mathrm{tree}} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-4}) .$$
(2.1.88)

A first renormalization condition one clearly wants to impose on this full 2-point function is finiteness if $u \neq v$:

For
$$u \neq v$$
 : $\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} \mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ is finite. (2.1.89)

As will be shown, this condition indeed fixes all diverging parts of the counterterm coefficients, *i.e.* $c_{\phi}^{(1)}$, $c_{R}^{(1)}$, $c_{m}^{(1)}$, as well as $c_{m}^{(2)}$. It turns out to be surprisingly difficult to find a sensible renormalization condition to

It turns out to be surprisingly difficult to find a sensible renormalization condition to fix the finite parts of $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}$ and thus the finite parts of the counterterm coefficients. The trouble is that there is no analogue of a renormalization condition at some particular value of momentum. The only natural choice seems to be zero momentum, corresponding to the zero-mode of the two-point function. But $\int du \, \mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v) = 0$ automatically, and this condition is empty. Instead, one might be tempted to try to impose some condition at u = v like e.g.

For
$$u = v$$
 : $\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} \left[\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, u) - \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, u, u) \right] \stackrel{?}{=} 0$. (2.1.90)

However, this doesn't make sense either. Indeed, the divergence of $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v)$ as $u \to v$ will turn out to be different from the one of $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,u,v)$: there are additional diverging and additional finite terms. As a matter of fact, absence of the diverging terms would require a non-vanishing counterterm coefficient $c_{\phi}^{(1)}$, which will be excluded by requiring finiteness of the two-point function at $u \neq v$. Independently of this, the difference of the finite terms also makes it impossible to impose (2.1.90).

Actually, this "problem" was to be expected. The usual renormalization of the twopoint function at some finite value of momentum, or equivalently at non-coinciding points, does not, of course yield a finite two-point function at coinciding points, nor does it imply that the loop and counterterm contributions to the two-point function vanish at coinciding points. This is the translation of the fact that to define composite operators like $(\tilde{\phi}(u))^2$ one needs an independent renormalization constant. Of course, in any ordinary flat-space quantum field theory the finite parts of the counterterm coefficients can be changed by changing the renormalization conditions – this freedom being at the origin of the renormalization group. Hence, one should probably accept that one cannot (completely) fix the finite parts of our counterterm coefficients. In particular, this implies that, at the two-loop level, the finite coefficient of $\ln \frac{A}{A_0}$ in $W^{(2)}[A] - W^{(2)}[A_0]$ is a parameter that can be adjusted!

The computation of the regularized two-point function $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ for $u \neq v$ is displayed hereafter. Then, the result for the case of u = v is briefly discussed. To keep this subsection readable, many computational details are deferred to the appendix B.1.

2.1. TWO-LOOP LANDSCAPE

Counterterm contributions

The regularized counterterm contribution to $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v)$ is easy to write down, since it only involves two regularized propagators $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x)$ and $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v)$ connected by the counterterm vertex as given by (2.1.79):

$$\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v)\Big|_{\mathrm{ct}} = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \Big[-\frac{c_{\phi}}{2} \Big(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widetilde{K}(t_2,x,v) + \widetilde{K}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,v) \Big) \\ -(c_m + c_R R_*) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,v) \Big] .$$
(2.1.91)

The counterterm coefficients are now assumed to have the general form (2.1.80), without any further assumptions. Note that, while c_{ϕ} and c_R involve at most an $\ln A\Lambda^2$ divergence, the coefficient c_m could have a $\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ divergence. This means that, in order to compute the finite contributions, one should keep terms in $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v)$ that are $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2)$. (This is one of the reasons why all external propagators must also consistently be replaced by the regularized ones.) Thanks to (1.3.27), one directly reads:

$$\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v)\Big|_{\text{ct}} = -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} c_{\phi} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1 + t_2, u, v)$$

$$-\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} (c_m + c_R R) \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v) \,.$$
(2.1.92)

Now, one needs to distinguish two cases. For $u \neq v$ the function $\widetilde{K}(t, u, v)$ is non-singular for $t \to 0$. More precisely, it equals $\widetilde{G}(u, v)$ plus terms that are either exponentially small or of order $1/\Lambda^2$. Since c_{ϕ} is at most logarithmically divergent, one may replace $c_{\phi} \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1 + t_2, u, v)$ by $c_{\phi} \widetilde{G}(u, v)$ up to terms that vanish as $\Lambda \to \infty$. Thus,

$$\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v)\Big|_{\mathrm{ct}} = -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} c_{\phi} \widetilde{G}(u,v) - \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} (c_m + c_R R) \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,v) + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) , \quad \text{for } u \neq v .$$
(2.1.93)

We see that the finite $\mathcal{O}(\Lambda^0)$ parts of c_m and c_R , *i.e.* $c_R^{(2)}$ and $c_m^{(3)}$ only give finite contributions to $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}\Big|_{ct}$. Hence, to determine them, one needs to obtain the finite $\mathcal{O}(\Lambda^0)$ terms in $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}\Big|_{L}^{1-\text{loop}}$ and in $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}\Big|_{\text{measure}}^{\text{tree}}$.

For u = v however, $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1 + t_2, u, u)$ is divergent when $t_i \to 0$, so that:

$$\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,u)\Big|_{\mathrm{ct}} = -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} c_{\phi} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1+t_2,u,u) \\ -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} (c_m+c_R R) \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,u) . \qquad (2.1.94)$$

Note that the integral is a finite smooth function of u even in the limit $t_i \rightarrow 0$. However, as mentioned above, one needs to keep the t_i finite, since the subleading terms, multiplied with the divergent pieces from c_m , can lead to finite contributions.

Total "one-loop" contribution to $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ for $u \neq v$

We will now determine the "one-loop", *i.e.* all order $1/\kappa^2$ contributions to $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$. There are three one-loop diagrams contributing to $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$. They are $-\bigcirc$, $-\bigcirc$ and

 \bigcirc (including the regularized external propagators). These diagrams contribute at the same order $\sim \frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ as the tree contribution from the measure vertex and the one from the counterterms. The counterterm contribution has been determined above in (2.1.93). The computation of the three two-point one-loop diagrams is quite lengthy, mainly due to the non-symmetric nature of the cubic and quartic vertices. This implies that there are many different contributions to each diagram. The details of the computation are deferred to the appendix B.1 where the results for the three one-loop diagrams are given in (B.1.11), (B.1.15) and (B.1.21) and for the measure contribution in (B.1.22).

First however, we want to highlight the fact that the case u = v and $u \neq v$ have to be considered separately. Indeed, the \bigcirc diagram for example involves terms such as $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x)\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y)\widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4, y, v)$. The terms $\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y)$ and $\widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y)$ force xand y to be close, due to $e^{-\frac{\ell^2(x,y)}{4}(\frac{1}{t_2}+\frac{1}{t_3})}$. For $u \neq v$, we can assume $\ell^2(u, v) \gg \frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$, so that we can safely consider that x is not close to both u and v and, hence, Taylor expand:

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) = \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, y) + (x - y)^i \partial_y^i \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, y) + \frac{1}{2} (x - y)^i (x - y)^j \partial_y^i \partial_y^j \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, y) + \dots$$
(2.1.95)

This expansion is only valid as long as $\ell^2(u, x) \sim \ell^2(u, y) \gg \frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$, so that $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x)$ is a smooth function of x in the vicinity of y. This is no longer the case if $y \to u$. In particular, if $\ell^2(u, x) \sim \ell^2(u, y) \sim \frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$, all terms in the expansion (2.1.95) are similarly large. If $u \to v$, this occurs, as it will it is discussed in more details in the appendix of [56] and in the appendix C for the three-loop computation.

2.1. TWO-LOOP LANDSCAPE

We now add the contributions of the three one-loop diagrams (B.1.11), (B.1.15), (B.1.21) and the measure contribution (B.1.22), as well as the counterterm contribution (2.1.93). As before, since these expressions have to be multiplied with $\int d\alpha_i \varphi(\alpha_i)$ for every α_i , we may symmetrize all expressions in α_i . We get

$$\begin{split} & \left(\mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{O}-v}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\tilde{Q}-v}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\tilde{Q}-v}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\tilde{Q}-v}^{(2)}\right)(u,v) \\ &= \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ 4\,\tilde{G}(u,v) \left[\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} - 1 - \frac{2\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} - 2\pi c_{\phi}^{(1)} \ln A\Lambda^2 - 2\pi c_{\phi}^{(2)} \right] \\ &+ 8\pi \,\tilde{G}(u,v) \left[\tilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) + \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(v) - \frac{2}{A} \int dx \,\tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \right] - \frac{8\pi}{A} \int dx \left[\tilde{G}(u,x) + \tilde{G}(x,v) \right] \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \\ &+ 4 \int dx \,\tilde{\tilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \tilde{\tilde{K}}(t_4,x,v) \left[\frac{2\Lambda^2}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} - \frac{5\Lambda^2}{2\alpha_2} - 2\pi c_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 - 2\pi c_m^{(2)} \Lambda^2 \\ &+ R_* \left(\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} - \frac{19}{12} - \frac{2\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} - 2\pi c_R^{(1)} \ln A\Lambda^2 - 2\pi c_R^{(2)} \right) \\ &- \frac{2\pi}{A} \left(5 + c_m^{(3)} \right) + 2\pi R_* \left(\tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int dy \,\tilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right) \Biggr] \\ &+ 8\pi \left[(\tilde{G}(u,v))^2 - \frac{1}{A} \int dx \, (\tilde{G}(u,x))^2 - \frac{1}{A} \int dx \, (\tilde{G}(x,v))^2 + \frac{1}{A^2} \int dx dy \, (\tilde{G}(x,y))^2 \right] \\ &- \frac{16\pi R_*}{A} \int dx \left[(\tilde{G}(u,x))^2 \,\tilde{G}(x,v) + \tilde{G}(u,x) (\tilde{G}(x,v))^2 \right] \\ &- \frac{8\pi R_*}{A} \int dx \left[(\tilde{G}(u,x)) \tilde{G}(x,y) \tilde{G}(y,v) - \frac{8\pi R_*}{A} \int dx dy \, (\tilde{G}(x,y))^2 \left[\tilde{G}(u,x) + \tilde{G}(y,v) \right] \\ &+ 8\pi R_* \tilde{G}(u,v) \int dx \, \left(\tilde{G}(u,x) + \tilde{G}(v,x) \right) \int dy \,\tilde{G}(x,y) \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \\ &+ 8\pi R_*^2 \int dx dy \, \left[\tilde{G}(u,x) \, (\tilde{G}(x,y))^2 \,\tilde{G}(y,v) + \tilde{G}(u,x) \tilde{G}(x,v) \tilde{G}(x,y) \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right] \Biggr\} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) \, . \end{split}$$

Finiteness requires

$$c_{\phi}^{(1)} = c_m^{(1)} = c_R^{(1)} = 0 \quad , \quad c_m^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} - \frac{5}{2\alpha_2} \right) \; .$$
 (2.1.97)

These are exactly the "desired values" (2.1.82), (2.1.83) and (2.1.86). In particular, the value of $c_m^{(2)}$ is exactly what is needed to cancel the divergent two-loop contributions in $W[A] = \ln Z[A]$! As explained above, the value (2.1.97) for $c_m^{(2)}$ really means that $c_m^{(2)}[\varphi] = \int_0^\infty d\alpha_2 d\alpha_3 \varphi(\alpha_2) \varphi(\alpha_3) \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} - \frac{5}{2\alpha_2}\right)$.

2.1. TWO-LOOP LANDSCAPE

Next, since there are no more divergent coefficients, one may now safely replace the $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, y)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4, y, v)$ by the regulator independent $\widetilde{G}(u, y)\widetilde{G}(y, v)$. We moreover require that the Green's function $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ should not depend at all on the regulator functions $\varphi(\alpha)$, *i.e.* that (2.1.96) should not depend on the α_i . This yields

$$c_{\phi}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left[\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} - 1 - \frac{2\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} \right] + \hat{c}_{\phi} , \qquad (2.1.98)$$

$$c_{R}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left[\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_{2} \alpha_{3}}{(\alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3})^{2}} - \frac{19}{12} - \frac{2\alpha_{2} \alpha_{3}}{(\alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3})^{2}} \right] + \frac{\widehat{c}_{R}}{2\pi} , \qquad (2.1.99)$$

$$c_m^{(3)} = \hat{c}_m , \qquad (2.1.100)$$

where \hat{c}_{ϕ} , \hat{c}_R and \hat{c}_m are true (α_i -independent, Λ -independent) constants. With these values of the counterterm coefficients, eq. (2.1.96) reduces to

$$\begin{split} & \left(\mathcal{G}_{u-\mathbb{O}-v}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u\,\underline{\bigcirc}\,v}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u\,\underline{\bigcirc}\,v}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{ct}^{(2)}\right)(u,v) \\ &= \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Bigg\{ -8\pi\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\,\widetilde{G}(u,v) \\ &+ 8\pi\,\widetilde{G}(u,v) \left[\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(v) - \frac{2}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \right] - \frac{8\pi}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\, \left[\widetilde{G}(u,x) + \widetilde{G}(x,v) \right] \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \\ &+ 8\pi\,\int \mathrm{d}x\,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}(x,v) \left[-\frac{\widehat{c}_m + 5}{A} + R_* \left(-\frac{\widehat{c}_R}{2\pi} + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}y\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right) \right] \\ &+ 8\pi \left[(\widetilde{G}(u,v))^2 - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\,(\widetilde{G}(u,x))^2 - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\,(\widetilde{G}(x,v))^2 + \frac{1}{A^2} \int \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y\,(\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 \right] \\ &+ 8\pi R_* \int \mathrm{d}x\,\left[(\widetilde{G}(u,x))^2\,\widetilde{G}(x,v) + \widetilde{G}(u,x)(\widetilde{G}(x,v))^2 \right] \\ &- \frac{16\pi R_*}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y\,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}(x,y)\widetilde{G}(y,v) - \frac{8\pi R_*}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y\,(\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 \left[\widetilde{G}(u,x) + \widetilde{G}(y,v) \right] \\ &+ 8\pi R_*\,\widetilde{G}(u,v) \int \mathrm{d}x\,\left(\widetilde{G}(u,x) + \widetilde{G}(v,x) \right) \int \mathrm{d}y\,\widetilde{G}(x,y)\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \\ &+ 8\pi R_*^2 \int \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y\,\left[\widetilde{G}(u,x)\,(\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2\,\widetilde{G}(y,v) + \widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}(x,v)\widetilde{G}(x,v)\widetilde{G}(x,y)\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right] \Bigg\} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) \ , \end{split}$$

which now is finite and completely regulator independent. As a consistency check, we note that this expression correctly vanishes if integrated over du or over dv.

There seems to be no obvious way to fix the remaining constants \hat{c}_{ϕ} , \hat{c}_R and \hat{c}_m without imposing some definite value for $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ at some fixed u, v. As already discussed, imposing a condition at u = v does not help since in this case new divergences appear that have to be renormalized independently. In any case, our expression (2.1.101) is only valid for $u \neq v$.

Total "one-loop" contribution to $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, u)$

To explicitly see which are the new divergences and finite terms that appear for u = v, we now quote the result for the total one-loop plus counterterm contributions to the twopoint function at coinciding points u = v. This case involves some interesting technical difficulties, similar to some one encounters in the three-loop computation and which are discussed in the appendix C. Since we do not use the expression of $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, u)$ any further we do not spell out the computation and only give the result:

$$\begin{split} & \left(\mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{Q}-u}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{Q}-u}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{Q}-u}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{Q}-u}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{Q}-u}^{(2)} + \mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{Q}-u}^{(2)} \right) (u, u) \\ &= \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ 8\pi \, \tilde{K}(t_i, u, u) \, \tilde{K}(t_j, u, u) + 4\pi \, [\hat{c}_1(\alpha_i) - 2 \, c_{\phi}] \, \tilde{K}(t_i + t_j, u, u) + \hat{c}_2(\alpha_i) \\ &\quad + 16\pi \, \tilde{K}(t_1 + t_4, u, u) \, \Big[\tilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) - \frac{1}{A} \int dx \, \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + R_* \, \int dx \, \tilde{G}(u, x) \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \Big] \\ &\quad + 4 \int dx \, \tilde{K}(t_1, u, x) \, \tilde{K}(t_4, x, u) \, \Big[\frac{2\Lambda^2}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} - \frac{5\Lambda^2}{2\alpha_2} - 2\pi c_m \\ &\quad + R_* \Big(\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} - \frac{2\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} - \frac{19}{12} - 2\pi c_R \Big) \Big] \\ &- \frac{56\pi}{A} \int dx \, (\tilde{G}(u, x))^2 - \frac{16\pi}{A} \int dx \, \tilde{G}(u, x) \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \frac{8\pi}{A^2} \int dx dy \, (\tilde{G}(x, y))^2 \\ &\quad + 16\pi R_* \int dx \, (\tilde{G}(u, x))^3 + 8\pi R_* \int dx \, (\tilde{G}(u, x))^2 \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \\ &- \frac{16\pi R_*}{A} \int dx dy \, \Big[\tilde{G}(u, x) \tilde{G}(x, y) \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) + (\tilde{G}(u, x))^2 \, \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \\ &\quad + 8\pi R_*^2 \int dx dy \, \Big[\tilde{G}(u, x) \, (\tilde{G}(x, y))^2 \, \tilde{G}(y, u) + (\tilde{G}(u, x))^2 \, \tilde{G}(x, y) \, \tilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \Big] \Biggr\} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) \, . \end{split}$$

Here, $\hat{c}_1(\alpha_i)$ and $\hat{c}_2(\alpha_i)$ are finite coefficients that we did not determine. Using the sums given in the appendix C we could compute them explicitly. However, this will not give us any further information about the counterterms. Indeed, as discussed above, one should not expect finiteness of $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, u)$ or that it equals $\hat{\widetilde{K}}(t, u, u)$ as $\Lambda \to \infty$. The first term in (2.1.102), *i.e.* $2\hat{\widetilde{K}}(t_i, u, u)\hat{\widetilde{K}}(t_j, u, u)$ is divergent as $\Lambda \to \infty$. The same is true for the terms in the second line of the right hand side. Cancelling these divergences would require a non-vanishing counterterm coefficient $c_{\phi}^{(1)}$, which was excluded by demanding finiteness of the two-point function at $u \neq v$ in the previous computation. Independently

2.1. TWO-LOOP LANDSCAPE

of the value of $c_{\phi}^{(1)}$, one clearly cannot require that $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,u)$ equals $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,u,u)$ in the $\Lambda \to \infty$ limit. Thus, in the three-loop computation, we will only consider the two-point function at non coinciding point.

2.1.5 Two-loop result for the partition function and discussion

The final result for the logarithm of the partition function is obtained from inserting the values of the counterterm coefficients we have determined in (2.1.97)-(2.1.100) into (2.1.85):

$$W^{(2)}[A] = W^{(2)}[A]\Big|_{\text{loops}} + W^{(2)}[A]\Big|_{\text{ct}} = -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Big[\widehat{c}_m + 1 + 4(1-h)\widehat{c}_R\Big] \ln A\Lambda^2 + A\Lambda^2 [\dots] + c(\alpha_i) + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2/\Lambda^2\right) . \quad (2.1.103)$$

We see that not only the terms $\sim A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ have cancelled, moreover the coefficient of $\ln A\Lambda^2$ now is independent of the α_i , *i.e.* independent of the regulator functions $\varphi(\alpha)$! It only depends on the two finite renormalization constants \hat{c}_m and \hat{c}_R . As already repeatedly emphasized, we can also adjust the cosmological constant counterterm to cancel any divergence in W that is proportional to the area A. Most importantly, as discussed in section previously, the absence of $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ divergences is equivalent to the absence of the $R(\tilde{G}_{\zeta})^2$ term that would not have been background independent. Clearly, all area-dependent terms present in (2.1.103) are background independent.

Subtracting from (2.1.103) the same expression evaluated at area A_0 , we finally get

$$\ln \frac{Z[A]}{Z[A_0]} \bigg|_{\kappa^{-2}} = W^{(2)}[A] - W^{(2)}[A_0]$$

= $-\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Big[\widehat{c}_m + 1 + 4(1-h)\widehat{c}_R \Big] \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + (A - A_0)\Lambda^2 [\ldots] + \mathcal{O}\left((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) .$
(2.1.104)

Equivalently, this shows that the area dependence of the partition function is

$$Z[A]\Big|_{\text{two-loop+measure+ct}} \sim e^{-\mu_c^2 A} A^{\gamma_{\text{str}}^{(2)} - 3} , \qquad (2.1.105)$$

with

$$\gamma_{\rm str}^{(2)} = \frac{2}{\kappa^2} \left[-2\,\widehat{c}_R\,(1-h) - \frac{\widehat{c}_m + 1}{2} \right] \,. \tag{2.1.106}$$

We see that our careful, first-principles computation of the 2D quantum gravity partition function has established that, up to two loops, the partition function has indeed the expected form (2.1.105). However, we have also found a maybe unexpected dependence on two finite renormalization constants. By which principle should these counterterm coefficients be fixed? We observe that our result is compatible with the KPZ scaling, since we get agreement with the (two-loop prediction of the) KPZ formula if we choose

$$\left. \hat{c}_m \right|_{\text{KPZ}} = -1 \quad , \quad \left. \hat{c}_R \right|_{\text{KPZ}} = -\frac{1}{2} \; .$$
 (2.1.107)

2.1. TWO-LOOP LANDSCAPE

In the absence of any principle to fix these constants, the area-dependence of the partition function Z[A] appears to involve an arbitrary power of A. One more principle we may invoke is locality. Locality of the counterterms implies that all coefficients $c_{\phi}^{(1)}$, $c_m^{(1)}$, $c_R^{(1)}$ which multiply a non-local $\ln A\Lambda^2$ should vanish. We have indeed found this. But it would also imply that $c_m^{(3)} = \hat{c}_m$ which multiplies a non-local $\frac{1}{A}$ should equally vanish. On the other hand, such a $\frac{1}{A}$ -term was already present in the regularized measure action due to the absence of a zero-mode. Indeed, from (2.1.11) and (1.3.47) we read that

$$S_{\text{measure}} = -\frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[\frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{7}{24\pi} R_* - \frac{1}{A} + \dots \right] \widetilde{\phi}^2(x) . \qquad (2.1.108)$$

Thus, a $\frac{1}{A}$ -counterterm should certainly also be allowed. However, we may require that the non-local $\frac{1}{A}$ -counterterm should actually cancel the non-local $\frac{1}{A}$ -term in S_{measure} , so that all the terms in the global action are local. This is our "strong locality condition". Comparing (2.1.108) with (2.1.79), (2.1.80) we see that this cancellation requires the following condition

absence of non-local
$$\frac{1}{A}$$
-terms in $\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi}S_{\rm L} + S_{\rm measure} + S_{\rm ct} \Rightarrow c_m^{(3)} \equiv \hat{c}_m = -1$.
(2.1.109)

This is precisely the KPZ-value (2.1.107)!

Let us come back on the background independence. As previously emphasized in section 1.4 in the previous chapter, while the Liouville action is background independent, neither is the measure action, nor the counterterm action. This was, of course, to be expected. This must be so, since it is missing the background dependence induced by the regularization. The fact that the regularization explicitly depends on the background metric makes it difficult to trace this dependence through the intermediate steps of the loop computations. Nevertheless, we were able to determine among the structures that could appear in the final result for the fixed-area partition function which ones are background independent and which ones are not. We found that precisely those structures accompanying the divergences $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ are not background independent. However, quite remarkably, the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ structures and divergences – that could not be cancelled by counterterms – already cancel among themselves in the two-loop contribution. The remaining structures are all background independent !

To summarize, within the present two-loop, order κ^{-2} computation, there does not seem to be an obvious criterion why to choose the KPZ-value $\hat{c}_R = -\frac{1}{2}$ rather than any other value. The DDK reasoning – which yields the KPZ value – was based on an all-order conformal invariance argument which encodes background invariance. However, our two-loop computation was also background invariant in the end, despite the regularization, and the counterterms did not play any role to ensure that. One may wonder then if a higher loop computation would be able to fix the remaining constant \hat{c}_R . Indeed, at the three-loop level, *i.e.* at order $\sim \kappa^{-4}$, the counterterm $\hat{c}_R \tilde{\phi}^2$ contributes via two-loop diagrams and thus enters into more complicated divergences which need to be cancelled. However, one could expect genuine three-loop counterterms (and thus even further undetermined parameters) to be required in any case, especially to ensure the "strong locality condition". Indeed, the measure action gives a cubic and a quartic vertex at three loops, including non-local $\frac{1}{A}$ terms. Thus, if the counterterms are to be understood as a renormalization of the measure, a cubic and a quartic structure are to be expected. Regarding the background independence criterion to fix these (new) parameters, it will most likely be irrelevant. Indeed, the background dependent structures are related to divergences which will be required to vanish. At three loops for example, the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ divergence which is related to the background dependent term $\int R(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta})^2$, could be cancelled by contributions from two-loop diagrams involving a counterterm. In any case such a divergence will be absorbed in a counterterm and to ensure both the finiteness of the partition function and its background dependence. The only three-loop divergence that could not be cancelled by a counterterm will be the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence (also related to a background dependent term), whose cancellation among the diagrams will be needed. This is checked in the next section of this chapter, dedicated to the study of the three-loop divergences and of the genuine three-loop counterterms. Also note that if \widehat{c}_R indeed remained undetermined to all orders, we would be led to consider that there could be different choices of consistent quantizations of this two-dimensional gravity. One could imagine that at least some of these new quantization schemes could be consistent quantum gravities for all matter central charges, thus maybe allowing to go beyond the c = 1 barrier.

2.2 Three-loop investigation

The purpose of the present section is to go into the previous study in depth, with the idea of improving our understanding of the counterterms. In the subsection 2.2.1, the Liouville and the measure actions are expanded to the order relevant for the computation of the partition function at three loops. In particular, this leads to new vertices. Then the three-loop vacuum diagrams are enumerated. In the subsection 2.2.2, the allowed divergences are investigated in some detail and the leading divergence $\sim A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ is fully computed. Since it does not cancel, genuine three-loop counterterms are required. We end this subsection by stating that the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence cancels, as required for both finiteness and background independence. Finally, subsection 2.2.3 is dedicated to the three-loop counterterms that contribute via one- and two-loop diagrams to the three-loop partition function. We discuss the degrees of freedom of these additional parameters. This section is based on [57].

2.2.1 Three-loop expansions of the actions

To pursue the investigation to three loops, $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$ terms need to be included. Since the Liouville action (2.1.2) comes with a factor $\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi}$, it has to be expanded up to the $\frac{1}{\kappa^6}$ order.

One gets:

$$\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi} S_{\rm L} \left[\sigma \right] = \frac{\kappa^2}{2} (1-h) \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \int \mathrm{d}x \, \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\phi} (\Delta_* - R_*) \widetilde{\phi} \tag{2.2.1}$$

$$+ \int \mathrm{d}x \left[\frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{\kappa} \widetilde{\phi}^2 (\Delta_* - \frac{2}{3} R_*) \widetilde{\phi} + \frac{2\pi}{\kappa^2} \widetilde{\phi}^2 \Delta_* \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{16\pi}{3\kappa^2} \widetilde{\phi}^3 \Delta_* \widetilde{\phi} - \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} R_* \widetilde{\phi}^4 \right]$$

$$+ \int \mathrm{d}x \left[\frac{16\pi^{3/2}}{\kappa^3} \left[\widetilde{\phi}^4 \left(\Delta_* - \frac{4}{5} R_* \right) \widetilde{\phi} + \frac{2}{3} \widetilde{\phi}^3 \Delta_* \widetilde{\phi}^2 \right] \right]$$

$$+ \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \left[\frac{4}{5} \widetilde{\phi}^5 \left(\Delta_* - \frac{5}{6} R_* \right) \widetilde{\phi} + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\phi}^4 \Delta_* \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{2}{9} \widetilde{\phi}^3 \Delta_* \widetilde{\phi}^3 \right] + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-5}) \right]$$

where $\int dx$ stands for $\int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)}$. The last two lines yield the quintic and sextic vertices which appear only at three (or higher)-loop computations. They can be grouped as follows. Two quintic vertices

$$= -\frac{16\pi^{3/2}}{\kappa^3} \left(\Delta_* - \frac{4}{5} R_* \right) , \quad = -\frac{16\pi^{3/2}}{\kappa^3} \frac{2}{3} \Delta_*$$
 (2.2.2)

and three sextic vertices

$$= -\frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{4}{5} \left(\Delta_* - \frac{5}{6} R_* \right) , \quad = -\frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{1}{2} \Delta_* , \quad = -\frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{2}{9} \Delta_* .$$
(2.2.3)

Similarly to the two-loop case, the bold parts of the vertices encode the Δ_* acting on one or several propagators. For example, for the two quintic vertices, the $(\Delta_* - \frac{4}{5}R_*)$ in the first vertex acts on the single propagator connected to the bold line, while in the second one Δ_* may act either on the product of the two propagators connected to the bold part of the vertex on the right or on the three other ones.

The three-loop expansion of the non-trivial measure action (2.1.9) is

$$S_{\text{measure}} = \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) \left(-\frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \widetilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{32\pi^{3/2}}{3\kappa^3} \widetilde{\phi}^3 - \frac{32\pi^2}{\kappa^4} \widetilde{\phi}^4 + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{-5}) \right) \,, \qquad (2.2.4)$$

where $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x)$ is given in (1.3.47). In addition to the quadratic vertex already relevant for the two-loop computation, this action now provides a cubic and a quartic vertex, leading to the following measure vertices up to three loops:

$$\checkmark = \frac{4\pi}{\kappa^2} \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) , \quad \checkmark = \frac{16\pi^{3/2}}{\kappa^3} \frac{2}{3} \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) , \quad \checkmark = \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{K}(t, x, x) .$$
(2.2.5)

The requirement for counterterms has been highlighted by the previous study at two loops, so that both the two-point function and the partition function are finite at

respectively one loop and two loops. Thus, the two-loop counterterm action (2.1.79) is also to be considered for the three-loop computation, leading to the overall action:

$$S = \frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi} S_{\rm L} + S_{\rm measure} + S_{\rm ct} \quad . \tag{2.2.6}$$

The vertices relevant up to three loops are summed up in Tab. 2.1.

Order	Liouville	Measure	CT
$\frac{1}{\kappa}$	\uparrow		
$\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$	$\times \times$	<	≺
$\frac{1}{\kappa^3}$	\star ×	\rightarrow	
$\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$	$\times\!\times\!\times$	\times	

Table 2.1: Vertices relevant for the three-loop computation

Note that all these vertices are normalized without including any symmetry factors so that one has to count all possible contractions when evaluating the diagrams.

Diagrams

One enumerates now all "three-loop" vacuum diagrams. More precisely, such diagrams are all the diagrams contributing at order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$. This involves genuine three-loop diagrams made from the Liouville vertices only, as well as two-loop and one-loop diagrams involving also the vertices from the measure or counterterm action. Combining all these vertices gives twenty-nine types of vacuum diagrams, each of them receiving contributions from subdiagrams. Fifteen of these diagrams come from pure Liouville contributions, nine involve the measure and six the two-loop counterterms. The decomposition of the diagrams is detailed hereafter.

The sextic vertices give one diagram, the "flower diagram", which may be written as the sum of five subdiagrams:



The weight factors in front of the different subdiagrams take into account the multiplicity of the diagram, including the symmetry factors and the contractions. Combining the quintic and cubic vertices yields two types of diagram:



composed of respectively eight and ten subdiagrams. Using two quartic vertices gives two diagrams:



made of respectively five and eleven subdiagrams. Five types of diagrams are built by a quartic vertex and two cubic vertices:



These diagrams consist in thirteen subdiagrams each for the diagrams of the upper line, and of seventeen, ten and eighteen subdiagrams for the bottom line, from left to right. Finally, the last five pure Liouville diagrams come from using four cubic vertices:



composed of eleven, thirteen, six, six and eighteen subdiagrams, from left to right and from top to bottom.

The measure and counterterm vertices contribute to fourteen diagrams. They may be classified according to the corresponding "two-loop" terminology: the "figure-eight", the "setting sun", the "glasses" and the "measure" diagrams. At the three-loop order, there are three "figure-eight-like" diagrams,



three "setting sun-like" diagrams,



five "glasses-like" diagrams



and finally three "measure-like" diagrams.



From left to right, both the "figure-eight" and "setting sun" diagrams have respectively one, four and five contributions. Concerning the "glasses" diagrams: the upper diagram has two contributions, and, from left to right, the diagrams in the second line have respectively four and three contributions, and the diagrams involving the counterterms six and four respectively. Finally, the "measure" diagram on the right gets two contributions whereas both diagrams involving the measure vertex have no other subdiagram.

2.2.2 Divergences of the partition function

Expected divergence structure

All vacuum diagrams are dimensionless and can depend on A and Λ only through the dimensionless combination $A\Lambda^2$. They contribute to various divergences to the partition function. Standard power counting shows that any loop-diagram has a superficial degree of divergence equal to 2. This means that divergences such as $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^{\#}$ are allowed. To have a more precise idea of the leading divergence, consider a diagram with I internal lines and V vertices. Each internal line, that is to say each regularized propagator \tilde{K} , gives a logarithmic divergence, according to (2.1.47). Besides, each vertex, carrying a Laplacian, transforms such a propagator into the corresponding heat kernel \tilde{K} thanks to (1.3.24), leading to a quadratic divergence (1.3.47). Each vertex also implies an integration over the manifold. Due to the term $e^{-l^2/4t}$ in the heat kernel (1.3.45), every integration contributes a factor $t_i \sim \frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$ at most. (The subtraction of the zero-mode terms $\sim \frac{e^{R_*t}}{A}$ does not change the final conclusion.) For the last integration, however, all quantities to be integrated only depend on one point, hence no Gaussian integration can be performed and one just gets a factor of A. Putting everything together, the leading singularity of this L-loop vacuum diagram is

$$\left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{I-V} \left(\Lambda^{2}\right)^{V} A\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}\right)^{V-1} = \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{L-1} A\Lambda^{2}$$
(2.2.7)

since I - V = L - 1 for every diagram. Therefore, the leading divergence at three loops is $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$. Note that the vertices not only contain a Laplacian but also terms $\sim R_* \sim \frac{1}{A}$. Picking the contribution coming from V - V' Laplacians and V' terms $\sim R_*$ leads to the divergence

$$\left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{I-V+V'} \left(\Lambda^{2}\right)^{V-V'} A^{-V'} A \left(\frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}\right)^{V-1} = \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{L-1+V'} \left(A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{1-V'} . \quad (2.2.8)$$

For V' > 1 this is vanishing. This means that the subleading divergence with the largest power of logarithms is $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^L$. Consequently, the expected divergences in $W^{(3)}[A]$ are

$$W^{(3)}[A]|_{\text{loops}} = d_1 A \Lambda^2 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 + d_2 A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 + d_3 A \Lambda^2 + d_4 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^3 + d_5 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 + d_6 \ln A \Lambda^2 + d_7 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\ln A \Lambda^2}{A \Lambda^2} \right).$$
(2.2.9)

Note that the term ~ $\ln A\Lambda^2$, although divergent, has a physical meaning. Indeed, once all other divergences cancelled by appropriate counterterms, one has $W^{(3)}[A] = W^{(3)}[A]|_{\text{loops}} + W^{(3)}[A]|_{\text{ct}} = \tilde{d}_6 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \tilde{d}_7 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\ln A\Lambda^2}{A\Lambda^2}\right)$ so that

$$\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} \left. \frac{Z[A]}{Z[A_0]} \right|_{3-\text{loop+ct}} = \left(\frac{A}{A_0}\right)^{d_6} , \qquad (2.2.10)$$

showing that \widetilde{d}_6 is the three-loop plus counterterm, order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$, contribution to $\gamma_{\rm str}$.

Cancellation of the Λ^4 divergence

Moreover, contrary to the preceding, somewhat naive power counting argument, one observes "unexpected" Λ^4 divergences appearing in the diagrams indicated in Tab. 2.2. They appear through the following integrals:

$$J_{j}^{i} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{K}(t_{i}, x, x) \,\widetilde{K}(t_{j}, y, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{m}, x, y) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{n}, x, y) ,$$

$$J_{k}^{i,j} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{K}(t_{i} + t_{j}, x, x) \,\widetilde{K}(t_{k}, y, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{m}, x, y) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{n}, x, y) ,$$

$$J_{k,l}^{i,j} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{K}(t_{i} + t_{j}, x, x) \,\widetilde{K}(t_{k} + t_{l}, y, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{m}, x, y) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{n}, x, y) , \qquad (2.2.11)$$

where i, j, k, l, m and n are different. From (1.3.47) one gets the leading divergences

$$J_j^i \sim \frac{\Lambda^4}{\alpha_i \alpha_j} J , \qquad J_k^{i,j} \sim \frac{\Lambda^4}{(\alpha_i + \alpha_j)\alpha_k} J \quad \text{and} \quad J_{k,l}^{i,j} \sim \frac{\Lambda^4}{(\alpha_i + \alpha_j)(\alpha_k + \alpha_l)} J , \quad (2.2.12)$$

with $J = \int dx dy \tilde{\tilde{K}}(t_m, x, y) \tilde{\tilde{K}}(t_n, x, y)$. Thus these Λ^4 divergences come with three different structures in the α_i . All these unwanted divergences are displayed in Tab. 2.2. When summing them up, all three structures (2.2.12) cancel and there is no net Λ^4 divergence !

	∞	$\stackrel{\texttt{O}}{\mapsto}$	\bigcirc	•00		\bigcirc		\bullet	\bullet		Total
J^i_j	9			-3	-15			$\frac{1}{4}$	$\frac{5}{2}$	$\frac{25}{4}$	0
J_k^{i+j}		-12			12	2	10		-2	-10	0
J_{k+l}^{i+j}			4				-8			4	0

Table 2.2: Λ^4 contributions from the diagrams

A simple computation: the flower diagram

The true leading divergence contributing to the partition function at three loops is in $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$. As already emphasized, the main goal of this three-loop investigation is to analyse this leading divergence, check that it does not "miraculously" cancel between the diagrams and determine the structure of the required counterterms.

Out of the twenty-nine vacuum diagrams displayed in section 2.2.1, only the fourteen diagrams shown in Fig. 2.1 contribute to the leading divergence in $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$. Note



Figure 2.1: Relevant diagrams for the leading divergence in $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$

that all the diagrams with a single propagator between two vertices (*i.e.* one-particle reducible) do not contribute, as it was already the case for the two-loop computation. This is because there is no zero-mode and a single propagator connecting two parts of a vacuum diagram should carry only the zero-mode.⁷

Consider again the flower diagram made from the sextic vertices, whose decomposition in subdiagrams was given in the previous subsection. Since only one vertex is involved, no integration has to be done to extract the divergences and it is the second simplest diagram to compute. (The simplest is the figure-eight diagram coming from the quartic

⁷In flat space, by momentum conservation, such a propagator would carry zero momentum. In our curved geometry the argument is more complicated and such one-particle reducible diagrams can still be non-vanishing, but using (1.3.44) one can show that they do not contribute to the present computation.

measure vertex.) The first subdiagram may be written in our regularization as:

$$I_{\mathcal{S}} = -\frac{4}{5} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int dx \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \left[\left(\Delta_*^x - \frac{5}{6} R_* \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, z) \right]_{x=z} \\ = -\frac{4}{5} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int dx \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \left(\widetilde{K}(t_3, x, x) + \frac{R_*}{6} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \right) \,, \quad (2.2.13)$$

The second subdiagram is slightly more complicated, because of the Laplacian acting on several propagators:

$$I_{\mathfrak{S}} = -\frac{2}{9} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \left[\Delta^x_* \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, z) \right) \right]_{z=x} \,. \tag{2.2.14}$$

The Laplacian term gives

$$\begin{split} \left[\Delta_*^x \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, x \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_3, x, z) \right) \right]_{z=x} &= \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, x \right) \left[\Delta_*^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_3, x, z) \right]_{z=x} \\ &+ \Delta_*^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, x \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_3, x, x) \\ &- 2 g_*^{ij} \partial_i^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, x \right) \left[\partial_j^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_3, x, z) \right]_{z=x} \\ &= \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, x \right) \widetilde{K} (t_3, x, x) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_2, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_3, x, x) \\ &+ \Delta_*^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, x \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_3, x, x) \\ &- g_*^{ij} \partial_i^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, x \right) \partial_j^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}} (t_3, x, x) \ . \end{split}$$
(2.2.15)

Inserting (2.2.15) into (2.2.14), and integrating the last term by parts leads to:

$$I_{\mathcal{N}} = -\frac{2}{9} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \,\widetilde{K}(t_3, x, x) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) + \frac{1}{2} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \,\Delta_*^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x)\right] \,. \tag{2.2.16}$$

Similarly, the third and fifth subdiagrams give

$$\begin{split} I_{\bigotimes} &= -\frac{2}{9} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[\Delta^x_* \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, z) \right) \right]_{z=x} \\ &= -\frac{2}{3} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \, \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, x) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{4} \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \, \Delta^x_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right] , \\ I_{\bigotimes} &= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \left[\Delta^x_* \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, z) \right) \right]_{z=x} \\ &= -\frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \, \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, x) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{8} \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \, \Delta^x_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right] , \end{split}$$

while one reads directly the fourth subdiagram

$$I_{\mathcal{S}} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \Delta_*^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \,. \tag{2.2.18}$$

The overall contribution from the flower diagram is thus

$$I_{\&} = 15 I_{\&} + 9 I_{\&} + 6 I_{\bigotimes} + 3 I_{\&} + 12 I_{\bigotimes}$$

= $-\frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int dx \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \left[30 \,\widetilde{K}(t_3, x, x) + 20 \,R_* \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, x) \right] \,.$
(2.2.19)

(Note that the $\hat{\tilde{K}}\hat{\tilde{K}}\Delta\hat{\tilde{K}}$ terms have cancelled.) The leading divergence of the second term is in $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$. These divergences will be discussed at the end of this subsection where it is shown that all $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergences cancel between the different diagrams. The first term on the right-hand-side of (2.2.19) contributes to the leading divergence, giving $-\frac{30}{\pi\kappa^4}A\Lambda^2(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2\int_0^\infty d\alpha_3\frac{\varphi(\alpha_3)}{\alpha_3}$.

Leading divergence of the partition function per diagram

The previous computation already gives the contribution of the flower diagram to the leading divergence of the partition function:

$$I_{\mathcal{S}} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[-\frac{30}{\alpha_1}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) \ . \tag{2.2.20}$$

The only other diagram involving only one vertex is one of the measure "figure-eight" diagrams. It contributes

$$I_{\odot} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{3}{2}\frac{1}{\alpha_1}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) \ . \tag{2.2.21}$$

There are six diagrams built from two vertices that contribute to the leading singularity: \bigcirc , \bigcirc , \bigcirc , \bigcirc , \bigcirc , \bigcirc and \bigcirc . The integrals to perform are similar to those previously done in order to compute the two-loop vacuum diagrams. It

is rather straightforward to obtain:

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{18}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{18}{\alpha_1} + \frac{9}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{24}{\alpha_1} + \frac{48}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[-\frac{2}{\alpha_1}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[-\frac{3}{\alpha_1}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[-\frac{15}{\alpha_1} + \frac{12}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) . \qquad (2.2.22)$$

As always, according to our regularization scheme (1.3.28), these expressions are to be understood as multiplied with the regulator functions $\prod_i \varphi(\alpha_i)$ and integrated over $\prod_i \int_0^\infty d\alpha_i$. For instance I_{\bigcirc} contributes as $\frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2 c_{\bigcirc}$, with $c_{\bigcirc} = 24 \int_0^\infty d\alpha_1 \frac{\varphi(\alpha_1)}{\alpha_1} + 48 \int_0^\infty d\alpha_1 d\alpha_2 \frac{\varphi(\alpha_1)\varphi(\alpha_2)}{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}$ being a number once the regularization function $\varphi(\alpha)$ is chosen. Note that the results for the diagrams involving the counterterm vertex, I_{\bigcirc} in

(2.2.22) and I_{\bigoplus} in (2.2.23) below, do not depend on the free (two-loop) renormalization constants \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_R . In the next subsection, dedicated to the computation of the full contributions of the counterterms to all divergences, we will see indeed that the leading contribution involving \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_R is in $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$.

When considering three vertices or more, computations become more technical. While for (\bullet) and (\bullet) it is easy to get:

$$I_{\bigodot} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{7}{2}\frac{1}{\alpha_1}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigodot} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{35}{2}\frac{1}{\alpha_1} - \frac{14}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) , \qquad (2.2.23)$$

with \bigotimes and \bigotimes already, one stumbles over the same kind of technical difficulties as those faced when computing the one-loop two-point Green's function at coinciding points (see the appendix of [56] and appendix C of this thesis). One of the integrals encountered in \bigotimes is for instance

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, z) \widetilde{K}(t_4, y, z) \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, y) \; .$$

Trouble comes from the fact that the three \widetilde{K} s in the integral force the three variables x, y and z to be all close to each other. For instance, integrating over y through the term

 $\widetilde{K}(t_4, y, z)$ requires to Taylor expand

$$\widetilde{K}(t_5, x, y) = \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, z) + (y - z)_i \partial_z^i \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, z) + \frac{1}{2}(y - z)_i (y - z)_j \partial_z^i \partial_z^j \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, z) + \dots$$
(2.2.24)

When x, y and z are close, such that $l^2(x, y) \sim l^2(x, z) \sim \frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$, all terms in the expansion give contributions of the same order. One gets:

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, z) \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, z) \widetilde{K}(t_4, y, z) \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, y)$$

$$= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}z \,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, z) \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_3 + t_4, z, z)$$

$$\times \left[\widetilde{K}(t_5, x, z) - t_4 \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{K}(t, x, z)}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=t_5} + R_* \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, z) \right)$$

$$+ \frac{t_4^2}{2} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \widetilde{K}(t, x, z)}{\mathrm{d}t^2} \right|_{t=t_5} - 2R_* \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{K}(t, x, z)}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=t_5} + R_*^2 \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, z) \right) + \dots \right]$$

$$- \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, z) \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, z) \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, y) . \quad (2.2.25)$$

As just explained, the terms $+ \ldots$ contribute at the same order and cannot be dropped. Keeping only the terms that contribute to the leading singularity $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$, one has

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, z) \widetilde{K}(t_4, y, z) \widetilde{K}(t_5, x, y) = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}z \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3 + t_4, z, z) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_4^n}{n!} \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}^n \widetilde{K}(t, x, z)}{\mathrm{d}t^n} \right|_{\substack{t=t_5 \\ (2.2.26)}}$$

Furthermore,

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, z) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, z) \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}^n \widetilde{K}(t, x, z)}{\mathrm{d}t^n} \right|_{t=t_5} = \left. \frac{(-1)^n n!}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_5} \right)^{n+1} \ln A\Lambda^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^{2n+2})$$

$$\tag{2.2.27}$$

so that one can easily resum all the terms. Therefore, the previous integral contributes to the leading divergence by:

$$\frac{A\Lambda^2}{(4\pi)^3} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n \alpha_4^n}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_5)^{n+1}} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{(4\pi)^3} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \frac{1}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_5 + \alpha_4} .$$
(2.2.28)

Of course, this is valid for $\frac{\alpha_4}{\alpha_2+\alpha_5} < 1$. However, the initial expression was symmetric under exchange of α_2 and α_4 (upon also exchanging α_1 and α_3). Hence, if $\frac{\alpha_4}{\alpha_2+\alpha_5} > 1$

one simply exchanges the roles of α_2 and α_4 in the derivation (since now $\frac{\alpha_2}{\alpha_4 + \alpha_5} < 1$) and one gets the same result.

Considering carefully each integral, finally one gets⁸ for \bigcirc and \bigcirc :

$$I_{\bigotimes} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[-\frac{21}{\alpha_1} - \frac{12}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{24}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigotimes} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[-\frac{42}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{46}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) . \qquad (2.2.29)$$

One encounters similar problems for the diagrams with four vertices \bigcirc and \bigtriangleup . Taylor expanding leads to series of divergent contributions. In addition to the series (2.2.28), one obtains

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} {\binom{n+m}{n}} (-1)^{n+m} \frac{\alpha_1^n \alpha_2^m}{(\alpha_3 + \alpha_4)^{n+m+1}} = \frac{1}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_4} .$$
(2.2.30)

More details on the integrals generating such series are given in the appendix C. Thus, one gets:

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{14}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} + \frac{16}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_4}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) ,$$

$$I_{\bigtriangleup} = \frac{A\Lambda^2}{\pi\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \left[\frac{16}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3} + \frac{8}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_4}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) . \quad (2.2.31)$$

Looking at (2.2.21), (2.2.22) and (2.2.23) one observes that the total leading contribution coming from the measure vanishes. Note that this was not the case for the two-loop contribution.

Adding the contributions of all the vacuum diagrams, (2.2.20), (2.2.21), (2.2.22), (2.2.23), (2.2.29) and (2.2.31), one gets the coefficient d_1 of $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ in the logarithm of the partition function, cf (2.2.9):

$$d_1 = \frac{1}{4\pi\kappa^4} \left[-\frac{26}{\alpha_1} + \frac{132}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{216}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3} + \frac{96}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_4} \right] .$$
(2.2.32)

Clearly, the leading divergence in $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ is not vanishing and new counterterms will be required. They should be determined by ensuring that the one-loop three-point and four-point functions, as well as the two-loop two-point function be all finite. The computation of these one-loop *n*-point functions is beyond the scope of this thesis, but it is nevertheless already interesting to look at the possible counterterms one could consider and to calculate their contributions to the various divergences of the partition function. This will be done in the next subsection.

⁸Note again that the α_i are to be multiplied with $\varphi(\alpha_i)$ and integrated. This implies that any expression involving several α_i can be symmetrized and that one can also rename the indices. In particular, the $\frac{1}{\alpha_2+\alpha_5+\alpha_4}$ in (2.2.28) has been rewritten as $\frac{1}{\alpha_1+\alpha_2+\alpha_3}$.

Cancellation of the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence

When the counterterm contributions to the three-loop partition function are computed in the next subsection, it will be shown that local counterterms with local coefficients $(i.e. \text{ not involving explicitly } \ln A\Lambda^2)$ cannot give contributions to the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence. Now, it is easy to see that such $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergences are present in individual three-loop diagrams. In particular, this was the case for the flower diagram, see (2.2.19) and the remarks that followed. The only way to ensure finiteness of the partition function then is that these individual divergences cancel between the three-loop vacuum diagrams. Among the twenty-nine diagrams, eight contribute to the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence. Their contributions are not too difficult to compute. They are displayed in Tab. 2.3. Indeed, when summed, they vanish! This is similar to what happened for the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ divergence in the two-loop partition function, and one expects the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^L$ divergence to cancel in the *L*-loop partition function. Let us insist that this is a requirement not only for the finiteness of the partition function but also for its background independence, as discussed in the end of the previous section.

	\mathcal{A}	\bigcirc	∞	\bigcirc	$\stackrel{\texttt{O}}{\mapsto}$	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigtriangleup	Total
$\frac{8(1-h)}{\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^3$	-20	18	18	60	-42	-86	$26 + \frac{4}{3}$	$24 + \frac{2}{3}$	0

Table 2.3: $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ contributions from the diagrams

2.2.3 Counterterms

There are several types of counterterms one may add in the three-loop computation. Cubic or quartic counterterms lead to diagrams similar to the ones generated by the cubic and quartic measure vertices (cf Tab. 2.1). One may also expand the coefficients of the quadratic counterterms introduced in the two-loop computation (2.1.97)-(2.1.99), (2.1.100), and consider their κ^{-4} contributions. Of course, only local counterterms will be introduced. This means, on the one hand, that the counterterms are polynomial in the Kähler field ϕ with only finitely many derivatives acting on them, and, on the other hand, that the coefficients of these counterterms are local expressions. In particular, a counterterm coefficient involving the area e.g. through $\ln A\Lambda^2$ is non-local. However, following the procedure applied in the previous section for the two-loop case, we do allow for counterterm coefficients $\sim \frac{1}{A}$ since they are already present in the measure action due to the absence of the zero-mode. In the previous section (see 2.1.5), we introduced the "strong locality condition", *i.e.* absence of $\frac{1}{A}$ terms in the total action. Imposing such a condition at two loops led us to fix one of the counterterms (namely \hat{c}_m) precisely to the KPZ value. We also impose the "strong locality condition" at three loops, by fixing the relevant coefficients of the three-loop counterterms. Therefore, the only A-dependent ("non-local") remaining terms involve a $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^{\#}$ coefficient.

In this subsection, we will write out the counterterms contributing to the partition function at the same order as the three-loop diagrams, *i.e.* at order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$ and give their contributions to $W[A] = \ln Z[A]$. Since the divergences in $A\Lambda^2$ can always be absorbed in the cosmological constant they will be ignored in the following. Similarly, the finite area-independent contributions of the counterterms will not be spelt out.

Cubic counterterms

The new types of counterterms one may introduce are cubic and quartic ones. The allowed cubic counterterm action is

$$S_{\rm ct}^c = \frac{16\pi^{3/2}}{\kappa^3} \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[f_\phi \widetilde{\phi}^2 (\Delta_* - R_*) \widetilde{\phi} + f_R R_* \widetilde{\phi}^3 + f_m \widetilde{\phi}^3 \right]$$
(2.2.33)

where

$$f_{\phi} = f_{\phi}^{(1)} ,$$

$$f_{R} = f_{R}^{(1)} ,$$

$$f_{m} = f_{m}^{(1)} \Lambda^{2} + \frac{f_{m}^{(2)}}{A} .$$

(2.2.34)

By dimensional analysis, the coefficients $f_i^{(1)}$ and $f_i^{(2)}$ are dimensionless "numbers". As already emphasized in the two-loop analysis (see section 2.1.3) they may depend on the regularization through the α_i and are then to be integrated with the given $\varphi(\alpha_i)$, resulting in a number. But they do not depend on the cut-off Λ^2 . The action (2.2.33) contributes via the two-loop diagrams \bigoplus and \bigoplus at the same order in κ^{-4} as the three-loop diagrams studied above.

We first show that the "glasses" diagram \bigcirc \bigcirc gives no relevant contribution. It may be written as a sum of four subdiagrams. One gets:

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int dx \, dy \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, y, y) \\ \times \left\{ f_{\phi} \left(-\frac{d\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)}{dt} \right)_{t=t_3} + \left[f_{\phi} R_* + 3 \left(f_m + f_R R_* \right) \right] \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y) \\ + 3 R_* \left(f_m + f_R R_* \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \right\}.$$

$$(2.2.35)$$

Integrating and taking into account the absence of zero-modes leads to:

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{(4\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \left\{ f_\phi \int dx \; \widetilde{G}_\zeta \Delta_* \widetilde{G}_\zeta + 3 \left(f_m + f_R R_* \right) \int dx \; \widetilde{G}_\zeta(x) \left(\widetilde{G}_\zeta(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int dy \; \widetilde{G}_\zeta(y) \right) + 3 \left(f_m + f_R R_* \right) R_* \int dx \, dy \; \widetilde{G}_\zeta(x) \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \widetilde{G}_\zeta(y) \right\}.$$
(2.2.36)

Using the scaling relation (1.2.23) and (2.1.39), one may rewrite this as

$$I_{\bigcirc \bigcirc} = \frac{(4\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \left\{ f_{\phi} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0} \Delta_0 \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}$$

$$+ 3 \left(\frac{A}{A_0} f_m + f_R R_0 \right) \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_0} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) - \frac{1}{A_0} \int d^2 y \sqrt{g_0(y)} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(y) \right)$$

$$+ 3 \left(\frac{A}{A_0} f_m + f_R R_0 \right) R_0 \int d^2 x d^2 y \sqrt{g_0(x)g_0(y)} \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_0(\frac{A_0}{A} t_3, x, y) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(y) \right\} .$$

$$(2.2.37)$$

The first term is obviously independent of the area A and thus of no interest here. The only A dependence in the second line comes from the $\frac{A}{A_0}f_m$ term through $\frac{f_m^{(1)}}{A_0}A\Lambda^2$. However, the parenthesis being A independent, this term can be included in the cosmological constant and is not significant. The last term is slightly more subtle to handle because of the remaining $\hat{K}_0(\frac{A_0}{A}t_3, x, y)$ term. For the non divergent counterterms $f_R^{(1)}$ and $\frac{f_m^{(2)}}{A}$, the short-distance logarithmic singularity in $\hat{K}_0(\frac{A_0}{A}t_3, x, y)$ being integrable, one may take the limit $t_3 \to \infty$. Doing so leads to an A independent quantity. Finally, doing a finite expansion in x - y in the integral yields either A-independent or $\frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$ -terms or terms that vanish exponentially as $\Lambda \to \infty$. Thus, the remaining quadratically divergent counterterm $\Lambda^2 f_m^{(1)}$ only leads to terms finite or to be included in the cosmological constant. None of these terms is of any interest here. This "glasses" diagram thus gives no contribution to the pertinent divergences of the partition function (2.2.9). Note that diagrams with a single propagator joining two or three loops were already discarded from the diagrams contributing to the leading divergence in the previous subsection.

The "setting sun" diagram \bigcirc gets two contributions according to which line of the cubic counterterm vertex is connected to the bold part of the cubic Liouville vertex.

Thus one obtains

$$I_{\bigoplus} = \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int dx \, dy \left\{ f_{\phi} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \right.$$

$$\times \left[\frac{1}{2} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \left(-\frac{d\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)}{dt} \right)_{t=t_3} + \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) \,\widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y) \right]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \left[(f_{\phi} + 3f_R) R_* + 3f_m \right] \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \,\widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y)$$

$$+ \frac{R_*}{2} \left(f_R R_* + f_m \right) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \right\} .$$

$$(2.2.38)$$

This leads to the following divergences:

$$I_{\bigoplus} = \frac{1}{\kappa^4} \Biggl\{ 6f_m^{(1)} A\Lambda^2 \left(\ln A\Lambda^2 \right)^2 + \left[\frac{8}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 f_m^{(1)} \left(G_0 - \ln(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3) \right) \right] A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 \\ + \left[6 f_m^{(2)} + \left(4 f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 f_R^{(1)} - 6 \alpha_3 f_m^{(1)} \right) AR_* \right] \left(\ln A\Lambda^2 \right)^2 \\ + \left[16 \left(\frac{f_{\phi}^{(1)}}{3} - \alpha_3 f_m^{(1)} \right) AR_* - \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} \left(\frac{8}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 f_m^{(1)} \right) AR_* \right] \\ - 48\pi \left(f_{\phi}^{(1)} - 2 \alpha_3 f_m^{(1)} \right) \\ + 2 \left(6 f_m^{(2)} + \left(4 f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 f_R^{(1)} - 6 \alpha_3 f_m^{(1)} \right) AR_* \right) \left(G_0 - \ln(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3) \right) \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 \Biggr\}$$
(2.2.39)

where G_0 was defined in (2.1.54). The expression (2.2.39) is the full contribution from the cubic counterterms to the diverging part of the partition function.

Quartic counterterms

The quartic counterterm action is

$$S_{\rm ct}^q = \frac{\left(8\pi\right)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[q_\phi \widetilde{\phi}^3 (\Delta_* - R_*) \widetilde{\phi} + \widehat{q}_\phi \widetilde{\phi}^2 (\Delta_* - 2R_*) \widetilde{\phi}^2 + q_R R_* \widetilde{\phi}^4 + q_m \widetilde{\phi}^4 \right]$$
(2.2.40)

with

$$q_{\phi} = q_{\phi}^{(1)} ,$$

$$\hat{q}_{\phi} = \hat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} ,$$

$$q_{R} = q_{R}^{(1)} ,$$

$$q_{m} = q_{m}^{(1)} \Lambda^{2} + \frac{q_{m}^{(2)}}{A} .$$
(2.2.41)

Again, the coefficients $q_i^{(j)}$ may depend on the α_k but not on the cutoff Λ . This action gives a "figure-eight" diagram \bigcirc :

$$I_{\bigcirc\bigcirc} = \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \left\{ -\frac{3}{2} \left(q_\phi \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, x) + (q_R R_* + q_m) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right) + \widehat{q}_\phi \left(-2\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, x) + R_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right) \right\},$$

$$(2.2.42)$$

which contributes as

.

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{1}{\kappa^4} \Biggl\{ -6 \ q_m^{(1)} A \Lambda^2 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 - \left[6 \ q_m^{(2)} + \left(-4 \ \hat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 \ q_R^{(1)} \right) A R_* \right] \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 - \left[\frac{1}{\alpha_1} \left(6 \ q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \ \hat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} \right) + 12 \ q_m^{(1)} \left(G_0 - \ln \alpha_1 \right) \right] A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 - \left[\left(\frac{7}{6} A R_* - 4\pi \right) \left(6 \ q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \ \hat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} - 12 \ \alpha_1 \ q_m^{(1)} \right) + 2 \left(6 \ q_m^{(2)} + \left(-4 \ \hat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 \ q_R^{(1)} \right) A R_* \right) \left(G_0 - \ln \alpha_1 \right) \right] \ln A \Lambda^2 \Biggr\}$$

$$(2.2.43)$$

with G_0 given in (2.1.54).

Quadratic two-loop counterterms

The quadratic counterterms (2.1.79) did contribute via one-loop diagrams to the two-loop partition function, but also via two-loop diagrams to the three-loop partition function as shown in the above computation. However, as always, the counterterm coefficients get contributions at different orders in perturbation theory: we can add to c_{ϕ} , c_R and c_m an additional piece $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}c'_{\phi}$, $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}c'_R$ and $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}c'_m$, so that $c^{\text{tot}}_{\phi} = c_{\phi} + \frac{1}{\kappa^2}c'_{\phi} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{\kappa^4})$, etc. Overall, the c' are accompanied by a factor $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$ and they contribute via one-loop diagrams to the three-loop partition function. Thus we also add the following counterterm action

$$S_{\rm ct}^{\rm quad'} = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left[\frac{c'_{\phi}}{2} \widetilde{\phi} (\Delta_* - R_*) \widetilde{\phi} + \frac{c'_R}{2} R_* \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{c'_m}{2} \widetilde{\phi}^2 \right] , \qquad (2.2.44)$$

where, again,

$$\begin{aligned} c'_{\phi} &= c'^{(1)}_{\phi} , \\ c'_{R} &= c'^{(1)}_{R} , \\ c'_{m} &= c'^{(1)}_{m} \Lambda^{2} + \frac{c'^{(2)}_{m}}{A} . \end{aligned}$$
 (2.2.45)

The counterterm action (2.2.44) then provides a new one-loop diagram of order κ^{-4} :

$$I_{\bigcirc} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[c'_{\phi} \widetilde{K}(t,x,x) + \left(c'_R R_* + c'_m \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,x) \right]$$
(2.2.46)

leading to the following divergences:

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{1}{\kappa^4} \left(-c_m^{\prime(1)} A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 - \left(c_m^{\prime(2)} + c_R^{\prime(1)} A R_* \right) \ln A \Lambda^2 \right) .$$
 (2.2.47)

Moreover, two parameters of the two-loop counterterms (2.1.80) are still unconstrained: \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_R . Although only \hat{c}_R appears in the two-loop partition function (2.1.104), both may contribute to the divergent part of the partition function at three loops, through the diagrams \bullet , \bullet , \bullet , \bullet , \bullet . Their diverging contributions are displayed below:

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{1}{\kappa^{4}} \left\{ -\frac{2}{\alpha_{1}} \, \hat{c}_{\phi} \, A\Lambda^{2} \ln A\Lambda^{2} - 2 \left(\frac{7}{6} AR_{*} - 4\pi \right) \, \hat{c}_{\phi} \, \ln A\Lambda^{2} \right\},$$

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{1}{\kappa^{4}} \left\{ \left(-\frac{10}{\alpha_{1}} + \frac{8}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}} \right) \, \hat{c}_{\phi} \, A\Lambda^{2} \ln A\Lambda^{2} + \left[4AR_{*} \, \hat{c}_{\phi} \hat{c}_{R} - 2 \left(\frac{7}{6} AR_{*} + 4\pi \right) \hat{c}_{\phi} \right. \right. \\ \left. + 4AR_{*} \left(\hat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\hat{c}_{R}}{2\pi} \right) \left(3 \left(-\ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}) + \ln\alpha_{1} \right) - 1 - \frac{2\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2})^{2}} \right) \right] \ln A\Lambda^{2} \right\},$$

$$I_{\bigcirc\bigcirc} = \frac{1}{\kappa^{4}} \left\{ 12 \left(\frac{1}{\alpha_{1}} + \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}} \right) \, \hat{c}_{\phi} \, A\Lambda^{2} \ln A\Lambda^{2} + 12AR_{*} \left(\hat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\hat{c}_{R}}{2\pi} \right) \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2} \right)^{2} \right. \\ \left. + \left[12AR_{*} \left(\hat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\hat{c}_{R}}{2\pi} \right) \left(2 \, G_{0} - \ln\alpha_{1} - \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}) \right) + 24 \left(\frac{7}{6} AR_{*} - 4\pi \right) \hat{c}_{\phi} \right. \\ \left. + 24 \, R_{*}^{2} \, \hat{c}_{R} \int dx \, dy \, \tilde{K} \left(t_{1}, x, y \right) \, \tilde{K} \left(t_{2}, x, y \right) \right] \ln A\Lambda^{2} \right\},$$

$$(2.2.48)$$

and

$$I_{\textcircled{\bullet}} = \frac{1}{\kappa^4} \left\{ -8 \left(\frac{1}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} + \frac{2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3} \right) \widehat{c}_{\phi} A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 - \left(18 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} + 7 \,\frac{\widehat{c}_R}{\pi} \right) AR_* \left(\ln A\Lambda^2 \right)^2 \right. \\ \left. + \left[-24 \,R_*^2 \,\widehat{c}_R \int dx \, dy \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_1, x, y \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, y \right) - 2 \,G_0 \left(18 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} + 7 \,\frac{\widehat{c}_R}{\pi} \right) AR_* \right. \\ \left. + 4AR_* \left[\left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\widehat{c}_R}{2\pi} \right) \left(1 + \frac{2\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} + 3 \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \right) + 6 \left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\widehat{c}_R}{3\pi} \right) \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3) \right] \\ \left. + 4 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} \left[36\pi - AR_* \left(\frac{11}{3} + \frac{4 \,\alpha_1^2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} \right) \right] \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 \right\} .$$

None of these contains a $A\Lambda^2(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ divergence and this is why these finite counterterm coefficients \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_R did not contribute to the previous computation of the leading three-loop divergence made in section 2.2.2.

Total counterterm contribution to the partition function

Since the "glasses" diagram has no divergence other than in $A\Lambda^2$, the total contribution one could get from the counterterms to the three-loop partition function is given by summing (2.2.39), (2.2.43), (2.2.47), (2.2.48) and (2.2.49). Recalling $AR_* = 8\pi(1-h)$, cf. (1.2.23), one gets:

$$W^{(3)}[A]\big|_{\rm ct} = \frac{1}{\kappa^4} \left\{ \Omega_1 \ A\Lambda^2 \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 + \Omega_2 \ A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \Omega_3 \ \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 + \Omega_4 \ \ln A\Lambda^2 \right\}$$
(2.2.50)

with

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{1} &= 6 \left(f_{m}^{(1)} - q_{m}^{(1)} \right) \\ \Omega_{2} &= -\frac{16}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3}} \, \widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}} \left(8 \, f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \, \widehat{c}_{\phi} \right) - \frac{1}{\alpha_{1}} \left(6 \, q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} \right) - c_{m}^{\prime(1)} \\ &+ 2 \, \Omega_{1} \, G_{0} - 12 \left(f_{m}^{(1)} \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}) - q_{m}^{(1)} \ln \alpha_{1} \right) \\ \Omega_{3} &= \Omega_{3}^{(a)} + \Omega_{3}^{(b)} + \Omega_{3}^{(c)} \\ \Omega_{3}^{(a)} &= -6 \, q_{m}^{(2)} + \left(4 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} - 6 \, q_{R}^{(1)} \right) 8\pi \left(1 - h \right) \\ \Omega_{3}^{(b)}(\alpha_{1}) &= 6 \, f_{m}^{(2)} + \left(4 \, f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 \left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\widehat{c}_{R}}{2\pi} + f_{R}^{(1)} - \alpha_{1} \, f_{m}^{(1)} \right) \right) 8\pi \left(1 - h \right) \\ \Omega_{4}^{(c)} &= -12 \left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\widehat{c}_{R}}{3\pi} \right) \, 8\pi \left(1 - h \right) \\ \Omega_{4} &= 2 \, \Omega_{3} \, G_{0} - 2 \left(\, \Omega_{3}^{(a)} \ln \alpha_{1} + \Omega_{3}^{(b)}(\alpha_{1}) \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}) + \Omega_{3}^{(c)} \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3}) \right) \\ &+ 4\pi \left(1 - \frac{7}{3} \left(1 - h \right) \right) \left(6 \, q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \, \alpha_{1} \, f_{m}^{(1)} - 12 \, f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 2 \, \alpha_{1} \, \Omega_{1} \right) \\ &+ 8\pi \left(1 - h \right) \left(\frac{26}{3} \left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} - f_{\phi}^{(1)} \right) + \frac{12 \, \alpha_{1}^{2}}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}} f_{m}^{(1)} - \frac{8 \, \alpha_{1} \alpha_{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2})^{2}} f_{\phi}^{(1)} - \frac{16 \, \alpha_{1}^{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3})^{2}} \, \widehat{c}_{\phi} \right) \\ &+ 48\pi \, \widehat{c}_{\phi} - \left(c_{m}^{\prime(2)} + 8\pi \left(1 - h \right) c_{R}^{\prime(1)} \right) + 32\pi \left(1 - h \right) \, \widehat{c}_{\phi} \, \widehat{c}_{R} \end{split}$$

where G_0 was defined in (2.1.54). Once again, the divergences in $A\Lambda^2$ (which can always be absorbed in the cosmological constant) as well as the finite area-independent contributions of the counterterms (which drop when considering $W^{(3)}[A] - W^{(3)}[A_0]$) have been ignored here.

This is the total contribution to the three-loop partition function of the counterterms that have not been previously fixed by the order $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$ ("two-loop") computation made in section 2.1.4. Requiring the one-loop two-point function to be finite and regulator independent fixed c_m and parts of c_{ϕ} and c_R . Thus, only their so-far undetermined regularization-independent parts \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_R have been included in (2.2.51).

One way to determine some of these counterterms is to compute the two-loop twopoint function (order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$) and the one-loop three-point function (order $\frac{1}{\kappa^3}$) and oneloop four-point function (order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$) and to require them to be finite and regularization independent. Imposing finiteness will completely determine certain combinations of the counterterm coefficients, while imposing regularization independence of the finite terms will fix certain other combinations up to constants.

The computations of the two-loop two-point function and of the one-loop three-point and four-point functions clearly are beyond the scope of this work. However, there are still interesting remarks that can be made without actually doing these computations. One can rather easily determine the contributions of the counterterms to these *n*-point functions. This will tell us which combinations of the counterterm coefficient would be fixed by such computations. We will find that the relevant combinations are indeed the same as those appearing in the Ω_i of the three-loop partition function. Although "expected", this is by no means obvious and constitutes a nice consistency check.

It is straightforward to see that the cubic and quartic counterterms contribute to the diverging parts of the three- and four-point functions as

$$\int_{\text{div}}^{\text{CT}} = -\frac{48\pi^{3/2}}{\kappa^3} f_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 \int dx \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, b, x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, c, x) \ , \qquad (2.2.52)$$
$$\int_{\text{div}}^{\text{CT}} = -12 \frac{(8\pi)^2}{\kappa^4} q_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 \int dx \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, b, x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, c, x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4, d, x) \ .$$

Thus finiteness of these functions fixes both $f_m^{(1)}$ and $q_m^{(1)}$ and hence, Ω_1 . Finiteness of the two-point function at one loop (order $\frac{1}{\kappa^2}$) was already imposed in section 2.2.3 and resulted in the determination of c_m to this order. Thus, only the two-loop (order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$) part of the two-point function⁹ $\mathcal{G}^{(3)}(a, b)$ will be considered here. We find that the contribution of the counterterms to its diverging part is

$$- \left[- \left[- \frac{CT}{\frac{1}{\kappa^4}, \operatorname{div}} \right] = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} \left\{ \left(\rho_1 \Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \rho_2 \Lambda^2 + \rho_3 \frac{\ln A\Lambda^2}{A} \right) \int \mathrm{d}x \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, b, x) \right. \\ \left. + \rho_4 \Lambda^2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \ \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, b, x) \right. \\ \left. + \rho_5 \ln A\Lambda^2 \ \widetilde{G}(a, b) + 24\pi f_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 H(a, b) \right\},$$

$$(2.2.53)$$

with

$$\rho_{1} = 2 \ \Omega_{1} , \quad \rho_{2} = \Omega_{2} - 6 \ \left(3 \ f_{m}^{(1)} - 2 \ q_{m}^{(1)}\right) \left(G_{0} + \ln A_{0}\mu^{2} + \gamma\right) , \quad \rho_{3} = 2 \ \Omega_{3} ,$$

$$\rho_{4} = 24\pi \left(3 \ f_{m}^{(1)} - 2 \ q_{m}^{(1)}\right) , \quad \rho_{5} = -\left(6 \ q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \ \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \ \alpha_{1} \ f_{m}^{(1)} + 12 \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} - 12 \ f_{\phi}^{(1)}\right)$$
(2.2.54)

⁹The two-point function we consider is for $a \neq b$.

and

$$\begin{split} H(a,b) &= R_* \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,y) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,y) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4,y,b) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,b,x) \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,a,x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,b,x)\right) \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\, \left[\frac{1}{2} \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,x,y) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,y) \,\,\left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,a,x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,y,b)\right) \right) \\ &\quad + 2 \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,y) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,y,b) \,\right] \\ &\quad + R_* \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,y) \,\,\widehat{G}_{\zeta}(y) \\ &\quad + \int \mathrm{d}x \,\,\left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) + \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b)\right) \\ &\quad \times \,\left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,a,b) \,\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}y \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,y) \,\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y)\right] \,. \quad (2.2.55) \end{split}$$

The contributions per diagrams are given in the appendix B.2. Finiteness of the twopoint function at order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$ then fixes all combinations $\rho_1, \ldots \rho_5$ and hence Ω_2, Ω_3 and the combination 6 $q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \hat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \hat{c}_{\phi} - 12 f_{\phi}^{(1)}$. Thus, all the coefficients Ω_1, Ω_2 and Ω_3 of the diverging parts of the counterterm

Thus, all the coefficients Ω_1 , Ω_2 and Ω_3 of the diverging parts of the counterterm contributions to the partition function (2.2.50) are exactly determined by the requirement of the finiteness of the two-loop two-point function and of the one-loop three-point and four-point functions ! Obviously, we expect this determination to be such that (2.2.50) precisely cancels the divergences of the genuine three-loop part of this partition function, as was indeed the case in section 2.1.5 for the two-loop computation.

Let us next discuss Ω_4 which is the counterterm contribution to the order $\frac{1}{\kappa^4}$ part of γ_{str} . With the $f_m^{(1)}$, $q_m^{(1)}$ and the ρ_i been fixed, also Ω_1 , Ω_2 and Ω_3 are fixed and we consider $\Omega_3^{(a)}$ as a function of $\Omega_3^{(b)}$ and $\Omega_3^{(c)}$, *i.e.* of $\Omega_3^{(b)}$, \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_R (cf (2.2.51)). (Note that the second line in the expression of Ω_4 can be expressed though ρ_5 , \hat{c}_{ϕ} and Ω_1 .) Thus Ω_4 depends on the following six undetermined constants: $\Omega_3^{(b)}$, \hat{c}_{ϕ} , \hat{c}_R , $f_{\phi}^{(1)}$, $c_m^{\prime(2)}$ and $c_R^{\prime(1)}$.

Furthermore, one may require the "strong locality condition" that the non-local terms in the measure (2.2.4) and counterterm actions (2.2.44), (2.2.33), (2.2.40) cancel out. This fixes $q_m^{(2)}$, $f_m^{(2)}$ and $c_m'^{(2)}$ as

$$q_m^{(2)} = -1$$
, $f_m^{(2)} = -\frac{4}{3}$, $c_m^{\prime(2)} = 0$, (2.2.56)

since the corresponding $\frac{1}{A}$ terms in (2.2.45), (2.2.34) and (2.2.41) are

$$\frac{4\pi}{A} \left[\frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{\kappa^3} \left(f_m^{(2)} + \frac{4}{3} \right) \widetilde{\phi}^3 + \frac{1}{\kappa^4} c_m^{\prime(2)} \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{8\pi^2}{\kappa^4} \left(q_m^{(2)} + 1 \right) \widetilde{\phi}^4 \right] = 0 .$$
 (2.2.57)

Thus, among the six undetermined constants in Ω_4 , only $c'^{(2)}_m$ is fixed, five free finite renormalization constants remain: $\Omega_3^{(b)}$, \hat{c}_{ϕ} , \hat{c}_R , $f^{(1)}_{\phi}$, and $c'^{(1)}_R$, that is to say four more than the "two-loop" free parameter in γ_{str} : \hat{c}_R . In the next chapter, we will discuss how the finite part of the two-point function can partly fix these remaining coefficients.

Finally, as anticipated in section 2.2.2, none of the counterterms contributes to the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence. The only way to generate such divergences would be by introducing non-local counterterm coefficients that already involve a factor of $\ln A\Lambda^2$. However, as repeatedly argued, such counterterms should be forbidden. Then, since there is no possible counterterm for a $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence, such a divergence is required to cancel in the first place between the three-loop vacuum diagrams. As shown above, this is indeed the case. Let us once more remark that the cancellation of this divergence is also required for background independence.

2.2.4 Discussion

The purpose of this section was to check if and which new counterterms are required at three loops. We have therefore computed the leading divergence of the three-loop partition function at fixed area, cf (2.2.32). It does not vanish and thus genuine threeloop counterterms are required. As mentioned before, the two-loop computation already pointed to the insertion of new counterterms at three loops. Indeed, the counterterms inserted at two loops have a strong similarity with the measure terms at two loops, as was discussed in the previous section. Yet, at three loops, the measure action gives rise to cubic and quartic vertices unlike the two-loop counterterm vertices (cf Tab. 2.1). Therefore, one could have expected additional counterterms to be needed. This argument can be generalized to all orders, as the measure action gets additional structures at every order in the loop-expansion. If the counterterms are to be understood as a renormalization of the measure action, the latter itself coming from the regularization of the measure for the metrics, then new counterterms have to be introduced at every order in the perturbation series. On the other hand, what is really surprising and encouraging is that if one requires the counterterms to be local, in particular that no counterterm coefficient with a $\ln A\Lambda^2$ divergence is allowed, then all the divergences may be offset but the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence. However, as we showed, this divergence cancels out between the three-loop diagrams, meaning that local counterterms are enough to balance all the non-local divergences. Moreover, the required counterterm action has a structure similar to those of the measure action, supporting the understanding of counterterms as a renormalization of the measure.

Nevertheless, with no other way to discriminate the counterterms than to forbid $(\ln A\Lambda^2)$ -like non-local terms, many new free parameters appear. At three loops, doing so gives rise to twelve new parameters. Imposing the divergences to vanish in the one-loop three- and four-point functions and in the two-loop two-point function fixes two parameters and three combinations of the parameters. We found that with these parameters and combinations of parameters fixed, the diverging part of the three-loop partition function is also completely fixed with no additional adjustable parameter remaining. Obviously,

as it was the case at two loops, we expect this to happen precisely in such a way that all divergences in the three-loop partition function cancel, except for the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)$ -piece that yields the three-loop contribution to the string susceptibility. Indeed, this is the only coefficient of the three-loop partition function which contains undetermined finite renormalization constants. To restrain the number of free parameter in this coefficient, we argued that there are two different notions of locality of the counterterm coefficients. While coefficients involving $\ln A\Lambda^2$ were excluded, we did allow coefficients proportional to $\frac{1}{A}$ since such non-local terms already appeared through the measure action. Introducing such $\frac{1}{A}$ counterterms in precisely such a way as to cancel the corresponding $\frac{1}{A}$ terms in the measure action was referred to as "strong locality condition". Imposing this condition fixes one of the six free parameters in the contribution to the string susceptibility, leaving us with five free renormalization constants on which the three-loop contribution to $\gamma_{\rm str}$ depends. One of these free renormalization constants was already present in the two-loop string susceptibility, so that at three-loops, four new constants play a role.

Several additional requirements should be considered, such as the condition that neither the *n*-point functions nor the partition function should depend on the choice of regularization. In particular, the regularization function $\varphi(\alpha_i)$ satisfies $\int_0^\infty d\alpha_i \varphi(\alpha_i) = 1$ and certain regularity conditions at 0 and infinity, but is otherwise arbitrary. Its choice should not impact any final, physical result. This means that all the dependence in the α_i must disappear in the end. Although important, this argument is not enough to fully determine the counterterms, in particular it cannot fix any α -independent pieces. It will be discussed in the next chapter of this thesis.

Background independence does not seem to help fixing the counterterms, since the background dependent quantities appear with the same coefficients as the divergences and hence are automatically removed when the divergences are absorbed. Nevertheless, it could well be that some indirect criteria for background independence fixes some or all of our free renormalization constants. Still, as no obvious criterion has been identified, we will proceed keeping track of the free renormalization constants.

CHAPTER 3 Towards non-conformal matter

« Qu'une chose soit difficile doit nous être une raison de plus pour l'entreprendre. » Rainer Maria Rilke in *Lettres à un jeune poète*.

In this chapter, following [54], we consider a somewhat more general action including the Mabuchi action:

$$S_{\text{grav}}[g_0, g] = \frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi\varepsilon} S_{\text{L}}[g_0, g] + \frac{\beta^2}{\varepsilon} S_{\text{M}}[g_0, g] + S_{\text{measure}}[g_0, g] , \qquad (3.0.1)$$

where ε is a loop counting parameter. As previously discussed in section 1.2, the Mabuchi action

$$S_{\rm M}[g_0,g] = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_0} \left[2\pi (h-1)\phi \Delta_0 \phi + \left(\frac{8\pi (1-h)}{A_0} - R_0\right)\phi + \frac{4}{A}\sigma e^{2\sigma} \right]$$
(3.0.2)

appears (together with the Aubin-Yau action) as the first-order mass correction to the Liouville action. As previously stated in section 1.2.3 (see eq. (1.2.29)), the classical saddle-points at fixed area of the Mabuchi action are also the constant curvature metrics of arbitrary area A^1 . In terms of the rescaled Kähler potential $\phi_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\kappa}{8\sqrt{\pi\varepsilon}}\phi$, the one-loop expansions (1.3.13) of the Liouville and Mabuchi actions are rewritten as

$$\frac{\kappa^2}{8\pi\varepsilon} S_{\rm L}[g_0,g] = \frac{\kappa^2}{2\varepsilon} (1-h) \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \frac{1}{2} \int {\rm d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\phi_\varepsilon \left(A\Delta_*\right)^2 \left(\Delta_* - R_*\right) \phi_\varepsilon + O(\varepsilon) ,$$

$$\frac{\beta^2}{\varepsilon} S_{\rm M}[g_0,g] = \frac{2\beta^2}{\varepsilon} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + 16\pi \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} \int {\rm d}^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \,\phi_\varepsilon \,A\Delta_* \left(\Delta_* - R_*\right) \phi_\varepsilon + O(\varepsilon) , \quad (3.0.3)$$

in the background metric g_* of constant curvature R_* and area A. From eq. (3.0.3), one directly reads the propagator for the field ϕ_{ε}

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y)\Big|_{L+M} = \langle x| \left[A\Delta_*(\Delta_* - R_*) \left(A\Delta_* + 32\pi \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} \right) \right]^{-1} |y\rangle' .$$
(3.0.4)

This propagator highly differs from the "pure Liouville theory". Indeed, if we only consider the Liouville action, the term $\frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2}$ is vanishing and we can make the change of variable²

$$\widetilde{\phi} = A \Delta_* \phi_\varepsilon \ . \tag{3.0.5}$$

¹We recall that $AR_* = 8\pi(1-h)$.

 $^{^2 \}mathrm{In}$ the previous chapter, ε was absorbed in κ or equivalently taken to one.

Thus, we have to consider the much simpler propagator

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y)\Big|_{\mathrm{L}} = \langle x | (\Delta_* - R_*)^{-1} | y \rangle' .$$
 (3.0.6)

The full Liouville and Mabuchi theory is then expected to behave significantly differently from the pure Liouville theory. However, the writings of the vertices in terms of the propagator (3.0.4) is quite challenging and the computation of the two-loop contribution to the string susceptibility for this Liouville and Mabuchi theory on a surface of arbitrary genus is beyond the scope of this thesis. Thus, in this chapter we only present the much simpler case of the torus, where the constant scalar curvature $R_* = \frac{8\pi(1-h)}{A}$ vanishes. Then, the previous change of variable (3.0.5) stands and the propagator associated to the field $\tilde{\phi}$ is simply

$$\widetilde{G}(x,y)\Big|_{L+M} = \langle x|(\Delta_* + \frac{32\pi}{A}\frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2})^{-1}|y\rangle',$$

$$\equiv \langle x|(\Delta_* + T)^{-1}|y\rangle', \qquad (3.0.7)$$

where we define

$$T = \frac{32\pi}{A} \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} .$$
 (3.0.8)

The coefficients of the small t expansion of the heat kernel associated to the operator $D_*^{\rm M} = \Delta_* + T$ are now (see section 1.3.3)

$$a_0^{\mathcal{M}}(x,y) = 1$$
, $a_1^{\mathcal{M}}(x,y) = -T$, $a_2^{\mathcal{M}}(x,y) = \frac{T^2}{2}$... (3.0.9)

and $\sqrt{g_*} = 1$. The regularized propagator $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ is to be written in terms of these modified coefficients. In particular, we have

$$\widetilde{K}(t,x,x) = \frac{1}{4\pi t} \left[1 - \left(T + \frac{4\pi}{A} \right) t + \left(\frac{T}{2} + \frac{4\pi}{A} \right) T t^2 \right] + \mathcal{O}(t^2) ,$$

$$\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,x) = \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\ln \mu^2 t + \gamma - \left(T + \frac{4\pi}{A} \right) t \right] + \mathcal{O}(t^2) . \quad (3.0.10)$$

In the section 3.1, we present the two-loop computation of the partition function in this Liouville and Mabuchi theory, while section 3.2 is dedicated to the three-loop study. Thus, we expand the Mabuchi action around the metric g_* of constant vanishing scalar curvature up to the "three-loop order" ε^2 :

$$\frac{\beta^2}{\varepsilon} S_{\rm M}[\sigma] = \frac{2\beta^2}{\varepsilon} \ln \frac{A}{A_0} + \frac{32\pi}{A} \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g_*} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \,\widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{\sqrt{4\pi\varepsilon}}{3\kappa} \,\widetilde{\phi}^3 + \frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{3\kappa^2} \,\widetilde{\phi}^4 \right.$$

$$\left. + \frac{16(\pi\varepsilon)^{3/2}}{5\kappa^3} \,\widetilde{\phi}^5 - \frac{(8\pi\varepsilon)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{2}{15} \,\widetilde{\phi}^6 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3) \right\}.$$

$$\left. + \frac{16(\pi\varepsilon)^{3/2}}{5\kappa^3} \,\widetilde{\phi}^5 - \frac{(8\pi\varepsilon)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{2}{15} \,\widetilde{\phi}^6 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3) \right\}.$$

In the following, we adopt the previous notation $\int dx$ for $\int d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)}$.

3.1 Two-loop partition function

From eq. (2.2.1) and (3.0.11), we get the two-loop vertices (up to the first order in ε) for the Liouville plus Mabuchi theory: a cubic vertex, two quartic vertices and a measure vertex. The measure vertex is unchanged (unless for the changes in $\tilde{K}(t, x, x)$ due to the new a_i 's), whereas the other vertices are modified such that:

$$\Upsilon = -\frac{\sqrt{4\pi\varepsilon}}{\kappa} \left(\Delta_* + \frac{1}{3} T \right) , \quad \chi = -\frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \frac{4}{3} \left(\Delta_* + T \right) , \quad \chi = -\frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_* - 2T \right) .$$
(3.1.1)

3.1.1 Diagrams

We get the same diagrams as in the previous study of the pure Liouville theory: the "figure-eight" diagram \bigcirc , the "setting sun" diagram \ominus , the "glasses" diagram $\bigcirc \bigcirc$ and the "measure" diagram \bigcirc . In the following, we give the contributions from each diagram (when all its subdiagrams are summed up) and then their contributions to the partition function in terms of the divergences $A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2$ and $((\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ and in $\ln A\Lambda^2$ which leads to the two-loop contribution for $\gamma_{\rm str}$. We drop the terms proportional to $A\Lambda^2$ since they will anyway be reabsorbed in the cosmological constant, and the constant terms since they vanish when considering $\ln \frac{Z[A]}{Z[A_0]}$.

The figure-eight diagram

First, we have the figure-eight diagram:

$$I_{\mathbb{CO}} = \frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \Big[-6\,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x)\widetilde{K}(t_2, x, x) + 5\,\mathrm{T}\,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x)\,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \Big],$$

$$= \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \Big\{ \frac{3}{2\pi} \left(-\frac{A\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1} + A\mathrm{T} + 4\pi \right) \ln A\Lambda^2 + \frac{5}{4\pi} \,A\mathrm{T} \Big[\left(\ln A\Lambda^2 \right)^2 + 2 \Big(G_0 - \ln \alpha_1 \Big) \ln A\Lambda^2 \Big] \Big\}$$
(3.1.2)

with G_0 defined in the previous chapter in (2.1.54). Remember that this expression has to be understood with the implicit integration $\int_0^\infty d\alpha_1 \varphi(\alpha_1)$. We insist also on the fact that the coefficients in each \widetilde{K} and $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}$ are changed due to the new propagator (3.0.7) and not only the coefficients in front of each integral. Note also that the leading logarithmic divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$, which was vanishing when considering the summed contributions in the pure Liouville theory appears through this diagram. As already discussed in the previous chapters, this two-loop divergence has to vanish in order to ensure the background independence of our results, but also the possibility to renormalize through only local (or "measure-like") counterterms.
The setting sun diagram

Then, we have the setting sun diagram:

$$\begin{split} I_{\ominus} &= \frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \Big[- \left. \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \widetilde{K}(t, x, y) \right|_{t=t_3} + 2 \, \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) \, \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y) \\ &- 4 \, \mathrm{T} \, \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \, \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y) \Big] \,, \\ &= \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \left\{ \frac{1}{\pi} \left(\frac{A\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} + \frac{A\mathrm{T}}{2} \left(\frac{2\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 1 \right) - 6\pi \right) \ln A\Lambda^2 \\ &- \frac{5}{4\pi} \, A\mathrm{T} \left(\left(\ln A\Lambda^2 \right)^2 + 2 \left(G_0 - \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \right) \ln A\Lambda^2 \right) \right\} \,, \quad (3.1.3) \end{split}$$

whose contribution to the leading logarithmic divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ is precisely the one required to cancel the contribution from the figure-eight diagram \bigcirc .

The glasses diagram

Similarly to the pure Liouville theory case, the glasses diagram:

$$I_{\bigcirc\bigcirc} = \frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, y, y) \times \left[\left. -\frac{1}{2} \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \widetilde{K}(t, x, y) \right|_{t=t_3} - 2 \,\mathrm{T}\widetilde{K}\left(t_3, x, y\right) + 2 \,\mathrm{T}^2 \widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_3, x, y\right) \right] \quad (3.1.4)$$

only contributes through constant or $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2)$ terms.

The measure diagram

Finally, we have the measure diagram, whose contribution to γ_{str} and to the diverging part of the two-loop partition function (up to terms proportional to the cosmological constant) is simply:

$$I_{\odot} = \frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) = \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \left\{ \frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\frac{A\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1} - A\mathrm{T} - 4\pi \right) \ln A\Lambda^2 \right\} . \quad (3.1.5)$$

3.1.2 Total contribution to the two-loop partition function

Summing up the contributions (3.1.2)-(3.1.5) of these diagrams, we get the total contribution to the two-loop (order ε) partition function:

$$\ln Z[A]_{2-\text{loop}}^{\text{L+M}} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{5}{2\alpha_1} \right) A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \left[-1 + 8 \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} \left(3 - 5 \ln \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} + \frac{4 \alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} \right) \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 \Biggr\}$$
(3.1.6)

where we did not include neither the constant terms nor those proportional to $A\Lambda^2$. At this point, we should make a few remarks. First, the leading (non-vanishing) divergence in eq. (3.1.6),

$$\frac{\varepsilon}{2\pi\kappa^2} \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{5}{2\,\alpha_1}\right) A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 \tag{3.1.7}$$

is the same as in the pure Liouville theory, as it will be the case for the leading three-loop divergence in section 3.2. This is not surprising since the Mabuchi action (or its loop expansion), missing one Laplacian in comparison to the Liouville action, only modifies the subleading terms, through the coefficient $T = \frac{32\pi}{A} \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2}$. We are then once more led to introduce counterterms in order to make this partition function finite and regulator independent.

Secondly, the (leading) logarithmic divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ is once again absent in the partition function, although present in the individual diagrams. This was also the case for the pure Liouville theory. Contrary to the leading divergence just discussed, the coefficients of this leading logarithmic divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ involve $AT = 32\pi \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2}$ and thus are at present generated from the Mabuchi action. Moreover, in this combined Liouville plus Mabuchi theory, not only the vertices but also the heat kernel coefficients are changed. That the coefficients of the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ again "miraculously" cancel in the end was all but obvious in the beginning.

3.1.3 Counterterm contributions

We choose to only introduce local or non-local "measure-like" counterterms in 1/A. Thus, we consider the following action for the counterterms:

$$S_{\rm ct} = \frac{8\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \frac{1}{2} \int d^2x \sqrt{g_*} \left[c_\phi \,\widetilde{\phi} \left(\Delta_* + T \right) \widetilde{\phi} + c_{\rm T} \, T \, \widetilde{\phi}^2 + c_m \, \widetilde{\phi}^2 \right] \tag{3.1.8}$$

with

$$c_{\phi} = c_{\phi}^{(1)} , \quad c_{\mathrm{T}} = c_{\mathrm{T}}^{(1)} , \quad c_{m} = c_{m}^{(1)} \Lambda^{2} + \frac{c_{m}^{(2)}}{A} .$$
 (3.1.9)

In order to simplify the notation, we do not write the subscript L + M over the counterterms. To determine these counterterms, as previously we compute the full one-loop (order ε) two-point function $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ (at non coinciding points) and we require it to be both finite and regularization independent.

One-loop two-point function

As previously, we have to compute five diagrams:

$$\frac{1}{u} \underbrace{}_{v} = \underbrace{}_{u} \underbrace{}_{v} + \underbrace{}_{u} \underbrace{}_{v} + \underbrace{}_{u} \underbrace{}_{v} + \underbrace{}_{u} \underbrace{}_{v}$$

We are only interested in the diverging and regulator-dependent part of $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$. Thus, the result for $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ and the contributions per diagram given hereafter are written without their finite regulator independent parts. The computations themselves are very similar to those done in the pure Liouville theory case and those details are given in appendix B.1. Thus, we only give the results here. As already emphasized, the expressions (1.3.34) and (1.3.42) for $\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$ (and thus for $\frac{d}{dt}\widetilde{K}(t, x, y)$) and $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, y)$ are to be considered with the coefficients (3.0.9).

$$\mathcal{G}_{u-O-v}^{(2)}(u,v) = \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \left\{ \widetilde{G}(u,v) \left[12 \ln A\Lambda^2 - 4 \left(1 + \frac{2\alpha_1\alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} + 3 \ln(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3) \right) \right] \right. \\ \left. + \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,v) \left(-20 \operatorname{T} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2 + G_0(x) - \ln(\alpha_3 + \alpha_4) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{8\Lambda^2}{\alpha_3 + \alpha_4} + \operatorname{T} \left(-4 + \frac{8\alpha_1\alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} \right) - \frac{80\pi}{A} \right) \right\}, \quad (3.1.10)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{u \ \square v}^{(2)}(u,v) = \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \left\{ -12 \,\widetilde{G}(u,v) \,\left(\ln A\Lambda^2 - \ln \alpha_3\right) \right. \\ \left. + \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,v) \left(20 \,\mathrm{T} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2 + G_0(x) - \ln \alpha_3\right) \right. \\ \left. - 12 \,\frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_3} + 12 \,\mathrm{T} + \frac{48\pi}{A} \right) \right\}, \quad (3.1.11)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{\text{measure}}^{(2)}(u,v) = \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v) \left(2 \frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_3} - 2 \,\mathrm{T} - \frac{8\pi}{A}\right) \,, \tag{3.1.12}$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{ct}^{(2)}(u,v) = \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \left\{ -8\pi c_{\phi}^{(1)} \widetilde{G}(u,v) - 8\pi \left(c_{T}^{(1)} T + c_{m}^{(1)} \Lambda^2 + \frac{c_{m}^{(2)}}{A} \right) \int dx \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,v) \right\}, \quad (3.1.13)$$

with

$$G_0(x) = 4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) - \gamma - \ln A_0 \mu^2 . \qquad (3.1.14)$$

The diagram \bigcirc has neither diverging nor regulator dependent parts, and is therefore omitted in the following.

Summing up eq. (3.1.10)-(3.1.13), we get the diverging and regulator dependent parts of the full one-loop two-point function:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v) &= \frac{4\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ \widetilde{G}(u,v) \Biggl[\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 1 - \frac{2\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 2\pi c_{\phi}^{(1)} \Biggr] \\ &+ \int dx \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v) \Biggl[\Lambda^2 \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{5}{2\alpha_1} - 2\pi c_m^{(1)} \right) \\ &+ T \Biggl(- \frac{5}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} + \frac{3}{2} + \frac{2\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 2\pi c_{\mathrm{T}}^{(1)} \Biggr) - \frac{10\pi + 2\pi c_m^{(2)}}{A} \Biggr] \Biggr\} . \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.1.15)$$

Finiteness and regulator dependence partly fix the counterterms. Moreover, imposing the "strong locality condition" also fixes $c_m^{(2)} = -1$ such that we get:

$$c_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left[\frac{3}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 1 - \frac{2\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} \right] + \hat{c}_{\phi} ,$$

$$c_{\rm T} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left[-\frac{5}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} + \frac{3}{2} + \frac{2\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} \right] + \hat{c}_{\rm T} ,$$

$$c_m = \frac{\Lambda^2}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{5}{2\alpha_1} \right) - \frac{1}{A} .$$
(3.1.16)

Note that both c_{ϕ} and c_m take the same value as in the case of the pure Liouville theory. This was expected, since the Mabuchi action comes with a coupling β^2 only present through the T coefficient carried in the counterterm action by $c_{\rm T}$.

Two-loop partition function

The counterterms contribute to the partition function through the diagram ():

$$I_{\bigcirc} = -\frac{4\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[c_{\phi} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,x) + (c_{\mathrm{T}}\mathrm{T} + c_m) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t,x,x) \right] \,, \tag{3.1.17}$$

such that

$$W^{(2)}[A]\Big|_{M+L} \equiv \ln Z[A]_{2-\text{loop}}^{M+L} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{5}{2\alpha_1} - 2\pi c_m^{(1)} \right) A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \left[-1 - c_m^{(2)} + 8 \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2} \left(3 - 5 \ln \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} + \frac{4\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} - 4\pi c_T^{(1)} \right) \right] \ln A\Lambda^2 \Biggr\}$$
$$= -32\pi \frac{\varepsilon \beta^2}{\kappa^4} \widehat{c}_{T}$$
(3.1.18)

with the values (3.1.16). In the pure Liouville theory, the two-loop contribution to γ_{str} is proportional to (1-h) (see (2.1.106)):

$$\gamma_{\rm str}^{(2)} = -\frac{4}{\kappa^2} \,\widehat{c}_R \,(1-h) \,\,. \tag{3.1.19}$$

3.2. THREE-LOOP DISCUSSION

Then, the Liouville contribution to γ_{str} is vanishing on the torus and it is not surprising that our result (3.1.18) is simply proportional to β^2 , the coupling constant to the Mabuchi action. It is remarkable that in this (simplified) Liouville and Mabuchi theory on the torus, the requirement of finiteness and regularization independence of the two-point function is once more sufficient to ensure the finiteness and regularization independence of the partition function (at least at two loops). Note that the counterterms we introduced are either local or non-local in 1/A but satisfying the "strong locality condition" that the global action – including the counterterms, the Liouville and Mabuchi actions and the contribution from the measure – does not contain any non-local term.

Once more, at this order in the perturbation theory, we end up with two free finite and regularization independent constants, \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_{Γ} , with only one contributing to the string susceptibility.

3.2 Three-loop discussion

We present now the extension to the Liouville and Mabuchi theory on the torus of the results of the three-loop study carried on in the previous chapter for the pure Liouville theory. As already discussed, the leading divergence remains the same. Thus, we will only check in the following that the leading logarithmic divergence in $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ cancels between the diagrams. Indeed, this divergence – which comes together with unwanted background dependent terms – can not be absorbed by the addition of local (or non-local but measure-like) counterterms alone. Thus, this cancellation is a requirement for the consistency of our theory.

Then, we present the contributions of the counterterms to both the three-loop partition function and to the diverging and regulator dependent part of the two-loop two-point function (order ε^2). Indeed, the diverging part of the three- and four-point functions are unchanged and fix uniquely both $f_m^{(1)}$ and $q_m^{(1)}$ as defined in the previous chapter, thus, we only discuss the two-point function in the following.

First, let us write the genuine three-loop (*i.e.* order ε^2) vertices for our Liouville and Mabuchi theory. From eq. (2.2.1) and (3.0.11), one reads the vertices that appear in addition to (3.1.1):

3.2.1 Cancellation of the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence

Similarly to what happened in the pure Liouville case on surfaces of any genus, the local or measure-like counterterms one can introduce do not contribute to the leading

3.2. THREE-LOOP DISCUSSION

logarithmic divergence $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$. Thus, for consistency, we computed its contribution in each of the 29 types of diagrams at three-loop (see the previous chapter). Indeed, although the coefficients in the vertices and in the regularized propagator are modified in the Liouville plus Mabuchi theory on the torus, their structure remains the same and we can build exactly the same diagram than in the previous study. These diagrams contribute the same leading divergence but their subleading terms differ. However, once more, the "miracle" occurs and the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ divergence cancels between the diagrams, as one can read in Tab. 3.1.

	\mathcal{A}	\bigcirc	∞	\bigcirc	$\stackrel{\texttt{O}}{\mapsto}$	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigtriangleup	Total
$\frac{\varepsilon^2 A \mathrm{T}}{\pi \kappa^4} \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^3$	28	-26	-30	-90	80	$136+rac{2}{3}$	$-52 - \frac{4}{3}$	$-44 - \frac{4}{3}$	0
$\frac{8(1-h)}{\kappa^4} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^3$	-20	18	18	60	-42	-86	$26 + \frac{4}{3}$	$24 + \frac{2}{3}$	0

Table 3.1: $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$ contributions per diagrams. The first line corresponds to the Liouville and Mabuchi theory on the torus whereas the second line corresponds to the Liouville theory on surfaces of any genus.

Let us stress that this cancellation was once more by no means obvious and that it is crucial for the consistency of our theory. Similarly to the "pure" Liouville theory, we expect this to happen for the leading logarithmic divergence at each order in ε .

3.2.2 Counterterm contributions

We introduce the same counterterm actions as in the previous chapter. Namely, inserting the undetermined counterterms from the two-loop computation, we have:

$$S_{\rm ct}^{\rm quad'} = \frac{8\pi\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left[\left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} c_{\phi}' \right) \widetilde{\phi} \left(\Delta_* + {\rm T} \right) \widetilde{\phi} + \left(\widehat{c}_{\rm T} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} c_{\rm T}' \right) {\rm T} \, \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2} c_{m}' \widetilde{\phi}^2 \right] ,$$

$$S_{\rm ct}^{\rm c} = \frac{16 \left(\pi\varepsilon \right)^{3/2}}{\kappa^3} \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left[f_{\phi} \, \widetilde{\phi}^2 (\Delta_* + {\rm T}) \, \widetilde{\phi} + f_{\rm T} {\rm T} \, \widetilde{\phi}^3 + f_{m} \widetilde{\phi}^3 \right] , \qquad (3.2.2)$$

$$S_{\rm ct}^{\rm q} = \frac{\left(8\pi\varepsilon \right)^2}{\kappa^4} \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left[q_{\phi} \, \widetilde{\phi}^3 (\Delta_* + {\rm T}) \, \widetilde{\phi} + \widehat{q}_{\phi} \, \widetilde{\phi}^2 (\Delta_* + 2{\rm T}) \, \widetilde{\phi}^2 + q_{\rm T} {\rm T} \, \widetilde{\phi}^4 + q_{m} \widetilde{\phi}^4 \right] .$$

Once again, we include the $\frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa^2}$ terms in the expansion of the quadratic counterterms. These counterterms may be expanded as:

(1)

where we recall that \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_{T} are regulator independent constants.

3.2. THREE-LOOP DISCUSSION

Three-loop vacuum diagrams

$$I_{\bigcirc} = -\frac{4\pi\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \int dx \, \left(c'_{\rm T} \mathbf{T} + c'_m\right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t, x, x)$$

$$= -\frac{\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \left\{ c''_m A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 + \left(c''_m (t) + c''_{\rm T} A \mathbf{T}\right) \ln A \Lambda^2 \right\},$$
(3.2.4)

$$I_{\bigcirc} = -\frac{\widehat{c}_{\phi}}{2} \frac{(8\pi\varepsilon)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y)$$

$$= \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \left\{ -\frac{2}{\alpha_1} \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} \,A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + 2 \,\left(A\mathrm{T} + 4\pi\right) \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} \,\ln A\Lambda^2 \right\} \,,$$

$$(3.2.5)$$

$$I_{\bigcirc} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(8\pi\varepsilon)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \, c_\phi \, (c_\mathrm{T} \,\mathrm{T} + c_m) \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, y) \tag{3.2.6}$$

$$= \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \left\{ \left(-\frac{10}{\alpha_1} + \frac{8}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} \right) \widehat{c}_{\phi} A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \ln A\Lambda^2 \left[8\pi A \mathrm{T} \, \widehat{c}_{\phi} \, \widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}} + 2 \left(\frac{1}{4} A \mathrm{T} - 4\pi \right) \widehat{c}_{\phi} + 4A \mathrm{T} \left((5 \, \widehat{c}_{\phi} - 3 \, \widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}}) \left(\ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) - \ln\alpha_1 \right) + (\widehat{c}_{\phi} - \widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}}) \left(1 + \frac{2\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^2} \right) \right) \right] \right\},$$

where we used the values (3.1.16) for the counterterms c_{ϕ} , $c_{\rm T}$ and c_m and kept only the parts involving one (or more) counterterm. Then, the "figure-eight" diagrams:

$$\begin{split} I_{\bigcirc} &= \frac{(8\pi\varepsilon)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \left\{ \left(-5\,\widehat{c}_{\phi} + 3\,\widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}} \right) \mathrm{T}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_1, x, x\right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2, x, y\right) \widetilde{K}\left(t_3, x, y\right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{3}{2}\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \left[-\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2, x, y\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \widetilde{K}\left(t, x, y\right) \right|_{t=t_3} + \widetilde{K}\left(t_2, x, y\right) \widetilde{K}\left(t_3, x, y\right) \right] \\ &+ 3\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\,\widetilde{K}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2, x, y\right) \widetilde{K}\left(t_3, x, y\right) - 5\,\widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}} \mathrm{T}^2\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2, x, y\right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_3, x, y\right) \right\} \\ &= \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \left\{ 12\left(\frac{1}{\alpha_1} + \frac{1}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}\right)\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\,A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \left(12\,\widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}} - 20\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\right)A\mathrm{T}\left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \right. \\ &+ \left[\left(12\,\widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}} - 20\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\right)A\mathrm{T}\left(2\,G_0 - \ln\alpha_1 - \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)\right) - 24\,\left(A\mathrm{T} + 4\pi\right)\widehat{c}_{\phi} \right. \\ &- 80\,\pi\,\mathrm{T}^2\,\widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}}\,\int \mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}y\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_1, x, y\right)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2, x, y\right) \left. \ln A\Lambda^2 \right\}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} I_{\bigcirc} &= -\frac{(8\pi\varepsilon)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[\left(\frac{3}{2} q_{\phi} + 2 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi} \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \widetilde{K}(t_2, x, x) \right. \\ &+ \left(\widehat{q}_{\phi} \mathrm{T} \, + \, \frac{3}{2} \, \left(q_{\mathrm{T}} \, \mathrm{T} + q_{m} \right) \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \right] \, , \\ &= - \, \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \Biggl\{ 6 \, q_m^{(1)} A \Lambda^2 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 + \left[\frac{1}{\alpha_1} \left(6 \, q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} \right) + 12 \, q_m^{(1)} (G_0 - \ln \alpha_1) \right] A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 \\ &+ \left[6 \, q_m^{(2)} + A \mathrm{T} \left(4 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 \, q_{\mathrm{T}}^{(1)} \right) \right] \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 - \left[\left(A \mathrm{T} + 4\pi \right) \left(6 \, q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} - 12 \, \alpha_1 \, q_m^{(1)} \right) \right. \\ &- 2 \left(6 \, q_m^{(2)} + A \mathrm{T} \left(4 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 \, q_{\mathrm{T}}^{(1)} \right) \right) \left(G_0 - \ln \alpha_1 \right) \right] \ln A \Lambda^2 \Biggr\} \, . \quad (3.2.8) \end{split}$$

with $G_0 = \frac{4\pi}{A_0} \int d^2x \sqrt{g_0(x)} \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) - \gamma - \ln A_0 \mu^2$ given in (2.1.54). Then, finally we have the two "setting sun" diagrams. As previously done for the other diagrams, the first diagram can be written in terms of the regularized propagators and (thus in terms of the heat kernels) as:

$$\begin{split} I_{\bigodot} &= \frac{\left(8\pi\varepsilon\right)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \left\{ 4\,\widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}}\,\mathrm{T}^2\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_1,x,y\right)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2,x,y\right)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_3,x,z\right)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_4,y,z\right) \right. \\ &- \left(\widehat{c}_{\phi}\,\widetilde{K}(t_3,x,z) + \widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}}\,\mathrm{T}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,z)\right)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4,y,z) \times \\ &\left[\widetilde{K}\left(t_1,x,y\right)\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_2,x,y\right) - \widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_1,x,y\right)\,\frac{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{K}}{\mathrm{d}t_2}(t_2,x,y)\right] \right] \\ &+ \,\mathrm{T}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,x,y)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,y)\left[\,\widehat{C}\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_3,x,z\right)\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_4,y,z\right) - \widehat{c}_{\phi}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_3,x,z\right)\,\frac{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{K}}{\mathrm{d}t_4}\left(t_4,y,z\right)\right] \\ &+ \,\widetilde{K}\left(t_1,x,y\right)\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_3,x,z\right)\left[\,4\,\widehat{C}\,\mathrm{T}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2,x,y\right)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_4,y,z\right) - \widehat{c}_{\phi}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2,x,y\right)\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_4,y,z\right)\right] \\ &+ \,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_1,x,y\right)\,\frac{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{K}}{\mathrm{d}t_3}\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_3,x,z\right)\left[\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_2,x,y\right)\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_4,y,z\right) + \frac{1}{2}\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\left(t_2,x,y\right)\,\widetilde{K}\left(t_4,y,z\right)\right]\,\Big\}\,, \\ (3.2.9) \end{split}$$

where we define $\widehat{C} = \widehat{c}_{\phi} - \frac{\widehat{c}_{\mathrm{T}}}{2}$ for the sake of brevity.

Then, we get

$$I_{\textcircled{e}} = \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{\kappa^{4}} \left\{ -8 \left(\frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}} + \frac{2}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3}} \right) \widehat{c}_{\phi} A\Lambda^{2} \ln A\Lambda^{2} + \left(30 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} - 14 \,\widehat{c}_{T} \right) AT \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2} \right)^{2} + \ln A\Lambda^{2} \left[80 \,\pi \,\mathrm{T}^{2} \,\widehat{c}_{T} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_{1}, x, y \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_{2}, x, y \right) + 2 \,G_{0} \left(30 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} - 14 \,\widehat{c}_{T} \right) AT - 4 AT \left[\left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} - \widehat{c}_{T} \right) \left(1 + \frac{2\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2})^{2}} \right) - \left(10 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} - 4 \,\widehat{c}_{T} \right) \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3}) - \left(5 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} - 3 \,\widehat{c}_{T} \right) \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}) \right] + 4 \,\widehat{c}_{\phi} \left[36\pi + AT \left(\frac{8}{3} + \frac{4 \,\alpha_{1}^{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3})^{2}} \right) \right] \right] \right\},$$

$$(3.2.10)$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\begin{split} I_{\bigodot} &= \frac{(8\pi\varepsilon)^2}{\kappa^4} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \Bigg\{ \Big[-f_{\phi} \mathrm{T} + \frac{3}{2} \left(f_{\mathrm{T}} \mathrm{T} + f_m \right) \Big] \widehat{\tilde{K}} \left(t_1, x, y \right) \widehat{\tilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, y \right) \widetilde{K} \left(t_3, x, y \right) \\ &+ f_{\phi} \, \widehat{\tilde{K}} (t_1, x, y) \Bigg[-\frac{1}{2} \, \widehat{\tilde{K}} \left(t_2, x, y \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \widetilde{K} \left(t, x, y \right) \Big|_{t=t_3} + \widetilde{K} \left(t_2, x, y \right) \widetilde{K} \left(t_3, x, y \right) \Bigg] \Bigg\} , \\ &= \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \Bigg\{ 6 \, f_m^{(1)} A \Lambda^2 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 + \left[\frac{8}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \, f_m^{(1)} \left(G_0 - \ln(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3) \right) \right] A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 \\ &+ 6 \, \left[f_m^{(2)} + A \mathrm{T} \left(-f_{\phi}^{(1)} + f_{\mathrm{T}}^{(1)} + \alpha_3 \, f_m^{(1)} \right) \right] \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 + \left[-48\pi \left(f_{\phi}^{(1)} - 2 \, \alpha_3 \, f_m^{(1)} \right) \\ &+ \left(-4 \, f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \, \alpha_3 \, f_m^{(1)} \right) A \mathrm{T} + \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} \left(\frac{8}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \, f_m^{(1)} \right) A \mathrm{T} \\ &+ 12 \left(f_m^{(2)} + A \mathrm{T} \left(-f_{\phi}^{(1)} + f_{\mathrm{T}}^{(1)} + \alpha_3 \, f_m^{(1)} \right) \right) \left(G_0 - \ln(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3) \right) \right] \ln A \Lambda^2 \Bigg\} . \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.2.11)$$

Total contribution of the counterterms to the two-loop partition function Summing the previous contributions (3.2.4)-(3.2.11), one gets:

$$W^{(3)}[A]\Big|_{\rm ct} = \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\kappa^4} \left\{ \Omega_1 A \Lambda^2 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 + \Omega_2 A \Lambda^2 \ln A \Lambda^2 + \Omega_3 \left(\ln A \Lambda^2 \right)^2 + \Omega_4 \ln A \Lambda^2 \right\},$$
(3.2.12)

with

$$\Omega_1 = \Omega_1^{\text{Liouville}}, \quad \Omega_2 = \Omega_2^{\text{Liouville}}, \quad (3.2.13)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{3} &= \Omega_{3}^{(a)} + \Omega_{3}^{(b)} + \Omega_{3}^{(c)} ,\\ \Omega_{3}^{(a)} &= -6 \ q_{m}^{(2)} - AT \left(4 \ \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 \ q_{T}^{(1)} \right) ,\\ \Omega_{3}^{(b)}(\alpha_{1}) &= 6 \ f_{m}^{(2)} + AT \left(-6 \ f_{\phi}^{(1)} - 10 \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} + 6 \ \widehat{c}_{T} + 6 \ f_{T}^{(1)} + 6 \ \alpha_{1} \ f_{m}^{(1)} \right) ,\\ \Omega_{3}^{(c)} &= AT \left(20 \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} - 8 \ \widehat{c}_{T} \right) ,\\ \Omega_{4} &= 2 \ \Omega_{3} \ G_{0} + \Omega_{4}^{(a)} + 48\pi \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} + 8\pi \ AT \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} \ \widehat{c}_{T} , ,\\ \Omega_{4}^{(a)} &= -2 \left(\ \Omega_{3}^{(a)} \ln \alpha_{1} + \Omega_{3}^{(b)}(\alpha_{1}) \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}) + \Omega_{3}^{(c)} \ln(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3}) \right) \\ &+ \left(4\pi + AT \right) \left(6 \ q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \ \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \ \alpha_{1} \ f_{m}^{(1)} - 12 \ f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 2 \ \alpha_{1} \ \Omega_{1} \right) \\ &- AT \left(\frac{28}{3} \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} - 8 \ f_{\phi}^{(1)} + \frac{12 \ \alpha_{1}^{2}}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}} f_{m}^{(1)} - \frac{8 \ \alpha_{1} \alpha_{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2})^{2}} f_{\phi}^{(1)} - \frac{16 \ \alpha_{1}^{2}}{(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3})^{2}} \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} \right) \\ &- \left(c_{m}^{\prime(2)} + AT \ c_{T}^{\prime(1)} \right) . \end{split}$$
(3.2.14)

Of course, only the parts involving the coupling to the Mabuchi action β^2 , that is to say $AT = 32\pi \frac{\beta^2}{\kappa^2}$ are modified with respect to the pure Liouville theory. However, as for the pure Liouville theory, these counterterms for the Louville plus Mabuchi theory do not contribute to the leading logarithmic divergence at three loops $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^3$. Then, its "magic" cancellation through the diagrams (see Tab. 3.1) was indeed crucial for the consistency of our theory.

Finiteness of the two-point function

As previously stated, the diverging parts of the three- and four-point function are not changed with respect to the pure Liouville theory by the inclusion of the Mabuchi action, when studying the torus. Thus, in order to look at the freedom of the three-loop counterterms in (3.2.14), it is sufficient to give their diverging contributions to the two-point function only. We have

$$- \left[\int_{\varepsilon^{2}, \text{div}}^{\text{CT}} = \frac{8\pi\varepsilon^{2}}{\kappa^{4}} \left\{ \left(\rho_{1} \Lambda^{2} \ln A\Lambda^{2} + \rho_{2} \Lambda^{2} + \rho_{3} \frac{\ln A\Lambda^{2}}{A} \right) \int dx \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_{1}, a, x \right) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_{2}, b, x \right) \right. \\ \left. + \rho_{4} \Lambda^{2} \int dx \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_{0}} \left(x \right) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_{1}, a, x \right) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_{2}, b, x \right) + \rho_{5} \ln A\Lambda^{2} \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(t_{1}, a, b \right) \\ \left. + 24\pi \, f_{m}^{(1)} \Lambda^{2} \, H^{M} \left(a, b \right) \right\} \,, \qquad (3.2.15)$$

with

$$\rho_{1} = \rho_{1}^{\text{Liouville}} , \quad \rho_{2} = \rho_{2}^{\text{Liouville}} , \quad \rho_{3} = 2 \ \Omega_{3} , \quad \rho_{4} = \rho_{4}^{\text{Liouville}} , \\ \rho_{5} = -\left(6 \ q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \ \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \ \alpha_{1} \ f_{m}^{(1)} + 12 \ \widehat{c}_{\phi} - 12 \ f_{\phi}^{(1)}\right) = \rho_{5}^{\text{Liouville}}$$
(3.2.16)

and

$$\begin{split} H^{M}(a,b) &= -2 \operatorname{T} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{1},a,x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{2},x,y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},x,y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{4},y,b) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{1},a,x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{2},b,x) \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},a,x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},b,x) \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \left[\frac{1}{2} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{1},x,y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{2},x,y) \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},a,x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},y,b) \right) \right. \\ &+ 2 \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{1},a,x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{2},x,y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},y,b) \right] \\ &- 2 \operatorname{T} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{1},a,x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{2},x,b) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},x,y) \, \widetilde{\widetilde{G}}_{\zeta}(y) \\ &+ \int \mathrm{d}x \, \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{1},a,x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{2},x,b) \right) \\ &\times \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},a,b) \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}y \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_{3},x,y) \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right] \,. \quad (3.2.17) \end{split}$$

Finiteness of the two-point function at order ε^2 then fixes all the combinations $\rho_1, \ldots \rho_5$. Namely, ρ_2 fixes Ω_2 and ρ_3 fixes Ω_3 , while Ω_1 is fixed by the finiteness of the three- and four-point functions. Thus, we do not have any freedom in the counterterm coefficients of the divergences of the three-loop partition function. As it was the case in the two-loop study, we expect these combinations to be fixed by the finiteness of the *n*-point functions in such a way that they absorb the divergences of the partition function.

If we consider now Ω_4 which contributes to the three-loop contribution to γ_{str} , ρ_5 fixes the second line in the coefficient $\Omega_4^{(a)}$. Moreover, the "strong locality" condition impose the values

$$q_m^{(2)} = -1$$
, $f_m^{(2)} = -\frac{4}{3}$, $c_m^{\prime(2)} = 0$, (3.2.18)

resulting in five free parameters in Ω_4 (and thus in γ_{str} : $\Omega_3^{(b)}$, \hat{c}_{ϕ} , \hat{c}_{T} , $f_{\phi}^{(1)}$ and $c_{\text{T}}^{\prime(1)}$. However, considering the finite part of the two-point function, and in particular the finite coefficient of $\int \mathrm{d}x \, \hat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \, \hat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, b, x)$ and of $\int \mathrm{d}x \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) \, \hat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \, \hat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, b, x)$ can help fix one constant. Indeed, we have

$$- \left|_{\varepsilon^{2}, \text{fin}}^{\text{CT}}\right| = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^{4}} \left\{ \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \left[\rho_{6} \left(4\pi \ \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_{0}}(x) - \gamma - \ln A_{0}\mu^{2} \right) + \rho_{7} \right] \widetilde{G}(a, x) \widetilde{G}(b, x) \right. \\ \left. + \rho_{8} \frac{4\pi}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}y \ \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right) \widetilde{G}(a, x) \ \widetilde{G}(b, x) + \ldots \right\}$$

$$(3.2.19)$$

with

$$\rho_{6} = 2 \Omega_{3} = \rho_{3} ,
\rho_{7} = \Omega_{4}^{(a)} - 32\pi f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 176\pi \hat{c}_{\phi} + 16\pi AT \hat{c}_{\phi} \hat{c}_{T} ,
\rho_{8} = 6 f_{m}^{(2)} + AT \left(-f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 f_{T}^{(1)} + 24 \hat{c}_{\phi} - 14 \hat{c}_{T} \right) .$$
(3.2.20)

Imposing this structure to be regulator independent in the full two-loop two-point function result in fixing ρ_7 to a constant \hat{c} ($\rho_6 = \rho_3$ being already fixed). This means that $\Omega_4^{(a)}$ is fixed in terms of \hat{c} , $f_{\phi}^{(1)}$, \hat{c}_{ϕ} and $\hat{c}_{\rm T}$. Injecting this into (3.2.14), we end up with four undetermined constants at three loops. This happens also in the pure Liouville theory on surfaces of any genus studied in the previous chapter, where the number of remaining free counterterms is also reduced to four. However, we still need new conditions to impose in order to completely fix these parameters, and hence our theory.

Discussion

The path to a quantized theory of gravity has not been marked out yet. Consequently, several ways are currently explored. One of them relies on the continuous approach of the Liouville theory, which describes the coupling of any conformal field theory to gravity in two dimensions. One object we can characterize in this approach is the partition function at fixed area whose area dependence is described by a critical exponent called the string susceptibility γ_{str} . The formalism of the functional integral appears to be a natural one to compute both the fixed area partition function and the string susceptibility. However, one of the major difficulties lies in the non-flat integration measure over the space of the metrics. Moreover, in a theory of quantum gravity one has to sum over the topologies. Nevertheless, under the simplifying assumption of a free-field measure, a formula for γ_{str} has been obtained in the end of the 1980s through the DDK argument. This formula, referred to as the KPZ formula since it has first been conjectured by Khnizik, Polyakov and Zamolodchikov on the sphere, has since been found in agreement with several results from the discrete methods.

The present work follows these footsteps. Taking advantage of recent advances in efficient multi-loop regularization methods on curved space, it has been possible to precisely regularize the complicated integration measure and thus to treat it without the strong hypothesis of a free-field measure. Then, a first-principles computation of the string susceptibility has been initiated at one loop, in a generalized Liouville theory including the Mabuchi action, which appears as a first order correction to the Liouville theory if the matter is massive and hence non-conformal. The one-loop result for $\gamma_{\rm str}$ is in agreement with the KPZ formula (in the case of conformal matter only). This thesis goes further with the full two-loop computation in to cases: first in a "pure" Liouville theory on a surface of arbitrary genus, and then, in the special case of the torus, in a Liouville plus Mabuchi theory, thus investigating the coupling to non-conformal matter. The non-trivial nature of the quantum gravity integration measure is revealed beyond one loop, starting at two loops. Then, it generates a "measure" action whose has to be added to the Liouville (and the Mabuchi) actions.

The results obtained from these computations present divergences, and thus one needs to renormalize them. The consistency of this approach is emphasized by the fact that the divergences that would require non-local counterterms, cancel among themselves. It is remarkable that those vanishing terms come together with background dependent structures which are, of course, undesirable in a theory of quantum gravity and which vanish together with the divergences. Consequently, the renormalization procedure is possible through only local counterterms, with the highlighted exception of the so-called "measure-like" counterterms, presenting the same dependence in the area than the measure action. These counterterms are thus understood as a renormalization of the complicated non-flat quantum gravity integration measure. They can be fixed by the requirements of finiteness and regularization independence and by imposing the so-called "strong locality condition" – which imposes the area dependent terms in the "measure action" to cancel with the counterterms. We obtain an expression for the string susceptibility which depends on one free parameter at two loops and which is compatible with the KPZ formula. Although one of the counterterms involved in γ_{str} is fixed to its KPZ value by the strong locality condition, there seems to be no reason in our formalism to fix the remaining counterterm to its KPZ value.

Then, a three-loop computation has been performed. In particular, the leading divergence is non-vanishing and the renormalization procedure is once more required. Very similarly to the two-loop order, the only divergence which the introduction of local or measure-like counterterms could not cancel is vanishing. This is crucial for the consistency of our theory. Moreover, finiteness of the *n*-point function automatically fixes the counterterm coefficients of the diverging part of the partition function. If one requires in addition its regularization independence, and if one imposes the strong locality condition, one ends up with four free independent constants in $\gamma_{\rm str}$, that is to say three more than at two loops.

As emphasized previously, the fact that only local counterterms are required to guarantee the finiteness of the theory is due to the fact that some divergences vanish. This is far from obvious and may be due to a hidden symmetry of the theory. This symmetry is most probably also the reason why the finiteness of the two-point function seems to automatically imply the finiteness of the partition function. This has been shown at two loops and is hinted at three loops. Unravelling this hidden symmetry is thus the key to ensure renormalizability at all orders.

APPENDIX A Some useful integrals

Here we list various integrals of the form

$$I[f] = \frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 \tilde{z} \ e^{-\tilde{z}^2} f(\tilde{z}^2) = \int_0^\infty d\xi \ e^{-\xi} f(\xi) \ , \tag{A.1}$$

where $d^2 \tilde{z}$ is the flat measure: any non-trivial expansion of \sqrt{g} is included in f. Then

$$I[\xi^n] = n! ,$$

$$I[\xi^n \ln \xi] = c_n - (n!) \gamma$$
(A.2)

with

$$c_0 = 0$$
, $c_1 = 1$, $c_2 = 3$, $c_3 = 11$, ... (A.3)

One has also

$$I[(\ln \xi)^2] = \gamma^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{6} ,$$

$$I[\xi(\ln \xi)^2] = \gamma^2 - 2\gamma + \frac{\pi^2}{6} , \qquad (A.4)$$

and

$$\begin{split} I[E_{1}(\xi/a)] &= \ln(1+a) ,\\ I[\xi E_{1}(\xi/a)] &= -\frac{a}{1+a} + \ln(1+a) ,\\ I[\xi^{2}E_{1}(\xi/a)] &= -\frac{a(2+3a)}{(1+a)^{2}} + 2\ln(1+a) ,\\ I[\xi^{3}E_{1}(\xi/a)] &= -\frac{a(11a^{2}+15a+6)}{(1+a)^{3}} + 6\ln(1+a) ,\\ I[E_{2}(\xi/a)] &= 1 - \frac{1}{a}\ln(1+a) ,\\ I[\xi E_{2}(\xi/a)] &= 1 + \frac{1}{1+a} - \frac{2}{a}\ln(1+a) ,\\ I[\ln \xi \ E_{1}(\xi/a)] &= -\frac{\pi^{2}}{6} - \gamma\ln(1+a) + Li_{2}(\frac{1}{1+a}) , \end{split}$$
(A.5)

where the E_n are the exponential integral functions defined in (1.3.41) :

$$E_n(w) = \int_1^\infty du \, u^{-n} e^{-uw} \,. \tag{A.6}$$

$$\widetilde{z}^{i}\widetilde{z}^{j} \to \frac{1}{2}\,\widetilde{z}^{2}\,\delta^{ij}$$
(A.7)

and

$$\widetilde{z}^{i}\widetilde{z}^{j}\widetilde{z}^{k}\widetilde{z}^{l} \to \frac{1}{8} \,(\widetilde{z}^{2})^{2} \,\left(\delta^{ij}\delta^{kl} + \delta^{ik}\delta^{jl} + \delta^{il}\delta^{jk}\right) \,. \tag{A.8}$$

One- and two-loop contributions to the two-point function

In this appendix are given the details of the computation of the "one-loop" and "two-loop" contributions (order $1/\kappa^2$ and $1/\kappa^4$ respectively) to the two-point function $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}$.

B.1 "One-loop" contributions to the two-point function

In this section we write computational details of the one-loop contributions to the twopoint function $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u,v)$ for non-coinciding points $u \neq v$.

B.1.1 One-loop contribution from u –O– v

Recall that $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ always includes the two external propagators that, by consistency, are also regularized, i.e. replaced by $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}$. Then, for the diagram $-\bigcirc$ -, due to the many ways the derivatives in the cubic vertex can act, one gets many different contributions. They yield

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{u-\mathcal{O}-v}^{(2)}(u,v) &= \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \Big[\widetilde{K}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{K} + 2\widetilde{K}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} + 2\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{K} + 2\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \\ &+ 2\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\widetilde{K})\widehat{\widetilde{K}} + R_*\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} + R_*\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} + 4R_*\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} + R_*^2\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \Big], \quad (B.1.1) \end{aligned}$$

where $\widetilde{K}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}$ stands for $\widetilde{K}(t_1, u, x)\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y)\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y)\widetilde{K}(t_4, y, v)$ etc.

We now evaluate this for $u \neq v$. More precisely, since we work at finite cutoff, we do not want $\ell^2(u, v)$ to be as small as $\frac{1}{\Lambda^2}$ and require $\ell^2(u, v) \Lambda^2 \gg 1$. Then $K(t = \alpha/\Lambda^2, u, v) \sim \frac{\Lambda^2}{4\pi\alpha} e^{-\ell^2 \Lambda^2/(4\alpha)}$ is exponentially small and can always be dropped. Also $\widetilde{K}(t, u, v) = \widetilde{G}(u, v)$ + exponentially small + $\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{\Lambda^2})$, cf (1.3.31) or (1.3.40). Furthermore, in $\int dy \widetilde{K}(t_1, u, y) \widetilde{K}(t_2, y, v)$ or in $\int dy \widetilde{K}(t_1, u, y) \widetilde{K}(t_2, y, u)$ we may replace the \widetilde{K} by \widetilde{G} since these integrals have finite limits as $\Lambda \to \infty$. (The logarithmic short-distance singularity $(\ln \mu^2(y-u)^2)^n$ is integrable for any integer n.)

Denoting by +... terms that are either $\mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2)$ or exponentially small as just

explained, we find

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{K}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}} = (\widetilde{G}(u,v))^2 - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,(\widetilde{G}(u,x))^2 - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,(\widetilde{G}(x,v))^2 + \frac{1}{A^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,(\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 + \dots , \quad (B.1.2)$$

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{K}\widetilde{K}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}} = \widetilde{G}(u,v)\frac{1}{4\pi} \left(-\ln\mu^2(t_2+t_3) + 4\pi\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) - \gamma\right) \\ -\frac{1}{A}\int \mathrm{d}x \,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}(x,v) - \frac{1}{A}\int \mathrm{d}x \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\widetilde{G}(x,v) + \dots , \quad (B.1.3)$$

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}} = \widetilde{G}(u,v)\frac{1}{4\pi} \left(-\ln\mu^2(t_2+t_3) + 4\pi\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(v) - \gamma\right) \\ -\frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}(x,v) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \dots , \quad (B.1.4)$$

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \widetilde{K} \widetilde{\widetilde{K}} = -\widetilde{G}(u,v) \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} + \frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\frac{1}{t_2 + t_3} + \frac{7}{6} R_* - \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} R_* - \frac{8\pi}{A} \right) \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4,x,v) + \dots ,$$
(B.1.5)

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\widetilde{K}\right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}} = -\widetilde{G}(u,v) \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\ln\mu^2(t_2+t_3) + \gamma + 1 + \frac{\alpha_2\alpha_3}{(\alpha_2+\alpha_3)^2}\right] \\ + \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\frac{1}{t_2+t_3} - R_* \left(-\frac{1}{6} + \gamma + \ln\mu^2(t_2+t_3) + \frac{\alpha_2\alpha_3}{(\alpha_2+\alpha_3)^2}\right) - \frac{4\pi}{A}\right] \\ \times \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4,x,v) + \int \mathrm{d}x \,\partial_x^i \widetilde{G}(u,x) \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \,\partial_x^i \widetilde{G}(x,v) \\ + \frac{R_*}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}(u,x) \widetilde{G}(x,y) \widetilde{G}(y,v) + \dots , \qquad (B.1.6)$$

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{K}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,(\widetilde{G}(u,x))^2 \,\widetilde{G}(x,v) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,(\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 \,\widetilde{G}(y,v) + \dots ,$$
(B.1.7)

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widetilde{G}(u,x) (\widetilde{G}(x,v))^2 \,-\, \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}(u,x) (\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 \,+\, \dots \,,$$
(B.1.8)

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\left[-\ln\mu^2(t_2 + t_3) + 4\pi\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \gamma \right] \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4, x, v) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}(u, x) \,\widetilde{G}(x, y) \,\widetilde{G}(y, v) + \dots , \quad (B.1.9)$$

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widetilde{G}(u,x) \,(\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 \,\widetilde{G}(y,v) + \dots \,. \tag{B.1.10}$$

Combining everything, we get

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{G}_{u-O-v}^{(2)}(u,v) &= \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ 4 \; \widetilde{G}(u,v) \left[3 \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - 3 \ln(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3) - 3\gamma - 1 - \frac{2\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} \right] \\ &+ 8\pi \left(\widetilde{G}(u,v) \right)^2 - \frac{8\pi}{A} \int dx \left[(\widetilde{G}(u,x))^2 + (\widetilde{G}(x,v))^2 - \frac{1}{A} \int dy \left(\widetilde{G}(x,y) \right)^2 \right] \\ &+ 16\pi \; \widetilde{G}(u,v) \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(v) \right) - \frac{16\pi}{A} \int dx \left(\widetilde{G}(u,x) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \widetilde{G}(x,v) \right) \\ &+ 4 \int dx \; \widehat{K}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{K}(t_4,x,v) \left[\frac{2\Lambda^2}{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3} + R_* \left(3 \ln \frac{\Lambda^2}{\mu^2} - 3 \ln(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3) - 3\gamma \right) \\ &+ \frac{4}{3} - \frac{2\alpha_2 \alpha_3}{(\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2} \right) + 8\pi R_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) - \frac{20\pi}{A} \Biggr] \\ &+ 16\pi \int dx \; \partial_x^i \widetilde{G}(u,x) \; \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \; \partial_x^i \widetilde{G}(x,v) \\ &+ 8\pi R_* \int dy \; \left[(\widetilde{G}(u,y))^2 \; \widetilde{G}(y,v) + \widetilde{G}(u,y) (\widetilde{G}(y,v))^2 \right] \\ &- \frac{16\pi R_*}{A} \int dx \; dy \; \left[\widetilde{G}(u,x) \; \widetilde{G}(x,y) \widetilde{G}(y,v) + \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 \left[\widetilde{G}(u,x) + \widetilde{G}(y,v) \right] \right] \\ &+ 8\pi R_*^2 \int dx \; dy \; \widetilde{G}(u,x) \; (\widetilde{G}(x,y))^2 \; \widetilde{G}(y,v) + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2/\Lambda^2) \Biggr\} \;. \tag{B.1.11}$$

B.1.2 One-loop contribution from the tadpole diagram

The diagram $u \stackrel{\bigcirc}{\longrightarrow} v$ only gives finite contributions. We first evaluate the tadpole

$$-\frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{\kappa}B(x) \equiv \stackrel{\bigcirc}{x} = -\frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{\kappa}\int dy \left[\widetilde{K}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}} + 2\,\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{K} + R_*\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}\right] , \qquad (B.1.12)$$

where $\widetilde{K}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \equiv \widetilde{K}(t_3, x, y)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4, y, y)$ and similarly for the other terms. This simplifies considerably since $\widetilde{K}(t_i, y, y)$ does not depend on y and in $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_j, y, y)$ the only nonconstant term is $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y)$. Thus one finds

$$B(x) = \int dy \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \Delta_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y)$$

= $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + R_* \int dy \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) - \frac{1}{A} \int dy \, \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \,.$ (B.1.13)

The contribution to the Green's function then is

$$\mathcal{G}_{u\underline{\bigcirc}v}^{(2)}(u,v) = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \left(\widetilde{K}B\widehat{\widetilde{K}} + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}B\widetilde{K} + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}B\widetilde{K} + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}\Delta_*\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}\widehat{\widetilde{K}} + R_*\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}B\widehat{\widetilde{K}} \right) \,, \qquad (B.1.14)$$

where $\widetilde{K}B\hat{\widetilde{K}} \equiv \widetilde{K}(t_1, u, x)B(x)\hat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, v)$ and similarly for the other terms. Inserting the expression for B and evaluating the integrals gives

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{u\,\underline{Q}\,v}^{(2)}(u,v) &= \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ 2\,\widetilde{G}(u,v) \Biggl[\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(v) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \Biggr] \\ &+ R_*\widetilde{G}(u,v) \int \mathrm{d}x\, \left(\widetilde{G}(u,x) + \widetilde{G}(v,x) \right) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \\ &- \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\, \left(\widetilde{G}(u,x) + \widetilde{G}(v,x) \right) \left(2\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + R_* \int \mathrm{d}y\,\widetilde{G}(x,y)\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right) \\ &+ 3R_* \int \mathrm{d}x\,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\,\widetilde{G}(x,v) - 2 \int \mathrm{d}x\,\partial_x^i\widetilde{G}(u,x)\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\,\partial_x^i\widetilde{G}(x,v) \\ &+ R_*^2 \int \mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}y\,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}(x,v)\widetilde{G}(x,y)\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \\ &- \frac{R_*}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x\,\widetilde{G}(u,x)\widetilde{G}(x,v)\int \mathrm{d}y\,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \Biggr\} + \dots \end{aligned}$$
(B.1.15)

B.1.3 One-loop contribution from the quartic vertices

The diagram $u \stackrel{\bigcirc}{-} v$ gets again different contributions:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{u\,\Omega\,v}^{(2)}(u,v) &= -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \left\{ 2\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x)(\Delta_*^x - 2R_*) \Big(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,z,x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v)\Big)\Big|_{z=x} \right. \\ &\left. + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v)(\Delta_*^x - 2R_*)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,x) \right. \\ &\left. + 2\,\big(\Delta_*^x\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x)\big)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v) \right. \\ &\left. + 2\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,x)\Delta_*^x\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v) \right. \\ &\left. + 4\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x)\big(\Delta_*^x\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,z)\big)\Big|_{z=x}\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(B.1.16)

113

One finds, using the fact that $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) - \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)$ does not depend on x,

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) (\Delta^x_* - 2R_*) \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, z, x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v)\right)\Big|_{z=x}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi} \widetilde{G}(u, v) \left(-\ln\mu^2 t_2 - \gamma\right) + \int \mathrm{d}x \,\partial^i_x \widetilde{G}(u, x) \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \,\partial^i_x \widetilde{G}(x, v)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) \left(\frac{1}{t_2} + \frac{7}{6}R_* - \frac{4\pi}{A} - 4\pi R_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x)\right) + \dots \text{ (B.1.17)}$$

and

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) (\Delta_*^x - 2R_*) \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x)\right)$$

= $\widetilde{G}(u, v) \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(v)\right) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) 2R_* \left(\ln \mu^2 t_2 + \gamma\right)$
 $-2 \int \mathrm{d}x \,\partial_x^i \widetilde{G}(u, x) \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \,\partial_x^i \widetilde{G}(x, v) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\left(\widetilde{G}(u, x) + \widetilde{G}(v, x)\right) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \dots$
(B.1.18)

The three remaining terms in (B.1.16) are straightforward to evaluate:

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \, \left[\left(\Delta^x_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \Delta^x_* \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) \right] \\ = \widetilde{G}(u, v) \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, u, u) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, v, v) \right] - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, x) \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) \right] \\ + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) \, 2R_* \left[-\ln\mu^2 t_2 - \gamma + 4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \right] \,, \qquad (B.1.19)$$

 and

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \left(\Delta_*^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, z) \right) \Big|_{z=x} \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v)$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, u, x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, v) \left(\frac{1}{t_2} + \frac{7}{6}R_* - \frac{4\pi}{A} - R_* \ln \mu^2 t_2 - \gamma R_* + 4\pi R_* \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \right)$$
(B.1.20)

up to vanishing terms. Combining everything gives

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{u\, \bigcirc v}^{(2)}(u,v) &= \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Biggl\{ \widetilde{G}(u,v) \left[-24\pi \left(\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(u) + \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(v) \right) + 12 \left(\ln \mu^2 t_2 + \gamma \right) \right] \\ &+ 12 \int dx \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v) \left[-\frac{1}{t_2} - \frac{7}{6} R_* + \frac{4\pi}{A} + R_* \left(\gamma + \ln \mu^2 t_2 - 4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) \right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{24\pi}{A} \int dx \left[\widetilde{G}(u,x) + \widetilde{G}(v,x) \right] \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) + \dots \Biggr\} .
\end{aligned} \tag{B.1.21}$$

B.1.4 Order $1/\kappa^2$ contribution from the measure

Finally the measure vertex (2.1.15) contributes

$$\mathcal{G}_{\text{measure}}^{(2)}(u,v) = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widetilde{K}(t_2,x,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v) = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,u,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,v) \left[\frac{2}{t_2} + \frac{7}{3}R_* - \frac{8\pi}{A}\right] + \dots \,. \quad (B.1.22)$$

The total one-loop contributions to $\mathcal{G}^{(2)}(u, v)$ for $u \neq v$ is the sum of the contributions computed here and of the one from the counterterms (2.1.93). It is given and discussed in section 2.1.4.

B.2 "Two-loop" contributions to the two-point function

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathrm{ct}}^{(3)}|^{\mathrm{div}} = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\frown}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\bigcirc}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\bigcirc}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\frown}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\frown}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\frown}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\bigcirc}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\bigcirc}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\bigcirc}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\frown}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\frown}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\frown}^{(3)}$$

¹We consider the two-point function at non coinciding point i.e. $a \neq b$.

²The computations are quite lengthy but straightforward and thus left to the motivated reader.

with the understanding that we will only give the diverging contributions. We have first for the cubic counterterms

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\mathcal{G}_{\rightarrow}^{(3)} + \mathcal{G}_{\rightarrow}^{(3)}\right)(a,b) &= \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} \Biggl\{ 12 \left(f_{\phi}^{(1)} - \alpha_1 f_m^{(1)}\right) \ln A\Lambda^2 \widetilde{G}(a,b) + 24\pi f_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 D(a,b) \\ &+ \int dx \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \times \left[12 \, f_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 \right. \\ &+ \Lambda^2 \left(\frac{8}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 12 \, f_m^{(1)} \left(G_0(x) - \ln(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)\right) \right) \\ &+ 2 \Biggl[6 \, f_m^{(2)} + \left(4 \, f_{\phi}^{(1)} + 6 \, f_R^{(1)} - 6 \, \alpha_1 f_m^{(1)}\right) AR_* \Biggr] \frac{\ln A\Lambda^2}{A} \Biggr] \Biggr\} \end{aligned}$$
(B.2.2)

with

$$D(a,b) = R_* \int dx \, dy \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, x, y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_4, y, b) + \frac{1}{2} \int dx \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, b, x) \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, a, x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, b, x)\right) - \frac{1}{A} \int dx \, dy \, \left[\frac{1}{2} \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, x, y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, a, x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, b)\right) + 2 \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1, a, x) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2, x, y) \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3, y, b) \right], \qquad (B.2.3)$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$G_0(x) = 4\pi \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x) - \gamma - \ln A_0 \mu^2 .$$
 (B.2.4)

Then, we also have for the cubic counterterms

$$\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\circ}}^{(3)}(a,b) = \frac{24\pi}{\kappa^4} f_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 \left\{ \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \left(G_0(x) - G_0\right) \qquad (B.2.5) \right. \\ \left. + 4\pi R_* \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,y) \widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y) \right\} \\ \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\circ}}^{(3)}(a,b) = \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\circ}}^{(3)} + \frac{96\pi^2}{\kappa^4} f_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 \int \mathrm{d}x \left(\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) + \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b)\right) \qquad (B.2.6) \\ \left. \times \left[\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,a,b) \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(x) - \frac{1}{A} \int \mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_3,x,y) \,\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}(y)\right] \right].$$

B.2. "TWO-LOOP" CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE TWO-POINT FUNCTION 116

The unique diagram built from the quartic counterterms gives

$$\mathcal{G}_{\underline{Q}}^{(3)}(a,b) = -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} \left\{ \left(6 q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \,\widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} \right) \ln A\Lambda^2 \widetilde{G}(a,b) + \int dx \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \times \left[12 \, q_m^{(1)} \Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2 + \Lambda^2 \left(\frac{1}{\alpha_1} \left(6 \, q_{\phi}^{(1)} + 8 \, \widehat{q}_{\phi}^{(1)} \right) + 12 \, q_m^{(1)} \left(G_0(x) - \ln \alpha_1 \right) \right) + 2 \left[6 \, q_m^{(2)} + \left(6 \, q_R^{(1)} - 4 \, \widehat{q}_m^{(1)} \right) AR_* \right] \frac{\ln A\Lambda^2}{A} \right] \right\}.$$
(B.2.7)

For the c' quadratic counterterms, we have

$$\mathcal{G}^{(3)}_{-\bullet-}(a,b) = -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} c_m^{\prime(1)} \Lambda^2 \int \mathrm{d}x \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \,. \tag{B.2.8}$$

The two remaining diagrams only involves \hat{c}_{ϕ} and \hat{c}_{R} . They contribute

$$\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\bullet}}^{(3)}(a,b) = \frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} \left\{ 12\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\ln A\Lambda^2 \widetilde{G}(a,b) \qquad (B.2.9) \right. \\ \left. + \int \mathrm{d}x\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \left[\frac{12\,\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}\widehat{c}_{\phi} + 12\left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\widehat{c}_R}{2\pi}\right)R_*\ln A\Lambda^2 \right] \right\}, \\ \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\bullet\bullet}}^{(3)}(a,b) = -\frac{8\pi}{\kappa^4} \left\{ 24\,\widehat{c}_{\phi}\ln A\Lambda^2 \widetilde{G}(a,b) \qquad (B.2.10) \right. \\ \left. + \int \mathrm{d}x\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_1,a,x)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}(t_2,x,b) \left[\frac{16\,\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3}\widehat{c}_{\phi} + 24\left(\widehat{c}_{\phi} + \frac{\widehat{c}_R}{3\pi}\right)R_*\ln A\Lambda^2 \right] \right\}.$$

Summing (B.2.2) and (B.2.5)-(B.2.10) gives (2.2.53) with the ρ_i in (2.2.54).

Leading divergence of the three-loop partition function

When computing the diagrams \bigcirc , \bigcirc , \bigcirc and \bigtriangleup , one gets infinite series of terms contributing to the coefficients of $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$. The details of the computation of these series are described hereafter. For the sake of brevity, notational short-cuts are defined: $dx = d^2x \sqrt{g_*(x)}, \ \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}_i(x,y) = \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_i,x,y)$ and $\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}_{i,j}(x,y) = \widetilde{\widetilde{K}}(t_i + t_j,x,y)$.

Among the series of diverging contributions appearing in these four diagrams, some may be straightforwardly computed by Taylor expanding the terms, as was done in section 2.2.2. These integrals are hereafter noted by J. Namely, they are:

$$\begin{split} J^{(1)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,z) \widetilde{K}_2(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widetilde{K}_4(y,z) \widetilde{K}_5(x,y) \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,z) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_2} \widetilde{K}_2(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widetilde{K}_4(y,z) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5} \widetilde{K}_5(x,y) \right) \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,z) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_2} \widetilde{K}_2(x,z) \right) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widetilde{K}_4(y,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_5(x,y) \;, \\ J^{(4)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_2(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_4} \widetilde{K}_4(y,z) \right) \widetilde{K}_5(x,y) \;, \\ J^{(1)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(z,z) \widetilde{K}_2(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(x,y) \widetilde{K}_4(x,y) \widetilde{K}_5(y,z) \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(z,z) \widetilde{K}_2(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(x,y) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_4} \widetilde{K}_4(x,y) \right) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_5(y,z) \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_2(x,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(x,y) \widetilde{K}_4(z,w) \widetilde{K}_5(z,w) \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; w \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,y) \widetilde{K}_2(x,y) \widetilde{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_4(z,w) \widetilde{K}_5(z,w) \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \; \mathrm{d}w \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,y) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_2} \widetilde{K}_2(x,y) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_4(z,w) \widetilde{K}_5(z,w) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_6} \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}w \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,y) \widetilde{K}_2(x,y) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_4(z,w) \widetilde{K}_5(z,w) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_6} \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}w \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,y) \widetilde{K}_2(x,y) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_4(z,w) \widetilde{K}_5(z,w) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_6} \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \;, \\ J^{(4)}_{\odot} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}w \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_1(x,y) \widetilde{K}_2(x,y) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_3(y,z) \widehat{\tilde{K}}_4(z,w) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5} \widetilde{K}_5(z,w) \right) \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \;. \end{split}$$

Note that $J_{\bigcirc}^{(1)}$ was already computed in section 2.2.2. It is useful to define:

$$B_{n}(t_{a}, t_{b}, t_{c}; x) = \int dz \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{a}(x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{b}(x, z) \frac{d^{n}}{dt_{c}^{n}} \widetilde{K}_{c}(x, z) ,$$

$$C_{n,m}(t_{a}, t_{b}, t_{c}; x) = \int dz \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{a}(x, z) \frac{d^{n}}{dt_{b}^{n}} \widetilde{K}_{b}(x, z) \frac{d^{m}}{dt_{c}^{m}} \widetilde{K}_{c}(x, z) ,$$

$$D_{n}(t_{a}, t_{b}, t_{c}; x) = \int dz \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{a}(z, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{b}(x, z) \frac{d^{n}}{dt_{c}^{n}} \widetilde{K}_{c}(x, z) ,$$

$$E_{n,m}(t_{a}, t_{b}, t_{c}; x) = \int dz \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{a}(z, z) \frac{d^{n}}{dt_{b}^{n}} \widetilde{K}_{b}(x, z) \frac{d^{m}}{dt_{c}^{m}} \widetilde{K}_{c}(x, z) .$$
(C.2)

The only divergence investigated here is the one in $A\Lambda^2 (\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$, which cannot appear unless two $\hat{\tilde{K}}$ s are present, since the logarithmic divergence comes from such terms (2.1.47). The terms without at least two $\hat{\tilde{K}}$ s after doing the expansions are thus discarded in the following. Remembering that $t = \frac{\alpha}{\Lambda^2}$, the previous integrals may then be rewritten as:

$$\begin{split} J^{(1)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{3,4}(x,x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_n^n}{n!} C_{0,n}(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= -\int \mathrm{d}x \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{3,4}(x,x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_n^n}{n!} B_{n+1}(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{3,4}(x,x) \left[-B_1(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_n^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} C_{1,n}(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) \right] \;, \\ J^{(4)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= J^{(2)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} + \int \mathrm{d}x \; \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_3 + \alpha_4} B_0(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) \;, \\ J^{(1)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{3,4}(x,x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_n^n}{n!} E_{0,n}(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= J^{(1)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} + \int \mathrm{d}x \; \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_3 + \alpha_4} D_0(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= -\int \mathrm{d}x \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{3,4}(x,x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_n^n}{n!} D_{n+1}(t_1, t_2, t_5; x) \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= -\int \mathrm{d}x \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{1,2}(x,x) \sum_{n,m \geq 0} \frac{t_n^n}{n!} \frac{t_m^m}{m!} E_{n,m}(t_4 + t_5, t_3, t_6; x) \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= J^{(1)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} + 2 \int \mathrm{d}x \; \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} D_0(t_4 + t_5, t_3, t_6; x) + J^{1,2}_{4,5} \;, \\ J^{(2)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= J^{(1)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} + 2 \int \mathrm{d}x \; \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} D_0(t_4 + t_5, t_3, t_6; x) + J^{1,2}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} \;, \\ J^{(3)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \; \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{1,2}(x,x) \sum_{n,m \geq 0} \frac{t_n^{n+1} t_n^m}{(n+1)!} \frac{t_n^m}{m!} E_{n,m+1}(t_4 + t_5, t_3, t_6; x) + J^{(3)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} \;, \\ J^{(4)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} &= J^{(3)}_{\scriptsize{\scriptsize{\odot}}} + \int \mathrm{d}x \; \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_4 + \alpha_5} D_0(t_1 + t_2, t_3, t_6; x) \;, \end{split}$$

where all the terms in $\mathcal{O}(A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2)$ are discarded. The fact that the α_i (and thus t_i) are dummy variables that can be renamed and are symmetrized, has been used to simplify the writings of $J_{\odot}^{(2)}$ and $J_{\odot}^{(3)}$. Finally, the term $J_{4,5}^{1,2}$ in $J_{\odot}^{(2)}$ is the term proportional to Λ^4 defined in (2.2.11). All contributions ~ Λ^4 have been discussed in section 3.2 and are summarized in Tab. 2.2. At present we are only interested in the other types of divergences and thus we will simply drop the term $J_{4,5}^{1,2}$ in the following. We conjecture:

$$B_{n}(t_{a}, t_{b}, t_{c}; x) = \begin{cases} \frac{(-1)^{n} \Lambda^{2n}}{(4\pi)^{2}} (n-1)! \left[\frac{1}{(\alpha_{a}+\alpha_{c})^{n}} + \frac{1}{(\alpha_{b}+\alpha_{c})^{n}} \right] \ln A\Lambda^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^{2n}) & \text{if } n \ge 1 ,\\ \\ \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2} \right)^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^{2}) & \text{if } n = 0 . \end{cases}$$
(C.4)

 α_a and α_b being dummy variables, this may be rewritten as

$$B_{n}(t_{a}, t_{b}, t_{c}; x) = \begin{cases} 2 \frac{(-1)^{n}(n-1)!}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left(\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{\alpha_{b}+\alpha_{c}}\right)^{n} \ln A\Lambda^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^{2n}) & \text{if } n \ge 1 ,\\ \\ \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^{2}) & \text{if } n = 0 . \end{cases}$$
(C.5)

Likewise,

$$D_n(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) = \begin{cases} \frac{(-1)^n (n-1)!}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_b + \alpha_c}\right)^n \ln A\Lambda^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^{2n}) & \text{if } n \ge 1 ,\\ \\ \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 + \mathcal{O}(\ln A\Lambda^2) & \text{if } n = 0 . \end{cases}$$
(C.6)

and

$$C_{n,m}(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) = E_{n,m}(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) = \frac{(-1)^{n+m}}{(4\pi)^2} (n+m)! \left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{\alpha_b + \alpha_c}\right)^{n+m+1} \ln A\Lambda^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^{2n+2m+2}) . \quad (C.7)$$

From (1.3.24), one observes that

$$C_{1,n}(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_b} C_{0,n}(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) = -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t_b^2} B_n(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) , \qquad (C.8)$$

and

$$E_{0,n}(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) = -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_b} D_n(t_a, t_b, t_c; x) .$$
 (C.9)

These relations are verified by the above expressions, before considering the symmetries between the α_i . Putting everything together and remembering once more that the α_i are

dummy variables, one gets:

$$J_{\odot}^{(1)} = \frac{A\Lambda^{2}}{(4\pi)^{3}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3}},$$

$$J_{\odot}^{(1)} = J_{\odot}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{2} J_{\odot}^{(2)} = J_{\odot}^{(1)},$$

$$J_{\odot}^{(3)} = J_{\odot}^{(2)} = J_{\odot}^{(1)} + \frac{A\Lambda^{2}}{(4\pi)^{3}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}},$$

$$J_{\odot}^{(4)} = 2J_{\odot}^{(1)} + \frac{A\Lambda^{2}}{(4\pi)^{3}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}},$$

$$J_{\odot}^{(3)} = J_{\odot}^{(1)} = \frac{A\Lambda^{2}}{(4\pi)^{3}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3} + \alpha_{4}},$$

$$J_{\odot}^{(2)} = J_{\odot}^{(1)} + 2\frac{A\Lambda^{2}}{(4\pi)^{3}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}},$$

$$J_{\odot}^{(4)} = J_{\odot}^{(1)} + \frac{A\Lambda^{2}}{(4\pi)^{3}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}},$$
(C.10)

up to subleading divergences. One encounters also integrals such as

$$L_{\bigotimes} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(z,z)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(x,y)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_3(x,y)\widetilde{K}_4(x,z)\left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5}\widetilde{K}_5(y,z)\right) \tag{C.11}$$

whose explicit computation requires to Taylor expand a product of two $\hat{\widetilde{K}}$ or \widetilde{K} . We denote such integrals by L. Integrating over z around x through the exponential term in $\widetilde{K}_4(x,z)$, see (1.3.45), leads us to Taylor expand $\hat{\widetilde{K}}_1(z,z)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5}\widetilde{K}_5(y,z)$ in (z-x) around x. After integration, one gets terms such as:

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(x,y)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_3(x,y)\partial_{i_1}^x \dots \partial_{i_r}^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,x)\partial_{j_1}^x \dots \partial_{j_s}^x \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5}\widetilde{K}_5(x,y)\right) \tag{C.12}$$

with r + s even. If s is odd, then the function $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(x, y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_3(x, y) \partial_{j_1}^x \dots \partial_{j_s}^x \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5} \widetilde{K}_5(x, y) \right)$ is odd and performing the integral over y kills the contribution: r and s have to be even. Since $\widetilde{K}(t, x, x)$ depends on x only through $\widetilde{G}_{\zeta}^{A_0}(x)$, see (2.1.47), for $r \geq 2$, $\partial_{i_1}^x \dots \partial_{i_r}^x \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x, x)$ does not contribute to the leading divergence by neither a factor $\ln A\Lambda^2$ nor Λ^2 . The diverging contributions may thus only come from the integral over y. However, applying s derivatives on $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5} \widetilde{K}_5(x, y)$ for any even s leads to terms similar to $(-1)^{\frac{s}{2}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_5}\right)^{1+\frac{s}{2}} \widetilde{K}_5(x, y)$. Integrating over y one gets $B_{1+\frac{s}{2}}(t_2, t_3, t_5; x)$ which only produces one of the two $\ln A\Lambda^2$ of the leading divergence. The only terms contributing to $A\Lambda^2 \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2$ are thus the terms with r = 0 and s even.

Thus, up to subleading divergences, the previous integral gives:

$$L_{\bigotimes} = -\int \mathrm{d}x \ \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_4^n}{n!} B_{n+1}(t_2,t_3,t_5;x) = \ J_{\bigotimes}^{(2)} \ . \tag{C.13}$$

Similarly, one may compute

$$\begin{split} L_{\otimes}^{(1)} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{1}(x,y)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{2}(x,y)\widetilde{K}_{3}(y,z)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{4}(z,w)\widetilde{K}_{5}(z,w) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_{6}}\widetilde{K}_{6}(x,w)\right) ,\\ &= -\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{1}(x,y)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{2}(x,y)\widetilde{K}_{3}(y,z)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{4,5}(z,z) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_{5}^{n}}{n!} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_{6}}\right)^{n+1} \widetilde{K}_{6}(x,z) ,\\ &= -\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{1}(x,y)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{2}(x,y)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{4,5}(y,y) \sum_{n,m\geq 0} \frac{t_{3}^{m}}{m!} \frac{t_{5}^{n}}{n!} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_{6}}\right)^{n+m+1} \widetilde{K}_{6}(x,y) ,\\ &= 2 J_{\otimes}^{(1)},\\ L_{\otimes}^{(2)} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{1}(x,y)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{2}(x,y)\widetilde{K}_{3}(y,z)\widehat{\tilde{K}}_{4}(z,w) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_{5}}\widetilde{K}_{5}(z,w)\right) \widetilde{K}_{6}(x,w) ,\\ &= L_{\otimes}^{(1)} + \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\Lambda^{2}}{\alpha_{4} + \alpha_{5}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_{6}^{n}}{n!} \int \mathrm{d}x \,B_{n}(t_{1},t_{2},t_{3};x) ,\\ &= L_{\otimes}^{(1)} + \frac{A\Lambda^{2}}{(4\pi)^{3}} \left(\ln A\Lambda^{2}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{\alpha_{4} + \alpha_{5}} , \end{split}$$
(C.14)

up to $\mathcal{O}(A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2)$ terms.

Since at least two $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}$ s are needed to obtain the two $\ln A\Lambda^2$ of the leading divergence, it is easy to compute

$$L^{(1)}_{\underline{\wedge}} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,w)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(y,w)\widetilde{K}_3(z,w)\widetilde{K}_4(x,y)\widetilde{K}_5(x,z)\widetilde{K}_6(y,z) \,\,. \tag{C.15}$$

Indeed, integrating over w through $\widetilde{K}_3(z, w)$ requires to Taylor expand $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x, w) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(y, w)$. The only term in this expansion keeping the structure of the $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_3$ and thus contributing to the leading divergence is the first one: $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x, z)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(y, z)$. Thus,

$$L_{\underline{A}}^{(1)} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,z)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(y,z)\widetilde{K}_4(x,y)\widetilde{K}_5(x,z)\widetilde{K}_6(y,z) + \mathcal{O}(A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2)$$
$$= J_{\overline{O}}^{(1)} + \mathcal{O}(A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2) \,\,. \tag{C.16}$$

Similarly, in

$$L^{(2)}_{\underline{\wedge}} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,w) \widetilde{K}_2(y,w) \widetilde{K}_3(z,w) \widetilde{K}_4(x,y) \widetilde{K}_5(x,z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_6(y,z) \,\,, \quad (C.17)$$

if any partial derivative acts on one of the two $\hat{\widetilde{K}}$ s through the Taylor expansion, the $(\ln A\Lambda^2)^2$ are lost. Thus,

$$L_{\underline{A}}^{(2)} = \int dx \, dy \, dz \, \widetilde{K}_4(x, y) \widetilde{K}_5(x, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_6(y, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x, z) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_3^n}{n!} \frac{d^n}{dt_2^n} \widetilde{K}_2(y, z) ,$$

$$= \int dx \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{1,5}(x, x) \sum_{n,m \ge 0} \frac{t_3^n t_5^m}{n! \, m!} C_{n,m}(t_6, t_2, t_4; x) = J_{\textcircled{O}}^{(1)} , \qquad (C.18)$$

up to subleading terms. It is possible to compute

$$\begin{split} L^{(3)}_{\underline{\mathbb{A}}} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,y) \widetilde{K}_2(x,z) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_3} \widetilde{K}_3(y,z) \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_4(x,w) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_5(y,w) \widetilde{K}_6(z,w) ,\\ L^{(4)}_{\underline{\mathbb{A}}} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\widetilde{K}_1(x,y) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(x,z) \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_3} \widetilde{K}_3(y,z) \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_4(x,w) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_5(y,w) \widetilde{K}_6(z,w) ,\\ L^{(5)}_{\underline{\mathbb{A}}} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \, \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_3} \widetilde{K}_1(x,y) \right) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(x,z) \widetilde{K}_3(y,z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_4(x,w) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_5(y,w) \widetilde{K}_6(z,w) , \end{split}$$
(C.19)

with the same reasoning. In these three integrals, integrating over w implies to Taylor expand a product of two \hat{K} s. Since there are only three \hat{K} s in these integrals, this means that, if one wants to extract the leading divergence with two $\ln A\Lambda^2$, one shall only keep in the Taylor expansion the terms with the derivatives acting on one \hat{K} . Up to subleading terms, one has

$$L_{\underline{A}}^{(3)} = J_{\underline{O}}^{(3)} + L_{\underline{A}}^{(3a)} + L_{\underline{A}}^{(3b)} , \qquad (C.20)$$

$$L_{\underline{A}}^{(3a)} = \int dx \, dy \, dz \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{1}(x, y) \widetilde{K}_{2}(x, z) \frac{d}{dt_{3}} \widetilde{K}_{3}(y, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{4}(x, z) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_{6}^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} \frac{d^{n}}{dt_{5}^{n}} \widetilde{K}_{5}(y, z) ,$$

$$L_{\underline{A}}^{(3b)} = \int dx \, dy \, dz \, \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{1}(x, y) \widetilde{K}_{2}(x, z) \frac{d}{dt_{3}} \widetilde{K}_{3}(y, z) \widehat{\widetilde{K}}_{5}(y, z) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_{6}^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} \frac{d^{n}}{dt_{4}^{n}} \widetilde{K}_{4}(x, z) .$$

Integrating over x in $L^{(3a)}_{\triangle}$ leads to

$$\int \mathrm{d}z \ \widehat{\tilde{K}}_{2+4}(z,z) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t_6^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} C_{1,n}(t_1,t_3,t_5;z) = \ J_{\bigodot}^{(1)} - \frac{A\Lambda^2}{(4\pi)^3} \left(\ln A\Lambda^2\right)^2 \frac{1}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} \ (C.21)$$

while integrating over y in $L^{(3b)}_{\Delta}$ transforms one of the two remaining $\widehat{\widetilde{K}}$ s, resulting in a $\mathcal{O}(A\Lambda^2 \ln A\Lambda^2)$ term. $L^{(4)}_{\Delta}$ and $L^{(5)}_{\Delta}$ are computed in a similar way. Summing up:

$$L^{(3)}_{\triangle} = 2J^{(1)}_{\bigcirc}, \qquad L^{(4)}_{\triangle} = J^{(1)}_{\bigcirc} + 2J^{(1)}_{\bigcirc}, \qquad L^{(5)}_{\triangle} = J^{(1)}_{\bigcirc} + J^{(1)}_{\bigcirc}.$$
(C.22)

The same idea is used to compute

$$\begin{split} L_{\Diamond\diamond}^{(3)} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,z)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(x,z) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_3} \widetilde{K}_3(y,z)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_4(y,w)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_5(y,w) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_6} \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \ ,\\ L_{\triangle}^{(6)} &= \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}w \,\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_1(x,y)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_2(x,z) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_3} \widetilde{K}_3(y,z)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_4(z,w)\widehat{\widetilde{K}}_5(y,w) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t_6} \widetilde{K}_6(x,w) \ ,\\ \end{split}$$

$$(C.23)$$

the requirement is then to leave two of the four $\hat{\widetilde{K}}$ s without derivatives. Among such terms, one gets also subleading terms not considered here. In the end, one obtains:

$$L_{\odot}^{(3)} = 2L_{\bigtriangleup}^{(6)} = 4J_{\odot}^{(1)}$$
 (C.24)

Bibliography

- B.P. Abbott *et al.* Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 116:061102, Feb 2016.
- [2] R. Penrose. Gravitational collapse and space-time singularities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 14:57–59, 1965.
- [3] S.W. Hawking and R. Penrose. The Singularities of gravitational collapse and cosmology. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A314:529–548, 1970.
- [4] S.W. Hawking. Quantum Gravity and Path Integrals. Phys. Rev., D18:1747-1753, 1978.
- [5] S.W. Hawking. Space-Time Foam. Nucl. Phys., B144:349-362, 1978.
- [6] C.J. Isham. Structural issues in quantum gravity. In General relativity and gravitation. Proceedings, 14th International Conference, Florence, Italy, August 6-12, 1995, 1995.
- [7] J. Ambjorn, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. Reconstructing the universe. *Phys. Rev.*, D72:064014, 2005.
- [8] H. Hamber. Discrete and continuum quantum gravity. 2007.
- [9] B. Schulz. Review on the quantization of gravity. 2014.
- [10] D.J.W. Giulini, C. Kiefer, and C. Lämmerzahl. Quantum Gravity: From Theory to Experimental Search. Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [11] A.M. Polyakov. Quantum Geometry of Bosonic Strings. *Phys.Lett.*, B103:207–210, 1981.
- [12] P. Di Francesco, P. Ginsparg, and J. Zinn-Justin. 2-D Gravity and random matrices. *Phys. Rept.*, 254:1–133, 1995.
- [13] H. Kawai. Quantum gravity and random surfaces. Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl., 26:93– 110, 1992.
- [14] J. Ambjorn, B. Durhuus, and J. Frohlich. Diseases of Triangulated Random Surface Models, and Possible Cures. Nucl. Phys., B257:433, 1985.
- [15] M.R. Douglas and S.H. Shenker. Strings in Less Than One-Dimension. Nucl. Phys., B335:635, 1990.
- [16] D.J. Gross and A.A. Migdal. Nonperturbative Two-Dimensional Quantum Gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 64:127, 1990.

- [17] E. Brezin, M.R. Douglas, V.A. Kazakov, and S.H. Shenker. The Ising Model Coupled to 2-D Gravity: A Nonperturbative Analysis. *Phys. Lett.*, B237:43, 1990.
- [18] E. Brezin and V.A. Kazakov. Exactly Solvable Field Theories of Closed Strings. *Phys. Lett.*, B236:144–150, 1990.
- [19] J. Ambjorn, B. Durhuus, and T. Jonsson. Quantum geometry : A Statistical field theory approach. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 1997.
- [20] J. Rolf. Two-dimensional quantum gravity. PhD thesis, Bohr Inst., 1998.
- [21] P. Di Francesco. 2D quantum gravity, matrix models and graph combinatorics. In Application of random matrices in physics. Proceedings, NATO Advanced Study Institute, Les Houches, France, June 6-25, 2004, pages 33-88, 2004.
- [22] V.G. Knizhnik, A.M. Polyakov, and A.B. Zamolodchikov. Fractal Structure of 2D Quantum Gravity. *Mod. Phys. Lett.*, A3:819, 1988.
- [23] J. Distler and H. Kawai. Conformal Field Theory and 2D Quantum Gravity Or Who's Afraid of Joseph Liouville? Nucl. Phys., B321:509, 1989.
- [24] F. David. Conformal Field Theories Coupled to 2D Gravity in the Conformal Gauge. Mod. Phys. Lett., A3:1651, 1988.
- [25] N. Sakai. c = 1 two-dimensional quantum gravity. Vistas in Astronomy, 37:585–599, 1993.
- [26] N. Seiberg. Notes on quantum Liouville theory and quantum gravity. Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl., 102:319-349, 1990.
- [27] P. Ginsparg and G. Moore. Lectures on 2-D gravity and 2-D string theory. In ArXiv:hep-th/9304011, 1993.
- [28] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu, and D. Sénéchal. Conformal field theory. Graduate texts in contemporary physics. Springer, New York, NY, 1997.
- [29] A.A. Migdal. Dynamically triangulated random surfaces. Nuclear Physics B -Proceedings Supplements, 9:625 - 630, 1989.
- [30] B. Duplantier and S. Sheffield. Duality and KPZ in Liouville Quantum Gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 102:150603, 2009.
- [31] B. Duplantier and S. Sheffield. Liouville quantum gravity and KPZ. Inventiones mathematicae, 185(2):333-393, 2010.
- [32] I. Benjamini and O. Schramm. KPZ in One Dimensional Random Geometry of Multiplicative Cascades. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 289:653-662, July 2009.

- [33] B. Duplantier, R. Rhodes, S. Sheffield, and V. Vargas. Renormalization of Critical Gaussian Multiplicative Chaos and KPZ formula. *ArXiv e-prints*, December 2012.
- [34] R. Rhodes and V. Vargas. KPZ formula for log-infinitely divisible multifractal random measures. *ESAIM: Probability and Statistics*, 15:358–371, 2012.
- [35] J. Barral, X. Jin, R. Rhodes, and V. Vargas. Gaussian Multiplicative Chaos and KPZ Duality. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 323:451–485, October 2013.
- [36] N. Berestycki, C. Garban, R. Rhodes, and V. Vargas. KPZ formula derived from Liouville heat kernel. ArXiv e-prints, June 2014.
- [37] F. David and M. Bauer. Another derivation of the geometrical KPZ relations. J.Stat. Mech., 0903:P03004, 2009.
- [38] F. David, A. Kupiainen, R. Rhodes, and V. Vargas. Liouville Quantum Gravity on the Riemann sphere. ArXiv e-prints, October 2014.
- [39] Y. Huang, R. Rhodes, and V. Vargas. Liouville Quantum Gravity on the unit disk. ArXiv e-prints, February 2015.
- [40] F. David, R. Rhodes, and V. Vargas. Liouville quantum gravity on complex tori. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 57(2):022302, February 2016.
- [41] F. David. Simplicial quantum gravity and random lattices. In Gravitation and quantizations. Proceedings, 57th Session of the Les Houches Summer School in Theoretical Physics, 1992.
- [42] J. Correia. A Note on the c = 1 barrier in Liouville theory. 1998.
- [43] J.L. Gervais and A. Neveu. Novel Triangle Relation and Absence of Tachyons in Liouville String Field Theory. Nucl. Phys., B238:125, 1984.
- [44] F. David and E. Guitter. Instabilities in Membrane Models. Europhys. Lett., 3:1169, 1987.
- [45] F. David and E. Guitter. Rigig random surfaces at larde d. Nucl. Phys., B295:332, 1988.
- [46] D.V. Boulatov, V.A. Kazakov, I.K. Kostov, and A.A. Migdal. Analytical and Numerical Study of the Model of Dynamically Triangulated Random Surfaces. *Nucl. Phys.*, B275:641, 1986.
- [47] M.E. Cates. Strong coupling in the Liouville theory: A heuristic approach. Phys. Lett., B251:553-558, 1990.
- [48] A. Krzywicki. On the Stability of Random Surfaces. Phys. Rev., D41:3086, 1990.

- [49] S.S. Gubser and I.R. Klebanov. A Modified c = 1 matrix model with new critical behavior. *Phys. Lett.*, B340:35-42, 1994.
- [50] F. Sugino and O. Tsuchiya. Critical behavior in c = 1 matrix model with branching interactions. Mod. Phys. Lett., A9:3149-3162, 1994.
- [51] M.G. Harris. The Branching of graphs in 2-D quantum gravity. Mod. Phys. Lett., A11:2351-2360, 1996.
- [52] F. David. A Scenario for the c > 1 barrier in noncritical bosonic strings. Nucl. Phys., B487:633-649, 1997.
- [53] A. Bilal and F. Ferrari. Multi-Loop Zeta Function Regularization and Spectral Cutoff in Curved Spacetime. Nucl. Phys., B877:956-1027, 2013.
- [54] A. Bilal, F. Ferrari, and S. Klevtsov. 2D Quantum Gravity at One Loop with Liouville and Mabuchi Actions. Nucl. Phys., B880:203-224, 2014.
- [55] F. Ferrari, S. Klevtsov, and S. Zelditch. Gravitational Actions in Two Dimensions and the Mabuchi Functional. Nucl. Phys., B859:341-369, 2012.
- [56] A. Bilal and L. Leduc. 2D quantum gravity on compact Riemann surfaces and twoloop partition function: A first principles approach. Nucl. Phys., B896:360-411, 2015.
- [57] L. Leduc and A. Bilal. 2D quantum gravity at three loops: a counterterm investigation. Nucl. Phys., B903:226-261, 2016.
- [58] L. Leduc and A. Bilal. 2D Quantum Gravity at Three Loops with Liouville and Mabuchi action. in preparation, 2016.
- [59] A. Bilal and L. Leduc. 2D quantum gravity on compact Riemann surfaces with non-conformal matter. 2016.
- [60] F. David. Planar Diagrams, Two-Dimensional Lattice Gravity and Surface Models. Nucl. Phys., B257:45, 1985.
- [61] F. David. A Model of Random Surfaces with Nontrivial Critical Behavior. Nucl. Phys., B257:543, 1985.
- [62] V.A. Kazakov, A.A. Migdal, and I.K. Kostov. Critical Properties of Randomly Triangulated Planar Random Surfaces. *Phys. Lett.*, B157:295–300, 1985.
- [63] D. Weingarten. Euclidean quantum gravity on a lattice. Nucl. Phys., B210:229, 1982.
- [64] G. 't Hooft. A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions. Nucl. Phys., B72:461, 1974.

- [65] I.K. Kostov. O(n) Vector Model on a Planar Random Lattice: Spectrum of Anomalous Dimensions. Mod. Phys. Lett., A4:217, 1989.
- [66] D.V. Boulatov and V.A. Kazakov. The Ising Model on Random Planar Lattice: The Structure of Phase Transition and the Exact Critical Exponents. *Phys. Lett.*, B186:379, 1987.
- [67] V. Rivasseau. Quantum Gravity and Renormalization: The Tensor Track. AIP Conf. Proc., 1444:18–29, 2011.
- [68] V. Rivasseau. The Tensor Track: an Update. In 29th International Colloquium on Group-Theoretical Methods in Physics (GROUP 29) Tianjin, China, August 20-26, 2012, 2012.
- [69] V. Rivasseau. The Tensor Track, III. Fortsch. Phys., 62:81–107, 2014.
- [70] L. Freidel. Group field theory: An Overview. Int. J. Theor. Phys., 44:1769–1783, 2005.
- [71] D. Oriti. Group field theory as the microscopic description of the quantum spacetime fluid: A New perspective on the continuum in quantum gravity. PoS, QG-PH:030, 2007.
- [72] D. Oriti. The microscopic dynamics of quantum space as a group field theory. In Proceedings, Foundations of Space and Time: Reflections on Quantum Gravity, pages 257-320, 2011.
- [73] E. D'Hoker and R. Jackiw. Liouville Field Theory. Phys. Rev., D26:3517, 1982.
- [74] J.L. Gervais and A. Neveu. New Quantum Treatment of Liouville Field Theory. Nucl. Phys., B224:329, 1983.
- [75] E. Braaten, T. Curtright, and C. Thorn. An Exact Operator Solution of the Quantum Liouville Field Theory. Annals Phys., 147:365, 1983.
- [76] T. Curtright and C. Thorn. Conformally Invariant Quantization of the Liouville Theory. Phys. Rev. Lett., 48:1309, 1768.
- [77] Y. Nakayama. Liouville field theory: A Decade after the revolution. Int. J. Mod. Phys., A19:2771–2930, 2004.
- [78] T. Mabuchi. K-energy maps integrating Futaki invariants. Tohoku Math. J. (2), 38(4):575-593, 1986.
- [79] T. Mabuchi. Some symplectic geometry on compact Kähler manifolds. Osaka J. Math., 24(2):227–252, 1987.
- [80] G. Tian. Kähler-Einstein metrics with positive scalar curvature. Invent. Math., 137:1–37, 1997.

- [81] D.H. Phong and J. Sturm. Lectures on Stability and Constant Scalar Curvature. ArXiv e-prints, January 2008.
- [82] D.H. Phong and J. Sturm. On asymptotics for the Mabuchi energy functional. ArXiv Mathematics e-prints, December 2003.
- [83] Y. Li. Mabuchi and Aubin-Yau functionals over complex surfaces. ArXiv e-prints, February 2010.
- [84] S. Bando and T. Mabuchi. Uniqueness of Einstein-Kähler metrics modulo connected group actions. In: Algebraic Geometry . Advanced Studies in Pure Math., pages 11–40, 1987.
- [85] S.K. Donaldson. Symmetric spaces, Kähler geometry and Hamiltonian dynamics. In: Northern California Symplectic Geometry Seminar. Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 196:13–33, 1999.
- [86] X. Chen. The Space of Kähler Metrics. J. Diff. Geom., 56(2):189–234, 2000.
- [87] X. Chen and G. Tian. Geometry of Kähler Metrics and Foliations by Holomorphic Discs. ArXiv Mathematics e-prints, July 2005.
- [88] S. Klevtsov and S. Zelditch. Stability and integration over Bergman metrics. JHEP, 07:100, 2014.
- [89] S.K. Donaldson. Scalar curvature and projective embeddings, II. ArXiv Mathematics e-prints, July 2004.
- [90] F. Ferrari, S. Klevtsov, and S. Zelditch. Random geometry, quantum gravity and the Kähler potential. *Phys. Lett.*, B705:375–378, 2014.
- [91] D.B. Ray and I.M. Singer. R Torsion and the Laplacian on Riemannian manifolds. Adv. Math., 7:145-210, 1971.
- [92] S.W. Hawking. Zeta Function Regularization of Path Integrals in Curved Space-Time. Commun. Math. Phys., 55:133, 1977.
- [93] P.B. Gilkey. Invariance theory, the heat equation and the Atiyah-Singer index theorem. *CRC press*, 1995.
- [94] I.G. Avramidi. Heat kernel approach in quantum field theory. Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl., 104:3–32, 2002.
- [95] I.G. Avramidi. Heat kernel and quantum gravity. Lect. Notes Phys., M64:1–149, 2000.
- [96] D.V. Vassilevich. Heat kernel expansion: User's manual. Phys. Rept., 388:279–360, 2003.
- [97] K. Fujikawa. On the Path Integral of Relativistic Strings. Phys. Rev., D25:2584, 1982.
- [98] S. Hwang. Covariant quantization of the string in dimensions $D \leq 26$ using a Becchi-Rouet-Stora formulation. *Phys. Rev. D*, 28:2614–2620, Nov 1983.
- [99] J. Polchinski. Evaluation of the one loop string path integral. Comm. Math. Phys., 104(1):37-47, 1986.
- [100] S. Semmes. Complex Monge-Ampère and Symplectic Manifolds. American Journal of Mathematics, 114(3):495–550, 1992.
- [101] C. Kassel. Le résidu non commutatif. (Noncommutative residue). Sémin. Bourbaki, Vol. 1988/89, 41e année, Exp. No.708, Astérisque 177-178, 199-229 (1989)., 1989.
- [102] M. Kontsevich and S. Vishik. Geometry of determinants of elliptic operators. 1994.
- [103] E. Elizalde, L. Vanzo, and S. Zerbini. Zeta function regularization, the multiplicative anomaly and the Wodzicki residue. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 194:613–630, 1998.
- [104] E. Elizalde, G. Cognola, and S. Zerbini. Applications in physics of the multiplicative anomaly formula involving some basic differential operators. *Nucl. Phys.*, B532:407-428, 1998.
- [105] E. Elizalde and M. Tierz. Multiplicative anomaly and zeta factorization. J. Math. Phys., 45:1168–1179, 2004.
- [106] M. Wodzicki. Noncommutative residue. I: Fundamentals. K-theory, arithmetic and geometry, Semin., Moscow Univ. 1984-86, Lect. Notes Math. 1289, 320-399 (1987)., 1987.
- [107] J.S. Dowker. On the relevance of the multiplicative anomaly. 1998.
- [108] E. Elizalde, A. Filippi, L. Vanzo, and S. Zerbini. Is the multiplicative anomaly relevant? 1998.
- [109] J.J. McKenzie-Smith and D.J. Toms. There is no new physics in the multiplicative anomaly. *Phys. Rev.*, D58:105001, 1998.
- [110] S. Zerbini. The Multiplicative anomaly of regularized functional determinants. Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl., 104:224-227, 2002.
- [111] G. Cognola and S. Zerbini. Generalized Zeta Function Regularization and the Multiplicative Anomaly. Springer Proc. Phys., 137:355-364, 2011.
- [112] K.B. Oldham, J.C. Myland, and J. Spanier. An Atlas of Functions: with Equator, the Atlas Function Calculator, chapter The Exponential Integrals Ei(x) and Ein(x), pages 375–383. Springer US, New York, NY, 2009.

- [113] H. Jeffreys and B.S. Jeffreys. "The Exponential and Related Integrals". §15.09 in Methods of Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 3rd edition, 1988.
- [114] N.N. Bogoliubov and O.S. Parasiuk. On the Multiplication of the causal function in the quantum theory of fields. Acta Math., 97:227-266, 1957.
- [115] K. Hepp. Proof of the Bogolyubov-Parasiuk theorem on renormalization. Commun. Math. Phys., 2:301–326, 1966.
- [116] W. Zimmermann. Convergence of Bogolyubov's method of renormalization in momentum space. Commun. Math. Phys., 15:208-234, 1969. [Lect. Notes Phys.558,217(2000)].

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Résumé

Le but de cette thèse est d'étudier la gravité quantique bidimensionnelle. Nous nous intéressons plus particulièrement aux approches dans le continu. Ces dernières reposent principalement sur l'action de Liouville qui décrit le couplage entre théorie conforme et gravité. Si cette action, bien connue, est très bien comprise, la mesure de l'intégrale fonctionnelle sur l'espace des métriques pose plus de problèmes. Toutefois, sous l'hypothèse simplificatrice d'une mesure de champ libre, la dépendance en l'aire de la fonction de partition de la gravité quantique en présence de matière conforme a pu être établie. Malgré l'hypothèse assez forte sur la mesure d'intégration, cette formule (dite KPZ), a été confirmée par des calculs issus de méthodes discrètes, et ce dans plusieurs cas particuliers.

Grâce à une nouvelle méthode de régularisation spectrale en espace courbe, cette mesure d'intégration a récemment pu être proprement définie. Dans cette thèse, un calcul perturbatif de la fonction de partition à aire fixée est mené, jusqu'à trois boucles, en considérant l'action de Liouville et des surfaces de Kähler de genre quelconque (qui coïncident avec l'ensemble des surfaces à deux dimensions). Des divergences apparaissant dans les calculs, il est nécessaire de renormaliser les actions. Cette renormalisation peut être interprétée comme une renormalisation de la mesure d'intégration. Nos résultats à deux boucles sont finis, indépendants de la régularisation et compatibles avec le résultat KPZ, mais dépendent d'un paramètre libre. L'étude à trois boucles suggère que la théorie reste renormalisable aux ordres supérieurs mais dépend de nouveaux paramètres à chaque ordre. Ces résultats ont été généralisé dans le cas du tore au couplage à de la matière non-conforme.

Mots Clés

Gravité quantique bidimensionnelle, théorie de Liouville, action de Mabuchi, susceptibilité de la corde, régularisation spectrale, renormali<u>s</u>ation.

Abstract

Nowadays, two-dimensional quantum gravity can be studied in two different approaches, one involving discrete theories (triangulation, matrix model...), the other continuous ones, mainly based on the so called Liouville action which universally describes the coupling of any conformal field theory to gravity. While the Liouville action is relatively well understood, the appropriate functional integral measure is however rather complicated. Nevertheless, a formula for the area dependence of the quantum gravity partition function in the presence of conformal matter has been obtained, under the simplifying assumption of a free-field measure. Notwithstanding its non-rigorous derivation, this formula, often referred to as the KPZ formula, has since been verified in many instances and has scored many successes.

Recent developments of efficient multiloop regularization methods on curved spacetimes opened the way for a precise and welldefined perturbative computation of the fixedpartition function in the Kähler area formalism. In this work, a first-principles computation of the fixed-area partition function in the Liouville theory is performed, up to three loops. Among other things, the role of the non-trivial quantum gravity integration measure is highlighted. Renormalization is required and may be interpreted as a renormalization of the integration measure. This leads to a finite and regularization-independent result at two loops, that is more general than the KPZ result, although compatible. Finiteness and regularization-independence seem also possible at three loops. These results are generalized to the coupling to non-conformal matter on the torus.

Keywords

2D quantum gravity, Liouville theory, Mabuchi action, string susceptibility, spectral cutoff regularization, renormalization.